The Algebra of Semi-flows: A Tale of Two Topologies

Kelly Spendlove

Robert Vandervorst

Author address:

MATHEMATICAL INSTITUTE Current address: University of Oxford, Oxford UK Email address: spendlove@maths.ox.ac.uk

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS *Current address*: VU University Amsterdam, The Netherlands *Email address*: r.c.a.m.vander.vorst@vu.nl

Contents

Chapter	1. Prelude	1	
1.1.	Topologization and discretization	1	
1.2.	Algebraization	5	
1.3.	Parabolic flows and braid invariants	7	
Chapter	2. Topology, discretization and bi-topological spaces	11	
2.1.	Closure algebras	11	
2.2.	Modal operators and modal algebras	12	
2.3.	Discretization of topology	15	
2.4.	Discretization maps	18	
2.5.	Bi-topological spaces and discretization	20	
2.6.	Examples and further extensions	24	
Chapter	3. Flow topologies and discretization of dynamics	29	
3.1.	Dynamics as topology	29	
3.2.	Discretization of the block-flow topology	33	
3.3.	Morse pre-orders	35	
3.4.	Condensed Morse pre-orders	39	
3.5.	Beyond semi-flows	44	
Chapter 4. Algebraization of dynamics			
4.1.	Cartan-Eilenberg systems	47	
4.2.	Tessellar homology	54	
4.3.	Cellular homology	59	
4.4.	Composite gradings and the homology for Morse pre-orders	62	
4.5.	Morse tessellations, Morse decompositions and the Conley index	65	
Chapter	5. Parabolic recurrence relations and flows	69	
5.1.	Discretized braid diagrams	69	
5.2.	Parabolic flows	71	
5.3.	Closure algebra discretizations for parabolic flows	73	
5.4.	Recipe for global decompositions	82	
5.5.	Differential modules and tessellar phase diagrams for positive braids	89	
Chapter 6. Postlude 9			
6.1.	Topologization	97	

CONTENTS
CONTRIBUTO

iv

6.2.	Discretization	98
6.3.	Algebraization	99
6.4.	Braid and knot invariants	99
Appendix A. Binary relations and operators		101
A.1.	Binary relations	101
A.2.	Modal operators	103
A.3.	Duality	106
Appendix B. Order Theory		109
B.1.	Posets and pre-orders	109
B.2.	Lattices	109
B.3.	Birkhoff duality	110
Appendix C. Grading, filtering and differential modules		113
C.1.	P-gradings and O(P)-filterings	113
C.2.	P-graded and O(P)-filtered modules	114
C.3.	Differential modules	115
Bibliography		117
Index		121

Abstract

To capture the global structure of a dynamical system we reformulate dynamics in terms of appropriately constructed topologies, which we call *flow topologies*; we call this process topologization. This yields a description of a semi-flow in terms of a *bi-topological space*, with the first topology corresponding to the (phase) space and the second to the flow topology. A study of topology is facilitated through discretization, i.e. defining and examining appropriate finite sub-structures. Topologizing the dynamics provides an elegant solution to their discretization by discretizing the associated flow topologies. We introduce Morse pre-orders, an instance of a more general bi-topological discretization, which synthesize the space and flow topologies, and encode the directionality of dynamics. We describe how Morse pre-orders can be augmented with appropriate (co)homological information in order to describe invariance of the dynamics; this ensemble provides an algebraization of the semi-flow. An illustration of the main ingredients is provided by an application to the theory of discrete parabolic flows. Algebraization yields a new invariant for positive braids in terms of a bi-graded differential module which contains Morse theoretic information of parabolic flows.

Received by the editor March 8, 2024.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 06-04, 06-08, 06D05, 06E05, 37B35, 37M22, 37C70.

Key words and phrases. Closure algebra discretization, closure/derivative operator, bi-topological space, flow topology and Morse pre-order, Conley index, connection matrix, parabolic recurrence relation, parabolic homology.

This work was supported in part by NWO GROW grant 040.15.044/3192 and by EPSRC grant EP/R018472/1.

CHAPTER 1

Prelude

We introduce the point of view that dynamics can be studied as a topology. Thus an analysis of a dynamical system results in an analysis of two topologies (i.e. a bi-toplogical space): the first topology corresponds to the (phase) space, and the second to the dynamics. Topology and associated algebraic invariants have long played a prolific role in the theory of dynamical systems [12, 53, 56, 61]. Loosely stated, a dynamical system engenders topological data, both local (e.g. fixed points) and global (e.g. attractors) and the directionality of the dynamics organizes the data. The topological data have associated algebraic invariants which may further codify the relationship between local and global and often recover the invariance of the dynamics, i.e. provide information about the existence and structure of the invariant sets.

1.1. Topologization and discretization

The novelty of our approach – and the first theme of this text – is to formalize the dynamical system itself as a topology, and capture both topology and dynamics in the formalism of bi-topological spaces, i.e. a *topologization* of the dynamical system. Recall that a *semi-flow* on a topological space $(X, \mathscr{T})^1$ is a continuous map $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R}^+ \times X \to X$ such that

- (i) $\varphi(0, x) = x$ for all $x \in X$, and
- (ii) $\varphi(t,\varphi(s,x)) = \varphi(t+s,x)$ for all $s, t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $x \in X$.

For a semi-flow φ the backward image is denoted by $\varphi(-t, x)$, t > 0 and is defined as $\varphi(-t, x) := \{x' \in X \mid \varphi(t, x) = x'\}$. One way to regard a topological space is via a closure operator on the algebra of subsets of X, cf. Sect. 2.1. Using this point of view, a map φ as defined above yields a natural closure operator on X through backward or forward images. If we disregard the continuity of φ in (X, \mathcal{T}) this defines Alexandrov topologies on X which are denoted by \mathcal{T}^- and \mathcal{T}^+ respectively, cf. Sect. 3.1. The topologies \mathcal{T}^- and \mathcal{T}^+ record directionality of the flow, but discard the sense of time and invariance. They are also independent of the continuity properties of φ . We therefore define a topology which allows one to incorporate the continuity of φ in (X, \mathcal{T}) and which is more suited for capturing the important characteristics of dynamics such as invariance. We will refer to this topology as the

¹A topology on *X* is denoted by \mathscr{T} .

1. PRELUDE

(derived) *block-flow topology* denoted by \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- , cf. Sect. 3.1.2.² The topologies \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- comprise the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-)$ which becomes our model for a semi-flow φ .³ Sets that are closed in (X, \mathscr{T}) and open $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-)$, so called *pairwise clopen sets*, are closed attracting blocks for φ , cf. Thm. 3.8. Of course the block-flow topology \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- discards some information about φ . However, we can define suitable (co)homology theories on $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-)$ which allow one to describe fundamental invariant structures of the dynamics, cf. Sect. 4.

The second theme of this paper concerns discretization of both topology and dynamics. The last few decades have seen ever more sophisticated uses of discrete approximation in order to explore global dynamical features [3, 10, 13, 39, 40, 41, 52]; these techniques are largely based on Conley theory, a topological generalization of Morse theory [12]. As before, we describe topology in terms of a closure algebra, which provides a powerful formalism for discretization and extends these techniques. Moreover, as we encode a semi-flow φ as a topology, topological discretization also provides a means of discretizing φ . If we describe a topological space via a closure algebra (Set(X), cl), then discretization may be regarded as determining a finite sub-algebra in the category of closure algebras, cf. Sect. 2.1. A finite closure algebra may be represented by (Set(\mathfrak{X}), cl), where \mathfrak{X} is a finite set, and is equivalently described by a finite pre-order (\mathfrak{X} , \leq), called the *specialization pre-order* of the associated Alexandrov topology on \mathfrak{X} . Duality of the latter pre-order defines a continuous map

disc:
$$X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$$
,

which is called the *discretization map* and provides a discretization of (X, \mathscr{T}) by a finite topological space (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) , cf. Eqn. (2.12). The elements of \mathfrak{X} are denoted by



FIGURE 1.1. A discretization of (X, \mathscr{T}) with the associated face partial order \leq [left 1 and 2]. Example of a semi-flow φ on X and pre-order \leq_{\bullet}^{-} which is a discretization of the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ [right 3 and 4].

 ξ and are called *cells* in \mathfrak{X} . The closure algebra for a bi-topological space such as $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ is given by $(\mathsf{Set}(X), \mathrm{cl}, \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}^{-})$ and by considering finite sub-structures

²As we have cast dynamics as topology, it is worthwhile to ask the question: what can dynamical systems theory say about topology? Section 4.2 may be regarded as steps in this direction.

³The topologies \mathscr{T} and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ are in general related while the topologies \mathscr{T} and $\mathscr{T}_{-}, \mathscr{T}^{+}$ are independently defined. The block-flow topology is not Alexandrov in general. An explanation of the notation of the various flow topologies we use is given in Sect.'s 3.1.2 and 6.1.1.

we obtain discretization maps disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ that are continuous with respect to two finite topologies (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$. That is, for the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ a discretization is a finite bi-topological space $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$ with continuous discretization map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$; this procedure is described for general bi-topological spaces in Sect. 2.5. Fig. 1.1 illustrates discretization of $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ via two compatible pre-orders on a finite topological space \mathfrak{X} .

Attracting blocks, cf. Eqn. (3.3), play a central role in the study of the gradientlike and recurrent dynamics of a semi-flow φ . As earlier noted, the pairwise clopen sets in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ comprise the closed attracting blocks for φ . We can describe such sets in terms of a discretization which synthesizes both topologies. A *Morse pre-order*, cf. Defn. 3.18, is a pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ such that both discretization maps disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger})$ are continuous; Morse preorders are particular instances of *antagonistic pre-orders*, which are defined purely in terms of bi-topological spaces, cf. Defn. 2.18. Closed sets in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ correspond to closed attracting blocks for φ , cf. Fig. 1.2[right].

The lattice $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ of closed sets in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ can be represented by the downsets of a finite poset (SC, \leq), cf. Eqn. (2.18), Fig. 1.2[left]. The map dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \rightarrow$ (SC, \leq) is defined as the dual of $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \cong O(SC, \leq) \rightarrow Set(\mathfrak{X})$, cf. Eqn.'s (2.15)-(2.17).⁴ Depending on the topology on \mathfrak{X} the map dyn is order-preserving, or orderreversing⁵ as is displayed in the following diagram:



The composition $X \xrightarrow{\text{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{dyn}} SC$ yields the T_0 -discretization tile: $X \to SC$, cf. App. C.1; in particular, tile: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (SC, \leqslant)$ and tile: $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-) \to (SC, \geqslant)$ are continuous. The discretization tile defines a *Morse tessellation* with locally closed tiles $T = \text{tile}^{-1}S$, $S \in SC$, i.e. the sets T form a tessellation of X such that $\downarrow T$ is closed and $\varphi(t, x) \in \text{int } \downarrow T$ for every $x \in T$ and for all tiles T, cf. Defn. 3.21 and [44, Defn. 8]. Fig. 1.2[right] illustrates how a Morse tessellation is obtained from a Morse pre-order. Conversely, if (T, \leqslant) is a Morse tessellation we obtain a Morse pre-order by defining (T, \leqslant) to be a Morse pre-order, and thus a discretization of $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-)$, cf. Sect. 3.3.1. For Boolean discretizations, i.e. discretizations for

⁴This map is christened dyn as it may be regarded as a grading by the dynamics. Combining (2.16) and (2.18) provides a formula for dyn, q.v. Thm. 3.29 and Eqn. (3.19).

⁵The dashed arrows in Figure 1.1 indicated order-reversing maps. We use this notation throughout the paper.





FIGURE 1.2. The antagonistic coarsening of \leq and \leq_{\bullet}^{-} in Fig. 1.1 makes a Morse pre-order \leq^{\dagger} [left], with SC depicted as the outlined sets. The realization yields a Morse tessellation (T, \leq) [right].

which the closure operators for (X, \mathscr{T}) and $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ commute,⁶ cf. Defn. 2.9, we can exploit the fact that sets in $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})$ correspond to regular closed sets, cf. Thm. 3.23. In this case we can define a pre-order \leqslant^{\top} on the top cells⁷ $\xi^{\top} \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leqslant^{\top}) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})$. Such a pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leqslant^{\top})$ is called a *condensed Morse pre-order* and drastically reduces the amount of data to analyze, cf. Sect.'s 3.4 and 5.4.1.⁸ Condensed Morse pre-order do not lose information about the initial Morse pre-order and associated Morse tessellation. The map $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \mapsto \text{cl } \mathcal{U}^{\top}$, with $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in$ $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leqslant^{\top})$, defines an injective lattice homomorphism cl: $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leqslant^{\top}) \mapsto O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$, whose image $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})$ is the lattice of down-sets of the Morse pre-order, and yields the factorization:



cf. Thm. 3.28. The discretization dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \to (\mathsf{SC}, \leq)$ is the map that allows us to alternate between Morse pre-orders and condensed Morse pre-orders , cf. Sect. 3.4, and is dual to the injection cl: $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \to O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$. A formula for dyn is given in Theorem 3.29. In summary, $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is the relevant topology that contains the information about closed attracting blocks. A discrete resolution $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ is a coarser data structure than $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and which yields the same down-sets, cf. Fig. 1.3. The Morse pre-order can be retrieved from the condensed Morse pre-order , cf. Thm. 3.19. In Sections 5.1 and 5.3 we exploit this principle in the application to parabolic systems.

⁶For example, CW-decompositions.

⁷Top cells are elements in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ that are maximal with respect to \leqslant .

⁸In the application to parabolic systems in Section 5.4 one may achieve a data reduction of orders of magnitude using discrete resolutions, e.g. for a cubical CW-decomposition of a *d*-cube we have $4^{-d} < |\mathfrak{X}^{\top}|/|\mathfrak{X}| < 2^{-d}$.



FIGURE 1.3. An associated discrete resolution \leq^{\top} on the top-cells \mathfrak{X}^{\top} of CW-decomposition in Fig. 1.1 [left] and the poset SC of its partial equivalence classes [right], which is order-isomorphic to the poset (T, \leq) .

1.2. Algebraization

The above constructions have reduced dynamics to a (continuous) discretization tile: $X \to SC$ of the space X. A discretization as such captures robust directionality properties of a flow. However, information about invariant sets is lost. The third theme in this paper is the algebraization of semi-flows; that is, the order-theoretic structures that encode the directionality are to be augmented with (co)homological data which carry information about (robust) invariant dynamics via Wazewski's principle. A discretization tile: $X \rightarrow SC$, or equivalently a Morse tessellation, gives rise to a filtering of X consisting of regular closed attracting blocks, i.e. a lattice homomorphism $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}X$, where $\alpha \in O(SC)$ is a down-set in SC and $F_{\alpha}X = \text{tile}^{-1}\alpha \in \text{ABlock}_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$ is an attracting block. In the case of homology with field coefficients the representation theory of Cartan-Eilenberg systems, cf. Sect. 4.1, in particular Franzosa's connection matrix theory [19, 20, 21, 31, 58], describes a strict SC-graded chain complex $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$ whose grading is given by $C^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{\mathcal{S} \in \mathsf{SC}} H(F_{\downarrow \mathcal{S}}X, F_{\downarrow \mathcal{S}}, X)$, where *H* is the singular homology functor, cf. Fig. 1.4[left], cf. App. C.3. From the graded chain complex $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$ all homologies $H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X)$, with $\alpha, \beta \in O(SC)$, can be computed as homology of the sub-quotient chain complex $G_{\beta \setminus \alpha} C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ and which is denoted by $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X)$. This data can be visualized as a poset isomorphic to SC, whose elements are pairs $(S, P^{\text{tile}}_{\mu}(G_S X)) \in SC \times \mathbb{Z}_+[\mu]$, where $P^{\text{tile}}_{\mu}(G_S X)$ is the Poincaré polynomial of $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X)$ which uses the natural dimension grading of singular homology, cf. Fig. 1.4[right]. Such a poset will be referred to as the tessellar phase *diagram*⁹ (\amalg, \leq^{\dagger}) for ($\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}$), cf. Sect. 4.4.

A discretization tile: $X \rightarrow SC$ may be considered purely from a topological perspective, independent of dynamics. Given a sufficiently 'nice' discretization, the connection matrix theory can be applied to tile. We regard this as part of the synthesis of dynamics and topology, and using dynamical tools to analyze topology. In Section 4.2, we show how this leads to a homology theory which we call *tessellar homology* and which, in contradistinction to cellular homology, uses

⁹The tessellar phase diagram is expressed with respect to Borel-Moore homology.

1. PRELUDE

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_2 \rangle \xrightarrow{\mathbf{d}_1^{\text{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}} \bigoplus_{i = \{0, 1\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \longrightarrow 0 \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}_3 : 0} \underbrace{\mathbf{s}_3 : 0}_{\mathcal{S}_2 : \mu^1} \underbrace{\mathbf{s}_3 : \mu^1} \underbrace$$

FIGURE 1.4. The SC-graded chain complex $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$ [left] of Fig. 1.1 (computed using \mathbb{Z}_2 coefficients) and associated the tessellar phase diagram (Π, \leq^{\dagger}) [right]. We display the pair $(S, P_{\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_{S}X))$ as S and $P_{\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_{S}X)$ as a matter of style.

general tiles instead of CW-cells. In Section 4.3 we show how cellular homology specifically is recovered.

One of the key advantages of using Morse pre-orders is that tile factors through the discretization of (X, \mathscr{T}) , which enables a computational approach to connection matrix theory using the algorithms of [**31**, **32**] and associated software [**33**]. For the sake of the simplicity, we explain this in the case that (X, \mathscr{T}) admits a finite CW-decomposition. The idea is encapsulated in the following diagram, cf. Sect. **4.3**:

(1.2)
$$(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$$
$$\downarrow^{\text{cell}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\text{dyn}}$$
$$X \xrightarrow{\text{tile}} \mathsf{SC} \xrightarrow{\text{ind}} \mathbb{Z}$$

In the case of a CW-decomposition map cell, the associated pre-order is a partial order (face partial order) and the above diagram provides the factorization via (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . The fact that we factor tile through (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) allows us to compute $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$ by instead computing connection matrices in two simpler settings. First for the discretization cell: $X \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ to obtain the cellular chain complex $C^{\text{cell}}(X)$ graded over the poset \mathfrak{X} of cells which represents the singular homology as cellular homology; then a second time by re-grading $C^{\text{cell}}(X)$ by SC via dyn: $\mathfrak{X} \to SC$ and using the algorithm of [31] to produce $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$. As indicated above the discretization tile: $X \to SC$ is equivalent to a Morse tessellation $(\mathsf{T}, \leq) \xrightarrow{\cong} (\mathsf{SC}, \leq)$, where the tiles $T \in \mathsf{T}$ are given by $T = \text{tile}^{-1} \mathcal{S}$. Since $\{\mathcal{S}\} = \beta \setminus \alpha$, the homology of T is given by

$$H^{\rm dyn}(\beta \smallsetminus \alpha) \cong H^{\rm tile}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X) \cong H^{\rm cell}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X) \cong H^{\rm BM}(T),$$

cf. Thm. 4.27, where the latter is the *Borel-Moore homology* of *T*, cf. [8, 9, 23, 28, 26, 37]. Since *T* is the set-difference of two attracting blocks for φ it is an isolating block (neighborhood) for φ , cf. [44], and $H^{\text{tile}}(\beta \smallsetminus \alpha)$ represents the Conley index of *T*.

An additional scalar discretization ind: SC $\rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$, cf. (1.2), allows a second grading of H^{tile} which make H^{tile} a bi-graded homology theory (in the case of field coefficients) denoted by $H^{\text{tile}}_{p,q}(X)$, cf. Sect. 4.2.3. The discretization ind induces a spectral sequence which allows an additional \mathbb{Z} -grading of the tessellar homology in accordance with the SC-grading of C^{tile} . As a matter of fact $H^{\text{tile}}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X)$ is well-defined for any convex set $\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'$ in SC. In this context $(C^{\text{tile}}, d^{\text{tile}})$ may be regarded as chain complex as well as \mathbb{Z} -graded differential module/vector space. Define the Poincaré polynomials $P_{\lambda,\mu}(C^{\text{tile}}) = \sum_{\mathcal{S}\in\mathsf{SC}} P^{\text{tile}}_{\lambda,\mu}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X)$ with $P^{\text{tile}}_{\lambda,\mu}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) = \sum_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}} (\operatorname{rank} H^{\text{tile}}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X))\lambda^p\mu^q$. Then, the following variation on the standard Morse relations are satisfied, cf. Thm. 4.18,

$$\sum_{\mathcal{S}\in\mathsf{SC}} P^{\mathrm{tile}}_{\lambda,\mu}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) = P^{\mathrm{tile}}_{\lambda,\mu}(X) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (1+\lambda^r \mu) Q^r_{\lambda,\mu},$$

where $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r \ge 0$ and the sum over r is finite. The *p*-index is a manifestation of the block-flow topology and the *q*-index of the phase space topology making it a true tale of two topologies. The impact is most apparent in the application to parabolic flows where we use a canonical discretization lap: SC $\rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$.

1.3. Parabolic flows and braid invariants

Chapter 5 encompasses the final theme wherein we demonstrate the ideas and methods in this paper for a large class of flows, called *discrete parabolic flows*. Such flows occur in a wide variety of settings, e.g. studying the infinite dimensional dynamics of scalar parabolic equations which can be realized via discrete parabolic equations, cf. [25], [65]. Discrete parabolic equations and parabolic flows also play a prominent role in the theory of monotone twist maps whose dynamics can be studied using parabolic flows, cf. [2], [14]. The introduction of Morse theory on braids in [24] was sparked by questions for fourth order Lagrangian dynamics which use parabolic flows to describe periodic solutions. Finally, parabolic flows play a pivotal role in computing braid Floer homology, cf. [66].

A parabolic flow φ is defined via differential equations $\dot{x}_i = R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1})$, with $R_{i+d} = R_i$, where the (smooth) functions $R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1})$ are monotone with respect to their first and third argument and their stationary equations, given by $R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1}) = 0$, are referred to as *parabolic recurrence relations*. Parabolic recurrence relations form a perfect symbiosis with discretized braids. A *discretized braid* (*diagram*) x on n strands and d discretization points is a unordered collection of sequences $\cdots, x_0^{\alpha}, x_1^{\alpha}, \cdots$ such that $x_{i+d}^{\theta(\alpha)} = x_i^{\alpha}$, for a permutation $\theta \in S_n$, and $\alpha = 1, \cdots, n$.

By viewing such sequences as piecewise linear interpolations between the anchor points the various strands 'intersect', cf. Fig. 1.5[left]. There is a non-degeneracy condition on the intersections (no tangencies). A collection of stationary solutions of φ of integer period forms a discretized braid diagrams denoted by





FIGURE 1.5. A discretized (pseudo-anosov) braid y [left], and associated reduced tessellar phase diagram $\overline{u}(y)$ [right]. The vertices in $\overline{u}(y)$ contain the Poincaré polynomials of the bi-graded parabolic homology, cf. Sect. 5.4.2.

y and referred to as a *skeleton*, cf. Fig. 1.5[left]. If we add an additional periodic sequence *x* the ensemble of *x* and *y* generically forms a braid *x* rel *y*, called a *relative* discretized braid. Since *y* is stationary for φ we may consider $\varphi(t, x)$ rel *y*. Whenever $\varphi(t, x)$ rel *y* becomes singular, i.e. strands develop tangencies, then the total number of intersections of *x* with the strands in *y* decreases strictly. This principle is crucial and emphasizes the intimate relation between parabolic flows and discretized braids. As such relative braids can be partially ordered using parabolic flows which form the backbone of the canonical discretization of the block-flow topology for parabolic flows. We construct special CW-decompositions, cf. Sect. 5, and discretizations of the block-flow topology via appropriately defined discrete Lyapunov functions, which allows us to establish Morse tessellations and Morse representations, cf. Sect. 5.3. In the language of condensed Morse pre-orders the partial order on the relative braid classes defines the poset (SC, \leq) which comes from the canonical CW-decomposition of *X* given by the skeleton *y* and the block-flow topology given by φ .

In Section 5.4.1 we give an overview of the algorithmic steps in computing the order structures and connection matrices and in Section 5.4.2 we discuss the bi-graded parabolic homology. In Section 5.5 we show that the parabolic differential module (and the associated tessellar phase diagrams) we obtain for parabolic flows extend the results in [24] and provide an invariant for positive braids which also defines a new invariant for scalar parabolic equations, cf. Thm. 5.23. The importance of Theorem 5.23 is that we obtain complete insight in the homology of loop spaces for scalar parabolic equations as well as the boundary homomorphisms which contain information about connecting orbits for parabolic equations. To best explain the discretization of topology and dynamics and the main

1

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_9 \rangle \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_6^{\mathrm{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1 \end{pmatrix}} \bigoplus_{i=7,8} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_5^{\mathrm{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1 \end{pmatrix}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_6 \rangle \longrightarrow_{\mathrm{d}_4^{\mathrm{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix}} d_4^{\mathrm{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\bigoplus_{i=4,5} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{d_3^{\text{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ i = 2, 3 \end{pmatrix}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{d_2^{\text{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_2 \rangle \xrightarrow{d_1^{\text{tile}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}} \bigoplus_{i=0,1} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{d_0^{\text{tile}} = 0} 0$$

FIGURE 1.6. Associated complex $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$, computed over $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}_2$ coefficients, viewed as chain complex using dimension grading. The index q for d_q^{tile} reflects the natural grading induced by singular homology.

statement of Theorem 5.23 we consider an example. Let y be a discretized braid y given in Figure 1.5[left] and φ is any parabolic flow for which y is stationary. This can be rephrased in terms of a bi-topological space for which y defines a natural discretization. The sub-poset of homologically non-trivial braid classes in (SC, \leq) is given by the reduced tessellar phase diagram ($\overline{\Pi}$, \leq^{\dagger}) displayed in Fig. 1.5[right]. The more detailed information is given by the *parabolic differential module* $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ generated by tile: $X \to SC$ and the scalar discretization lap: SC $\to \mathbb{Z}$, which counts the intersections of x with y divided by two, cf. Sect. 5.5 for a detailed definition. As described in Section 5.4.2 lap provides a scalar grading on the tessellar homology $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}}X)$, with $\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'$ convex in SC, which yields the *parabolic homology* $H_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{U} \searrow \mathcal{U}}X)$ where

$$H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X) = \bigoplus_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}} \vec{H}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X).$$

Figure 1.5[right] lists the Poincaré polynomials of the non-trivial tiles with respect to parabolic homology. The differential module $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ may be regarded as a chain complex in Figure 1.6 with homology $H_q^{\text{BM}}(G_S X) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \vec{H}_{p,q}(G_S X)$, or as \mathbb{Z} -graded differential module in Figure 1.7 with homology $\vec{H}_{p,*}(G_S X) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} \vec{H}_{p,q}(G_S X)$. By making further specification of the entries in d^{tile} the differential module can also be represented as to show the Π -order, cf. Sect. 5.5. Theorem 5.23 shows that the parabolic differential module, and thus the reduced tessellar phase diagram is a topological invariant for the topological braid $\beta(y)$, i.e. all braid diagrams isotopic to y, cf. Sect. 5.5. Due to Theorem 5.23 the parabolic differential module and reduced tessellar phase diagram can be denoted by $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ and $\overline{\Pi}(\beta)$ respectively. In summary, the application of the methods put forth in this paper to parabolic flows gives a novel approach towards computing algebraic topological information about infinite dimensional problems.

The themes throughout this paper touch upon many topics. Section 6 concludes with a discussion of related remarks and open problems. 1. PRELUDE



FIGURE 1.7. The differential module $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$, computed over $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}_2$ coefficients, with lap number grading. For the entry d_p^{tile} the index p reflects the lap number.

CHAPTER 2

Topology, discretization and bi-topological spaces

Our philosophy is that discretization is the study of appropriate *finite* substructures. In this chapter we start with an exposition of topological spaces, closure algebras and modal algebras and discuss discretization in terms of Boolean algebras with operators. Closure algebras provide an equivalent way to describe a topological space. In general modal algebras are also related to topological spaces which provides the essential link to dynamical systems. The latter can be used to regard various aspects of dynamics in terms of topology.

2.1. Closure algebras

Let (X, \mathscr{T}) be a topological space and let Set(X) denote the (complete and atomic) Boolean algebra of subsets of X. For (X, \mathscr{T}) we define an associated *closure algebra* as the pair (Set(X), cl), where cl: $Set(X) \rightarrow Set(X)$ is the operator defined as the closure of a subset, cl $U = \bigcap \{U' \supset U \mid U' \text{ closed}\}$, cf. [51], which is our first source of closure algebras. In general, an operator cl: $Set(X) \rightarrow Set(X)$ is a *closure operator* if all four Kuratowski axioms for a closure operator are satisfied: for all $U, U' \subset X$,

- (K1) (normal) $\operatorname{cl} \emptyset = \emptyset$;
- (K2) (additive) $\operatorname{cl}(U \cup U') = \operatorname{cl} U \cup \operatorname{cl} U';$
- (K3) (sub-idempotent) $\operatorname{cl}(\operatorname{cl} U) \subset \operatorname{cl} U;^{1}$
- (K4) (expansive) $U \subset \operatorname{cl} U$.²

Continuous maps between topological spaces can also be described in terms of closure algebras. Let $g: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between topological spaces. Then, g^{-1} defines a map from Set(Y) to Set(X). As a matter of fact $g^{-1}: Set(Y) \to Set(X)$ is a completely additive³ Boolean homomorphism of complete and atomic

¹Axiom (K3) in combination with Axiom (K4) this implies that cl is idempotent, i.e. cl(cl U) = cl U.

²The single condition (K): $U \cup \operatorname{cl} U \cup \operatorname{cl} (\operatorname{cl} U') = \operatorname{cl} (U \cup U') \setminus \operatorname{cl} \emptyset$ is equivalent to (K1)-(K4). ³Closed with respect to arbitrary intersections and unions.

Boolean algebras, cf. App. A.3. Consider the (not necessarily commutative) diagram:

(2.1)
$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Set}(X) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{cl}_X} & \operatorname{Set}(X) \\ g^{-1} & & \uparrow g^{-1} \\ & & & \operatorname{Set}(Y) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{cl}_Y} & \operatorname{Set}(Y) \end{array}$$

The continuity of g is equivalent to the condition $\operatorname{cl}_X g^{-1}(V) \subset g^{-1}(\operatorname{cl}_Y V)$ for all $V \subset Y$ which makes g^{-1} a *semi-homomorphism* of closure algebras. In particular, if $V \subset Y$ is closed in Y, then $g^{-1}(V)$ is closed in X. In case $\operatorname{cl}_X g^{-1}(V) = g^{-1}(\operatorname{cl}_Y V)$ for all $V \subset Y$ the operator g^{-1} is called a homomorphism of closure algebras,⁴ in which case g is an open continuous map.⁵ A second source for closure algebras are via pre-ordered sets. Let (X, \leq) be a pre-order. Define

$$cl_{\leq}U := \bigcup U = \{x \in X \mid x \leq y \text{ for some } y \in U\}.$$

Then, $(Set(X), cl_{\leq})$ is a closure algebra and the closure operator cl_{\leq} is completely additive, i.e. Kuratowski axiom (K2) is satisfied with respect to arbitrary unions. The associated topological space is denoted by (X, \mathcal{T}_{\leq}) which is an Alexandrov topological space and the topology \mathcal{T}_{\leq} is called an *Alexandrov topology*, i.e. \mathcal{T}_{\leq} is closed under arbitrary intersections and unions.

On the other hand every topological space induces a natural pre-order as follows:

$$x \leq \mathcal{T} x'$$
 if and only if $x \in \operatorname{cl}\{x'\},$

which is called the *specialization pre-order* associated to (X, \mathscr{T}) . In general, the topology $\mathscr{T}_{\leq \mathscr{T}}$ induced by $\leq \mathscr{T}$ is finer than \mathscr{T} . In particular $\downarrow U$ is not equal to cl U in that case. If we start from an Alexandrov topology \mathscr{T} , then $\mathscr{T}_{\leq \mathscr{T}} = \mathscr{T}$. The above described duality between topological spaces and pre-orders will be used to treat discretization of topological spaces, cf. [5] for further details on closure algebras. A topological space yields a closure algebra where the Boolean algebra is complete and atomic. This concept can be defined for any Boolean algebra, cf. Sect. 2.6.3 and App. A.

2.2. Modal operators and modal algebras

A third source for closure algebras is given by modal operators and binary relations on a set *X*, cf. App. A. In general, an operator $\Phi: Set(X) \rightarrow Set(X)$ is called a *modal operator* if following axioms are satisfied: for all $U, U' \subset X$,

- (M1) (normal) $\Phi \varnothing = \varnothing$;
- (M2) (additive) $\Phi(U \cup U') = \Phi U \cup \Phi U';$

⁴For a *homomorphism* of closure algebras the diagram in (2.1) commutes.

⁵If there is no ambiguity about the topological space the sub-index of cl will be omitted.

The pair $(Set(X), \Phi)$ is called a *modal algebra* and is an example of a Boolean algebra with operators, cf. [38], [51]. A modal algebra defines a topology on *X*. Consider the set Fwdset(Φ) consisting of subsets $U \subset X$ such that $\Phi U \subset U$.

PROPOSITION 2.1. The set $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ defines a bounded, distributive lattice with binary operations \cap and \cup . Moreover, $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ is closed under arbitrary intersections, i.e. arbitrary intersections of sets in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ are again in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$.

PROOF. The subsets \emptyset and X are in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ since Φ is a normal operator. Finite unions of sets in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ are obviously again in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ since Φ is additive. Let $\{U_i\}$ be an arbitrary collection is subsets in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$. Then, $\Phi(\bigcap_i U_i) \subset \Phi U_i \subset U_i$ and therefore $\Phi(\bigcap_i U_i) \subset \bigcap_i U_i$.

The lattice $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ defines a topology \mathscr{T}_{Φ} on X by declaring the subsets in $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ to be the closed sets. The topology \mathscr{T}_{Φ} given by the lattice $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ can also be characterized by an associated closure operator.

PROPOSITION 2.2. Consider the operator
$$cl_{\Phi} : Set(X) \to Set(X)$$
 defined by
(2.2) $cl_{\Phi}U = \bigcap \{U' \supset U \mid U' \in Fwdset(\Phi)\} \in Fwdset(\Phi).$

Then, cl_{Φ} is a closure operator and $Fwdset(\Phi) = Fwdset(cl_{\Phi})$, *i.e.* the sets in $Fwdset(\Phi)$ are exactly the closed sets defined by cl_{Φ} .

PROOF. The definition of cl_{Φ} is a standard construction of a closure operator satisfying the Kuratowski axioms (K1)-(K4). A set $U \in Fwdset(cl_{\Phi})$ satisfies $cl_{\Phi}U \subset U$ and thus $cl_{\Phi}U = U$, i.e. $U \in Fwdset(\Phi)$ and thus $Fwdset(cl_{\Phi}) \subset Fwdset(\Phi)$. If $U \in Fwdset(\Phi)$, then $cl_{\Phi}U = U$ which yields $Fwdset(\Phi) \subset Fwdset(cl_{\Phi})$. Combining both inclusions gives the desired statement.

The lattice $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi)$ is a complete *co-Heyting algebra* with binary subtraction $U - U' := \mathrm{cl}_{\Phi}(U \setminus U')$. The specialization pre-order \leq_{Φ} defined by the topology \mathscr{T}_{Φ} (or equivalently the closure operator cl_{Φ}) is the transitive reflexive closure of the binary relation $\phi \subset X \times X$, referred to as the *specialization relation*, which is defined by

(2.3)
$$(x, x') \in \phi$$
 if and only if $x \in \Phi\{x'\}$,

where $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$ is regarded as an operator on Set(X) and is an example of a completely additive modal operator, cf. A.3. As before $\downarrow U$ does not coincide with $\text{cl}_{\Phi}U$ in general. This is due to the fact that a modal operator is not completely additive⁶ in general. For the time being the above described duality between (X, \mathscr{T}_{Φ}) and the associated closure algebra $(\text{Set}(X), \text{cl}_{\Phi})$ suffices.

In the case Φ is a *completely additive* modal operator on Set(X) the specialization relation recovers Φ and vice versa. To be more precise,

 $(x, x') \in \phi$ if and only if $(x', x) \in \phi^{-1}$ if and only if $x \in \phi^{-1}\{x'\}$,

⁶An operator is said to be completely additive if it is closed under arbitrary unions.

where for the latter we regard the opposite relation ϕ^{-1} as modal operator:

(2.4)
$$\Phi U := \bigcup_{x \in U} \Phi\{x\}, \text{ where } \Phi\{x\} = \{y \in X \mid (x, y) \in \phi^{-1} \text{ for some } x \in U\}.$$

The transitive reflexive closure $\phi^{+=} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \phi^k$ defines a pre-order $(X, \phi^{+=})$ and therefore $\Phi^{+=} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k$ is a completely additive closure operator. In particular:

LEMMA 2.3. $\Phi^{+=}U = \downarrow U = cl_{\Phi}U$.

PROOF. The first equility is a direct consequence of the duality between ϕ and Φ . As for the second equality we argue as follows. If $cl_{\Phi}U = U$, then $U \in Fwdset(\Phi)$, i.e. $\Phi U \subset U$ and thus $\Phi^{+=}U = U$. Conversely, if $\Phi^{+=}U = U$, then $\Phi U \subset U$ and thus $cl_{\Phi}U = U$. Therefore, $\Phi^{+=}U = U$ if and only if $cl_{\Phi}U = U$ and $\Phi^{+=}U = U = cl_{\Phi}U$.

In this case a binary relation $\phi \subset X \times X$ is the source of a closure algebra: $(Set(X), \Phi^{+=})$. The associated topology is an Alexandrov topology and is equivalent to the specialization pre-order, cf. A.1.

Let $(\text{Set}(X), \Phi)$ and $(\text{Set}(Y), \Psi)$ be modal algebras. As for closure algebras a map $g: X \to Y$ yields a Boolean homomorphism $g^{-1}: \text{Set}(Y) \to \text{Set}(X)$. The latter is a *semi-homomorphism of modal algebras* if $\Phi g^{-1}(V) \subset g^{-1}(\Psi V)$ for all $V \subset Y$ and is expressed in the (not necessarily commutative) diagram:

(2.5)
$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Set}(X) & \stackrel{\Phi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Set}(X) \\ g^{-1} & & & & \\ g^{-1} & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \operatorname{Set}(Y) & \stackrel{\Psi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Set}(Y) \end{array}$$

The semi-homomorphism property for Boolean homomorphisms g^{-1} : Set $(Y) \rightarrow$ Set(X) is related to continuity of g:

PROPOSITION 2.4. Let g^{-1} : $(\mathsf{Set}(Y), \Phi) \to (\mathsf{Set}(X), \Psi)$ be a semi-homomorphism of modal algebras for a map $g: X \to Y$, i.e. $\Phi g^{-1}(V) \subset g^{-1}(\Psi V)$ for all $V \subset Y$. Then, $g: (X, \mathscr{T}_{\Phi}) \to (Y, \mathscr{T}_{\Psi})$ is a continuous map.

PROOF. The closure operators cl_{Ψ} and cl_{Ψ} are given by (2.2). Since g^{-1} is a completely additive Boolean homomorphism we have

$$g^{-1}(\operatorname{cl}_{\Psi} V) = \bigcap \{ g^{-1}(V') \mid V' \supset V, \ \Psi V' \subset V' \}.$$

The fact that g^{-1} is a semi-homomorphism of modal algebras implies, for V' closed in Y, that $\Phi g^{-1}(V') \subset g^{-1}(\Psi V') \subset g^{-1}(V')$ and thus $g^{-1}(V')$ is closed in X. This implies that $\operatorname{cl}_{\Phi} g^{-1}(V) \subset g^{-1}(\operatorname{cl}_{\Psi} V)$, which proves that $g: X \to Y$ is a continuous map.

REMARK 2.5. If Ξ : Set(Y) \rightarrow Set(X) is completely additive Boolean homomorphism then $\Xi = g^{-1}$ for some map $g: X \rightarrow Y$, cf. Prop. A.7 and [38]. The latter is given by g(x) = y for the unique $y \in Y$ such that $x \in \Xi\{y\}$. REMARK 2.6. If Φ and Ψ are completely additive operators then Proposition 2.4 can be proved using transitive reflexive closure. Observe that $\Phi^k g^{-1}(V) \subset g^{-1}(\Psi^k V)$ for all $k \ge 0$. Then,

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\Phi}g^{-1}(V) = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k g^{-1}(V) \subset \bigcup_{k \ge 0} g^{-1}(\Psi^k V) = g^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Psi^k V\right) = g^{-1}(\mathrm{cl}_{\Psi} V),$$

which establishes continuity.

REMARK 2.7. For a pre-order (X, \leq) the associated dual given by $cl_{\leq}U = \bigcup U$ defines a *complete and atomic and completely additive* closure algebra $(Set(X), cl_{\leq})$, i.e. Set(X) is a complete and atomic Boolean algebra and the closure operator cl_{\leq} is completely additive. The completely additive closure operator cl_{\leq} retrieves the pre-order. Similarly, a binary relation $\phi \subset X \times X$ yields a complete and atomic, and completely additive closure algebra $(Set(X), cl_{\Phi})$, where $cl_{\Phi} = \Phi^{+=}$ and $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$. The closure operator retrieves the transitive reflexive relation $\phi^{+=}$, but not ϕ in general. For a complete and atomic, and completely additive modal algebra $(Set(X), \Phi)$ the operator Φ retrieves ϕ . These principles play a role in the duality theory of closure algebras and modal algebras, cf. App. A.3, Sect. 2.6.3 and [51], [38]. In this text we are mainly interested in closure algebras and their duality.

REMARK 2.8. Closely related to a closure operator is the notion of a derivative operator. A modal operator Γ : Set(X) \rightarrow Set(X) is called a *derivative operator* if following axioms are satisfied: for all $U, U' \subset X$,

(D1) (normal) $\Gamma \varnothing = \varnothing$;

(D2) (additive) $\Gamma(U \cup U') = \Gamma U \cup \Gamma U';$

(D3) (quasi-idempotent) $\Gamma(\Gamma U) \subset U \cup \Gamma U.^7$

The pair $(Set(X), \Gamma)$ is called a *derivative algebra*, cf. [17], [51]. A derivative operator defines a closure operator via

For every closure operator there exists a derivative operator such that (2.6) holds, e.g. take $\Gamma = \text{cl.}^8$

2.3. Discretization of topology

We start with a general description of discretization of topology in terms of closure algebras. This procedure can then be used for the same purpose in the setting of modal algebras. These techniques play a role in the discussion of treating dynamics in terms of topology.

 $\Gamma U := \{ x \in X \mid N \cap U \smallsetminus \{x\} \neq \emptyset \text{ for all neighborhoods } N \ni x \},\$

⁷Axiom (D3) is equivalent to from Axiom (K4) via $cl = id \cup \Gamma$.

⁸The choice of a derivative operator is clearly not unique. An important non-trivial choice is given by the *derived set*, the set of limit points of a set U:

which is *not* equal to cl U in general.

2.3.1. Closure algebra discretization. Discretization of a topological space (X, \mathscr{T}) in the spirit of closure algebras is an *injective* Boolean homomorphism⁹ $|\cdot|$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow$ Set(X), where Set (\mathfrak{X}) is the powerset of a finite set \mathfrak{X} , in combination with an appropriately chosen *discrete* closure operator cl: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) such that cl $|\mathcal{U}| \subset |cl\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \in$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) , in which case $|\cdot|$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow$ Set(X) is a semi-homomorphism of closure algebras. We refer to the elements $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ as *cells*. This discretization is captured by the following diagram in the category of closure algebras and semi-homomorphisms:¹⁰

(2.7)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Set}(X) & \stackrel{\operatorname{cl}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Set}(X) \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ \end{array}$$

The closure algebra (Set(\mathfrak{X}), cl) defines a finite topology on \mathfrak{X} by declaring \mathcal{U} closed if and only if cl $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$. As \mathfrak{X} is a finite set any topology on \mathfrak{X} is necessarily an Alexandrov topology, and is equivalent to the specialization pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)^{11}$ defined by

(2.8)
$$\xi \leq \xi'$$
 if and only if $\xi \in cl\{\xi'\}$,

cf. App. B.3. The discretization described above allows us to regard \mathfrak{X} as an algebra $(\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \operatorname{cl})$, as a pre-order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) , and as topological space \mathfrak{X} . In general we do not differentiate between the specialization pre-order and the Alexandrov topology, and we refer to the triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \operatorname{cl}, |\cdot|)$ as a closure algebra discretization, or *CA*-*discretization* of (X, \mathscr{T}) .

DEFINITION 2.9. A CA-discretization is called *Boolean* if $cl|\mathcal{U}| = |cl\mathcal{U}|$ for all $U \in Set(\mathfrak{X})$.

This definition in particular implies that (2.7) is commutative in which case the map $|\cdot|$: Set(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow Set(X) is a homomorphism of closure algebras, cf. [5]. For a preorder (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) we define a *down-set* $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ by the property: $\xi' \in \mathcal{U}, \xi \leq \xi'$, then $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$. The set of down-sets is denoted by O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)¹² which by construction is a finite distributive lattice with binary operations \cap and \cup , cf. App. B.1, B.3 and [15]. Note that O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) = Fwdset(cl), where cl is the associated closure operator on Set(\mathfrak{X}). In a similar fashion we can define the lattice of *up-sets* U(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) = Fwdset(\overline{cl}), where

⁹ In the context of discretizaztion we consider injective homomorphisms with finite range, i.e. finite subalgebras. The theory can be phrased in more general terms via homomorphisms.

¹⁰In the above mentioned category of closure algebras we employ the morphisms are semihomomorphisms of closure algebras.

¹¹The Alexandrov topology is T_0 if and only if the specialization pre-order is a partial order.

¹²If there is no ambiguity about the pre-order we write $O(\mathfrak{X})$ for short. Another common notation is $Invset^+(\leq)$.

 $\mathbf{cl} \,\mathcal{U} = \mathbf{star} \,\mathcal{U}$ is the *conjugate closure operator*, cf. App. A.2 and [38]. The join-irreducible elements of both lattices are characterized as

 $\mathbf{cl}\,\xi = \big|\,\xi := \big\{\xi' \mid \xi' \leqslant \xi\big\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{star}\,\xi = \big\uparrow\xi := \big\{\xi' \mid \xi \leqslant \xi'\big\}\,, \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{X},$

which are called the *principal* down-sets and up-sets respectively. Intersections of up-sets and down-sets are the *convex sets* in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)^{13}$ and are denoted by $Co(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ which is a meet-semilattice with respect to \cap .

REMARK 2.10. For a pre-order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) we can define the *partial equivalence* classes by $\xi \sim \xi'$ if and only if $\xi \leq \xi'$ and $\xi' \leq \xi$. The set of partial equivalence classes is denoted by $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$. The latter is a poset via $[\xi] \leq [\eta]$ if only only if $\xi \leq \eta$. This yields the natural order-preserving projection $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ defined by $\xi \mapsto [\xi]$. By construction $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim})$. The map $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ is also a discretization. The associated CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is defined by $\mathrm{cl}[\xi] = \downarrow [\xi]$ and $|[\xi]| = \bigcup_{\xi' \in [\xi]} |\xi'|$ and yields a T_0 Alexandrov topology.

2.3.2. Modal algebra discretization. Let (X, \mathscr{T}_{Φ}) be a topological space defined by a modal operator $\Phi \colon \text{Set}(X) \to \text{Set}(X)$. The associated closure algebra is $(\text{Set}(X), \text{cl}_{\Phi})$ with closure operator defined in (2.2). Discretization in terms of closure algebras can always be formulated in terms of modal algebras. Consider a discrete modal operator $\Phi \colon \text{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \text{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$. As explained in Section 2.2 we obtain a topological space $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{T}_{\Phi})$, whose discrete topology can be described by either the specialization pre-order \leq_{Φ} or the associated closure operator cl_{Φ} . A triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \Phi, |\cdot|)$ is a modal algebra discretization, or *MA-discretization* of (X, \mathscr{T}_{Φ}) if

(MA) $\Phi|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\Phi\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \in \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$,

which is equivalent to the condition that $|\cdot|$ is a semi-homomorphism of modal algebras and is expressed in the diagram:

(2.9)
$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Set}(X) & \stackrel{\Phi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Set}(X) \\ & |\cdot| \uparrow & & \uparrow |\cdot| \\ & \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) & \stackrel{\Phi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \end{array}$$

PROPOSITION 2.11. Let $(\mathfrak{X}, \Phi, |\cdot|)$ be a MA-discretization of (X, \mathscr{T}_{Φ}) . Then, the induced closure operator $\mathbf{cl}_{\Phi} : \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ given in (2.2) defines a CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}_{\Phi}, |\cdot|)$ of X. In particular, the closure operator \mathbf{cl}_{Φ} is given by $\mathbf{cl}_{\Phi} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k$.¹⁴

PROOF. Since $|\cdot|$ is a completely additive Boolean homomorphism it is the inverse image of a map $X \to \mathfrak{X}$, cf. Prop. A.7 and Rem. 2.5. By Axiom (MA) and Proposition 2.4 the latter is continuous and thus $cl_{\Phi}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |cl_{\Phi}\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$, which proves that $(\mathfrak{X}, cl_{\Phi}, |\cdot|)$ is a CA-discretization of *X*. Since a finite modal operator is completely additive the formula for Θ follows from Lemma 2.3.

¹³The convex sets in the pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ are the *locally closed* subsets in \mathfrak{X} as topological space.

¹⁴The expression $\Phi^{+=} := \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k$ is the transitive reflexive closure of Φ , cf. App. A.1.

The advantage of using a discrete modal operator on $Set(\mathfrak{X})$ is a refinement of the specialization pre-order on \mathfrak{X} in terms of specialization relation given by:

(2.10) $(\xi,\xi') \in \phi$ if and only if $\xi \in \Phi\{\xi'\}$.

Observe that ϕ need not be transitive and is not reflexive in general. Moreover, the transitive reflexive closure $\phi^{+=}$ is the specialization pre-order of $cl_{\Phi} = \Phi^{+=}$ in (2.8), cf. Sect. 2.2.

REMARK 2.12. As for pre-orders the notion of down-set for a specialization relation is formulated as: $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ is a down-set for Φ if $\xi' \in \mathcal{U}$ and $(\xi, \xi') \in \phi$, then $\xi' \in \mathcal{U}$. Note that $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\Phi}) = O(\mathfrak{X}, \phi) = Fwdset(\Phi)$.

REMARK 2.13. Modal algebra discretization using a derivative operator will be referred to as *DA-discretizations*. Binary relations coming from derivative operators will be called *weakly transitive*, or wK4, cf. [17]. If Γ satisfies the stronger sub-idempotency axiom in (K3), i.e. $\Gamma(\Gamma U) \subset \Gamma U$, we say that Γ is a *strong derivative operator*. This is often the case in dynamics in which instance the associated specialization relation is transitive (a K4-order).

2.4. Discretization maps

Let (X, \mathscr{T}) be a topological space. A *discretization map* on X is a *surjective* map¹⁵

where \mathfrak{X} is a finite set. Since unions and intersections are preserved under preimage, disc^{-1} : $\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$, is an injective Boolean homomorphism, cf. Footn.'s 9 and 15. In this context, we say that disc^{-1} is an *evaluation map* and we use the notation: $|\mathcal{U}| := \operatorname{disc}^{-1} \mathcal{U}$ for $\mathcal{U} \in \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$.

2.4.1. Topology consistent pre-orders. As pointed out above any topology on \mathfrak{X} is equivalent to its specialization pre-order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . We say that \leq is a \mathscr{T} -consistent pre-order on X with respect to disc if disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ is continuous, which is equivalent to the condition that $\operatorname{cl}\operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{disc}^{-1} \downarrow \mathcal{U}$, for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$, i.e. $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U}|$, where $\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} = \bigcup \mathcal{U}$. Consequently, when \leq is \mathscr{T} -consistent, the triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \operatorname{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is a CA-discretization, and disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ is a continuous discretization map. If disc is a continuous *open* map then $|\cdot| = \operatorname{disc}^{-1}$ is a homomorphism of closure algebras.¹⁶ A specialization relation $\phi \subset \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$ is \mathscr{T} -consistent if the reflexive transitive closure is \mathscr{T} -consistent.

¹⁵ As pointed in Footnote 9, in the context of discretization the maps are chosen to be surjective and are dual to injective closure algebra homomorphisms.

¹⁶By (2.8) $\xi \leq \xi'$ if and only if $\xi \in \mathbf{cl} \xi'$ which is equivalent to $\{\xi\} \subset \mathbf{cl} \xi'$. In the case that $|\cdot|$ is an injective homomorphism of closure algebras we obtain the equivalent statement $|\xi| \subset |\mathbf{cl} \xi'| = \mathrm{cl} |\xi'|$. Here we use the convention $\mathbf{cl}\{\xi\} = \mathbf{cl} \xi$.

Conversely, given a CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$, we define disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ via

(2.12) $\operatorname{disc}(x) = \xi \text{ where } x \in |\xi|,$

which is a well-defined map since $\bigcup_{\xi} |\xi| = X$ and $|\xi|$ and $|\xi'|$ are mutually disjoint for all $\xi \neq \xi'$, cf. Rem. 2.5. By Birkhoff duality the injectivity of $|\cdot|$ implies the surjectivity of disc, cf. Thm. B.2 and [15, Thm. 5.19]. Moreover, since $\operatorname{cl} |\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U}|$, $|\cdot| = \operatorname{disc}^{-1}$, the map disc is a continuous map, thus \leq is \mathscr{T} -consistent. For a discretization of a subset X of the plane with the associated face partial order \leq in Fig. 1.1[left 1 and 2] the pre-order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) is a discretization of the topology \mathscr{T} of X. The map disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ assigns a vertex, edge or square to any point in X. For closure algebras, disc is induced by sending a point x to the cell in which it is contained, as in Equation (2.12). We can summarize these considerations as follows:

PROPOSITION 2.14. A surjective, continuous discretization map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ is equivalent to a CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ with $(\mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \mathbf{cl})$ dual¹⁷ to $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ and $|\cdot| = \operatorname{disc}^{-1}$.

A pre-order \leq is a \mathscr{T} -co-consistent with respect to disc if disc: $X \to (\mathfrak{X}, \geq)$ is continuous, where \geq is the opposite pre-order. This is equivalent to the condition $\operatorname{cl}\operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{disc}^{-1}\overline{\operatorname{cl}}\mathcal{U}$, for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$, where $\overline{\operatorname{cl}}\mathcal{U} := \operatorname{star}\mathcal{U}$ is the *conjugate closure operator*, cf. [51]. In terms of realization this reads $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{star}\mathcal{U}|$. If \mathcal{U} is $\overline{\operatorname{cl}}$ -closed, i.e. $\overline{\operatorname{cl}}\mathcal{U} = \operatorname{star}\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ which implies that \mathcal{U} is open in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) , then the \mathscr{T} -coconsistency implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is a closed set. Indeed, $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{star}\mathcal{U}| = |\mathcal{U}| \subset \operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}|$ and thus $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| = |\mathcal{U}|$. Moreover, the closed sets $\mathcal{U} \in \operatorname{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ for a \mathscr{T} -co-consistent pre-order are open under realization. If $\mathcal{U} \in \operatorname{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ then $\operatorname{cl}\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and therefore \mathcal{U}^c is open which implies that $\operatorname{star}\mathcal{U}^c = \mathcal{U}^c$. By the previous $|\mathcal{U}^c| = |\mathcal{U}|^c$ is closed and thus $|\mathcal{U}|$ is open.

REMARK 2.15. If we allow the evaluation map $|\cdot|$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set(X) to be an arbitrary homomorphism then the map disc defined in (2.12) is still valid which allows us to treat the theory of discretization with arbitrary, not necessarily surjective, continuous maps disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$. In this paper we restrict to surjective discretization maps unless stated otherwise.

REMARK 2.16. For a discretization map disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$, there is always a \mathscr{T} consistent pre-order. Namely, the trivial, or indiscrete topology on \mathfrak{X} : $\operatorname{cl} \varnothing = \varnothing$ and $\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} = \mathfrak{X}$ for all $\mathcal{U} \neq \emptyset$, i.e. \leq is an equivalence: $\xi \leq \xi'$ and $\xi' \leq \xi$ for all $\xi, \xi' \in \mathfrak{X}$.

2.4.2. Filtering and grading. If \leq is a \mathscr{T} -consistent pre-order for a discretization map disc, then by (2.8) the down-sets \mathscr{U} for \leq correspond to the closed sets in \mathscr{X} and therefore by the continuity of disc we have that $\operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathscr{U} \in \mathscr{C}(X, \mathscr{T})$, where

¹⁷In terms of Boolean algebras with operators, cf. App. B.3 the pre-order is the dual to the closure algebra and vice versa. This duality can also be understood in terms of (co)-Heyting algebras.

 $\mathscr{C}(X)=\mathscr{C}(X,\mathscr{T})^{18}$ denotes the closed sets in X. This yields the lattice homomorphism

(2.13)
$$\operatorname{disc}^{-1} \colon \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant) \longrightarrow \mathscr{C}(X) \xrightarrow{\subset} \mathsf{Set}(X).$$

In this setting we refer to disc⁻¹ as an $O(\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim})$ -*filtering* on X and use the filtering notation: $F_{\mathcal{U}}X := \operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathcal{U} = |\mathcal{U}|$. Similarly, a subset $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ is *open* if it is an up-set of \mathfrak{X} and the image under disc⁻¹ are open sets in X. Dual to the $O(\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim})$ filtering is the *grading* $X = \bigcup_{\xi \in [\xi]} G_{[\xi]}X$ with the property that $G_{[\xi]}X \neq \emptyset$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$, cf. App. C.1. The latter is an $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ -grading given by $G_{[\xi]}X \stackrel{\text{grd}}{\longrightarrow} [\xi]$, where $\{G_{[\xi]}X \mid [\xi] \in (\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}, \leqslant)\}$ is an ordered tessellation. The following scheme shows the duality between CA-discretizations and continuous discretization maps, and between filterings and gradings, cf. App. C.1:



where $G_{[\xi]}X = \text{disc}^{-1}[\xi]$. In general a grading on a topological space yields a discretization which is not necessarily continuous.¹⁹ This implies that the above diagram do not necessarily point in the opposite direction. Finally we define a class of discretization maps which are favorable for using homology theories.

DEFINITION 2.17. A discretization map disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is *natural* if it is continuous and the associated filtering disc⁻¹: $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \to Set(X)$ consists of mutually good pairs.²⁰

2.5. Bi-topological spaces and discretization

A triple $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ is called a *bi-topological space* if the factors (X, \mathscr{T}) and (X, \mathscr{T}') are well-defined topological spaces. The associated closure algebra for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ is the Boolean algebra with operators (Set(X), cl, cl'), where cl and cl' are the closure operators for \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}' respectively and is referred to as *bi-closure algebra* for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$. A subset $U \subset X$ is a $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ -pairwise clopen set for X if U is closed in \mathscr{T} and open in \mathscr{T}' . We denote the set of $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ -pairwise clopen sets

¹⁸If there is no ambiguity about the topology we write $\mathscr{C}(X)$ for short. The same applies to the open sets $\mathscr{O}(X)$.

¹⁹Let $X = \bigcup_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p X$ be a P-graded decomposition of X. Then, the map grd: $X \to \mathsf{P}$, defined by $\operatorname{grd}(x) = \operatorname{grd}(G_p X) = p$ for all $x \in G_p X$, is a discretization map in the sense of Rmk. 2.15. By restricting to the range one obtains a surjective discretization map, cf. App. C.1.

²⁰Recall that a pair (*X*, *A*), $A \subset X$ closed, is a *good pair* if *A* is a deformation retract of a neighborhood in *X*, q.v. [34, Thm. 2.13].

in a bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ by $\mathscr{CO}(X)$. Similarly, we can define $(\mathscr{T}', \mathscr{T})$ -pairwise clopen sets which are open in \mathscr{T} and closed in \mathscr{T}' and are denoted by $\mathscr{CO}^*(X)$.

The next step is to consider discretization for bi-topological spaces. A discretization map disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ is a p-continuous map²¹ between bi-topological spaces if there exists pre-orders (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and (\mathfrak{X}, \leq') that are \mathscr{T} -consistent and \mathscr{T}' -consistent respectively. We write disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}') \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \leq')$. The associated *bi-topological CA-discretization* is denoted by $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}', |\cdot|)$ where **cl** and **cl**' are the associated closure operators. Let $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}', |\cdot|)$ be a bi-topological CA-discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$. This is equivalent to choosing a discretization map disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ and pre-orders (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and (\mathfrak{X}, \leq') such that disc is continuous with respect to both \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}' . Since the pre-orders \leq and \leq' represent Alexandrov topologies we can coarsen the finite topologies using both up-sets and down-sets.

DEFINITION 2.18. Let disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be a discretization map. An *antagonistic pre-order* for $(X, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}')$ is a pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ such that

(i) \leq^{\dagger} is \mathscr{T} -consistent with respect to disc;

(ii) \leq^{\dagger} is \mathscr{T}' -co-consistent with respect to disc.

These conditions translate as

(2.14)
$$\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}|, \quad \operatorname{cl}'|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\mathbf{star}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}|, \quad \forall \mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X},$$

where $\operatorname{star}^{\dagger} = \overline{\mathbf{c}} \mathbf{l}^{\dagger}$, the conjugate closure operator, cf. Sect. 2.4.1 and [38]. The triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}, |\cdot|)$ is called an *antagonistic CA-discretization* for $(X, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}')$.

REMARK 2.19. An equivalent way to say that $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is an antagonistic preorder is that both

disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, and disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}') \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger})$,

are continuous.

REMARK 2.20. We can use the pairwise clopen sets in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ as a base (of closed sets) for the topology \mathscr{T}^{\dagger} . Closed sets in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ are pairwise clopen sets in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$, which yields the continuous discretization map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}^{\dagger}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. We say that \mathscr{T}^{\dagger} is the *antagonistic topology* with respect to the pair $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$. Since closed sets in $(X, \mathscr{T}^{\dagger})$ are not necessarily pairwise clopen it is preferable to use the concept of pairwise clopen sets in the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$.

REMARK 2.21. Antagonistic pre-orders can also be defined by reversing the role of \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}' .

Antagonistic pre-orders yield discrete topologies on \mathfrak{X} since such topologies are necessarily Alexandrov. One cannot play the same game with \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}' on

²¹J.C. Kelly refers to such map that are continuous with respect to both topologies as *p*-continuous, or *pairwise continuous* maps, cf. [45].

X since topologies are not Alexandrov in general. For this reason one chooses the formalism of bi-topological spaces and anatagonistic pre-orders.

Let $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ be an antagonistic pre-order as in Definition 2.18. Closed sets \mathcal{U} in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ are pairwise clopen sets $|\mathcal{U}| \in \mathscr{CO}(X)$, cf. Sect. 2.4.1. Conversely, if $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}', |\cdot|)$ is a bi-topological CA discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ then the lattice embedding:

$$(2.15) \qquad \iota: \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}) \rightarrowtail \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant) \cap \mathsf{U}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant') =: \mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X}),$$

yields an antagonistic pre-order for $(X, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}')$. Indeed, if we use Birkhoff duality to dualize the homomorphism $\iota: O(P) \rightarrow Set(\mathcal{X})$, q.v. Thm. B.2 and Rem. B.3, we obtain the order-preserving surjection

(2.16)
$$\pi: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathsf{P}, \quad \xi \mapsto \pi(\xi) := \min\{p \in \mathsf{P} \mid \xi \in \iota(\downarrow p)\} \\ = \max\{\min\{\mathcal{U} \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P})) \mid \xi \in \mathcal{U}\}\},\$$

where J(O(P)) is the poset of join-irreducible elements in O(P). By construction a pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is defined by

 $\xi \leq^{\dagger} \xi'$ if and only if $\pi(\xi) \leq \pi(\xi')$,

is an antagonistic pre-order with $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \cong O(\mathsf{P})$. In this case we say that \leq^{\dagger} is an *antagonistic coarsening* of $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}', |\cdot|)$. The lattice embedding $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \rightarrow \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ is dual to the identity map

(2.17)
$$\operatorname{id}: \mathfrak{X} \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}).$$

THEOREM 2.22. A pre-order \leq^{\dagger} is an antagonistic pre-order for disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}') \rightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ if and only if there exists a bi-topological CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}', |\cdot|)$ such that $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is given by (2.15), i.e. an antagonistic pre-order is equivalent to an antagonistic coarsening.

PROOF. One direction is given be the construction in (2.15). It remains to show that an antagonistic pre-order satisfying Definition 2.18(i)-(ii) is an antagonistic coarsening. If we define the discrete closure operators $\mathbf{cl} = \mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}$ and $\mathbf{cl}' = \mathbf{star}^{\dagger}$, then $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) = O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and $U(\mathfrak{X}, \leq') = O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, which proves the theorem. \Box

In practical situations, given a bi-topological CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \leq')$, we can choose $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) = \mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X})$. Let $J(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}))$ be the poset of join-irreducible elements in $\mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X})$. From the results in [44, 40] consider a representation (SC, \leq) of $J(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}))$ defined by

(2.18)
$$\mathsf{SC} := \{ \mathcal{S} = \mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{L}} \mid \mathcal{U} \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})) \},\$$

with $S \leq S'$ if and only if $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{U}'$, with $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}' \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}))$ uniquely determined by $S = \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\bullet}$ and $S' = \mathcal{U}' \setminus \mathcal{U}'^{\bullet}.^{22}$ If we regard the pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ as a directed graph then the sets $S \in \mathsf{SC}$ correspond to the *strongly connected components* of the directed graph which is the motivation for the abbreviation SC, cf.

²²For every $\mathcal{U} \in J(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}))$ there exists a unique immediate predecessor $\mathcal{U}^{\bullet} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$.

Rem. 2.24. The posets (SC, \leq) and $(J(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})), \subset)$ are isomorphic by construction and the elements in SC correspond to the partial equivalence classes in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, cf. Rem. 2.10, which yields the (order-preserving) projection dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \rightarrow (SC, \leq)$ $) = \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$.²³ The latter may be regarded as a *finite* discretization of \mathfrak{X} . The embedding $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{\subset} O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ implies that dyn is also an order-preserving map dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \rightarrow (SC, \leq)$ which factors as $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \xrightarrow{id} (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{dyn} (SC, \leq)$. Indeed, a downset in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is a downset in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and therefore $\leq \subset \leq^{\dagger}$ as preorders. By the same token we have that dyn is order-reversing with respect to \leq' which follows from the embedding $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{\subset} U(\mathfrak{X}, \leq')$ and therefore $\geq' \subset \leq^{\dagger}$ as pre-orders. Summarizing, the maps dyn are order-preserving and order-reversing respectively:



The map dyn is again a continuous discretization and the composition

denoted by tile, may be regarded as a continuous map tile: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (SC, \leq)$ and as a continuous map $(X, \mathscr{T}') \to (SC, \geq)$ by factoring through $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and $(\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger})$ respectively, and which is equivalently obtained by factoring through (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) by factoring through (\mathfrak{X}, \leq') respectively. Every antagonistic pre-order for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ defines a grading $G_{\mathcal{S}}X \xrightarrow{\text{tile}} \mathcal{S}$ of X given by

$$X = \bigcup_{\mathcal{S} \in \mathsf{SC}} G_{\mathcal{S}} X, \quad G_{\mathcal{S}} X = \operatorname{tile}^{-1} \mathcal{S},$$

which is called an *antagonistic tessellation* of *X*. We apply these bi-topological discretization techniques in the next two chapters in the context of discretizing semi-flows.

REMARK 2.23. An antagonistic pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ satisfies $\leq \subset \leq^{\dagger}$ and $\geq' \subset \leq^{\dagger}$ as pre-orders and thus $\leq \lor \geq' \subset \leq^{\dagger}$ as pre-orders. The 'vee' on the pre-order is the transitive closure of the union. The case $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) = \mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X})$ corresponds to $\leq \lor \geq' = \leq^{\dagger}$.

 $^{^{23}\}text{We}$ use the terminology dyn as it is used later on in the setting of the block-flow topology .

REMARK 2.24. There are various (equivalent) perspectives for presenting binary relations on \mathfrak{X} :

(a) as a binary relation, i.e. $\phi \subset \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$;

(b) as a directed graph (digraph) ϕ with vertices \mathfrak{X} and edge set

$$\{\xi \rightarrow \xi' \mid (\xi, \xi') \in \phi^{-1}\}$$

(c) as modal operator $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) .

We alternate between these perspectives, using whichever is conceptually most convenient. As digraph the strongly connected components are found via (A.3).

2.6. Examples and further extensions

In this section we discuss examples of discretization of topology starting with regular closed sets. The latter will be applied in the setting of CW-decompositions. We start with outlining regular closed sets.

2.6.1. Regular closed sets. Of particular importance in this text are the regular closed sets which play a central role in the construction of Morse tessellations. A subset $U \subset X$ is *regular closed* if $\operatorname{clint} U = U$. The set of regular closed sets in any topological space X is denoted by $\mathscr{R}(X, \mathscr{T})$ and the latter forms a complete Boolean algebra with unary operation $U^{\#} = \operatorname{cl} U^c$ and binary operations $U \lor U' = U \cup U'$ and $U \land U' = \operatorname{clint}(U \cap U')$, cf. [68, Sect. 2.3]. By the same token we can define the regular closed sets in a CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \operatorname{cl}, |\cdot|)$ and we denote regular closed sets in \mathfrak{X} by $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$.²⁴ Regular closed subsets can be obtained from closed subsets $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$.

PROPOSITION 2.25 (cf. [44], Lem. 22). The map clint: $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \to \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$, defined by $\mathcal{U} \mapsto \text{clint } \mathcal{U}$, is a surjective lattice homomorphism.²⁵

The atoms in $\text{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ are given by the set \mathfrak{X} . Since $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ is a finite Boolean algebra it is a power set on a set of atoms. Define the maximal elements in \mathfrak{X} with respect to \leq by \mathfrak{X}^{\top} , i.e. $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ if and only if star $\xi = \xi$. Such elements are called *top cells* and form an anti-chain in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) .

PROPOSITION 2.26. The atoms of $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ are given by the set $\{\mathbf{cl} \xi \mid \xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}\}$. Moreover, $\mathbf{cl} \colon \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ is an isomorphism with inverse $\mathcal{U} \mapsto \mathcal{U} \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$.

PROOF. We start with the observation that $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ represents an open subset. Indeed, star $\xi = \xi$ and thus $\xi = \operatorname{int} \xi$. Then, $\operatorname{cl} \xi = \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \xi$ is a regular closed set since $\operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \xi = \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \xi$. Suppose $\xi \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$, i.e. ξ is not maximal in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . Since $\xi = \{\xi\}$ is a singleton set and since $\operatorname{int} \{\xi\} \subset \{\xi\}$ we conclude that $\operatorname{int} \xi = \xi$, or $\operatorname{int} \xi = \emptyset$. Suppose the former holds. Then, since ξ is not maximal, $\{\xi\} \subseteq \operatorname{star} \xi = \xi$

²⁴In this text we mainly consider regular closed sets with repect to one topology \mathscr{T} . Therefore the notation $\mathscr{R}(X)$ and $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ does not cause any ambiguities.

²⁵This result holds for any topological space X.

 $\{\xi\}$, a contradiction. Therefore, int $\xi = \emptyset$. Let $\mathcal{U} = \bigcup \{\xi\}$ be a regular closed set. Then, by invoking Proposition 2.25 we have

$$\mathcal{U} = \operatorname{clint} \mathcal{U} = \operatorname{clint} \left(\bigcup \{\xi\} \right) = \bigcup \operatorname{clint} \xi = \bigcup \left\{ \operatorname{cl} \xi \mid \xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \right\},$$

which proves that every regular closed set is union of elements $cl \xi$, for $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. The latter form an anti-chain in $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$, i.e., again invoking Proposition 2.25,

(2.21)
$$\operatorname{cl} \xi \wedge \operatorname{cl} \xi' = \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \xi \wedge \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} \xi' = \operatorname{cl} \operatorname{int} (\xi \cap \xi') = \emptyset$$

which proves that $\mathbf{cl}\,\xi$, for $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$, are atoms. The map $\mathbf{cl} \colon \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ preserves union. Consider $\mathbf{cl}\,\mathcal{U} \land \mathbf{cl}\,\mathcal{U}'$. By (2.21) we have

$$\mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U} \wedge \mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}' = \bigcup \mathbf{cl} \ \xi \wedge \bigcup \mathbf{cl} \ \xi' = \bigcup \mathbf{cl} \ \xi'' = \mathbf{cl} \Big(\bigcup \{\xi''\} \Big),$$

where $\bigcup \{\xi''\} = \mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{U}'$, which proves that $\mathbf{cl} \colon \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ is a homomorphism. Any $\mathcal{U} \in \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ is uniquely represented as $\mathcal{U} = \bigcup \mathbf{cl} \xi = \mathbf{cl}(\bigcup \{\xi\}), \xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ which shows that $\mathcal{U} \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ yields the unique set of generating cells $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. \Box

Regular closed sets in \mathfrak{X} do not necessarily yield regular closed sets in X under evaluation. However, if $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is *Boolean*, cf. Defn. 2.9, then we have the following correspondence: $|\mathcal{U}| = |\mathbf{clint} \mathcal{U}| = \mathrm{cl}|\mathbf{int} \mathcal{U}| = \mathrm{clint} |\mathcal{U}|^{26}$ and thus a subset $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ is regular closed in \mathfrak{X} if and only if $|\mathcal{U}| \subset X$ is regular closed in X. This way the image of $|\cdot|: \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathscr{R}(X)$ yields the finite Boolean subalgebra $\mathscr{R}_0(X)$ contained in $\mathscr{R}(X)$. The subalgebra $\mathscr{R}_0(X)$ is generated by the set of atoms $J(\mathscr{R}_0(X)) := {\mathrm{cl}|\xi| \mid \xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}}^{27}$

PROPOSITION 2.27. Let $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ be a Boolean CA-discretization for X. Then, the map

$$\|\cdot\|$$
: Set $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}_0(X), \quad \xi \mapsto \|\xi\| := \mathbf{cl}|\xi|,^{28}$

is a lattice isomorphism and thus a Boolean isomorphism.

Conversely, a finite sub-algebra $\mathscr{R}_0(X) \subset \mathscr{R}(X)$ yields a finite closure algebra $(\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \operatorname{cl})$ as follows. Define $[\mathscr{R}_0(X)]$ as the smallest sub-algebra in $\operatorname{Set}(X)$ containing $\mathscr{R}_0(X)$. Denote the set of atoms by $\operatorname{J}([\mathscr{R}_0(X)]) := \{|\xi| \mid \xi \in \mathfrak{X}\}$ for some finite set \mathfrak{X} . This defines the pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ via the relation: $\xi \leqslant \xi'$ if and only if $|\xi| \subset \operatorname{cl}|\xi'|$. Via the pre-order we obtain a closure operator on $\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ via (2.8).

PROPOSITION 2.28. Let $\mathscr{R}_0(X) \subset \mathscr{R}(X)$ be a finite sub-algebra. Then, $[\mathscr{R}_0(X)] \subset$ Set(X) defines a unique finite closure algebra (Set(\mathfrak{X}), cl), where the cl is defined by (2.8).

The above statement can be rephrased as: a finite sub-algebra $\mathscr{R}_0(X) \subset \mathscr{R}(X)$ induces a unique Boolean CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ for X, where $|\cdot|$ an injective homomorphism of closure algebras.

²⁶If $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean then $\mathbf{int} |\mathcal{U}| = |\mathbf{int} \mathcal{U}|$ follows from the relation for closure.

²⁷The join-irreducible element in a finite Boolean algebra and the atoms that generate the Boolean algebra.

²⁸The notation $\|\cdot\|$ is called *closed realization*.

2.6.2. CW-decomposition maps. Consider a discretization disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ without indicating a specific pre-order on \mathfrak{X} for now. Let B^q and \overline{B}^q denote the open and closed unit balls in \mathbb{R}^q respectively (where B^0 and \overline{B}^0 denote the one point space). We say that ξ is an *q*-cell if $|\xi|$ is homeomorphic to an open ball B^q . The integer *q* is called the *dimension* of ξ and is denoted dim ξ . Suppose disc has the property that every ξ is an *q*-cell for some *q*. Given such a discretization map assigning dimension to a cell is an order-preserving map

dim:
$$\mathfrak{X} \to (\mathbb{N}, \leq)$$

when \mathfrak{X} is regarded as anti-chain. Note therefore that the anti-chain \mathfrak{X} is a naturally graded set with respect to dim, i.e., $\mathfrak{X} = \bigcup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} G_q \mathfrak{X}$, where $G_q \mathfrak{X} = \dim^{-1} q$ is the set of *q*-cells. The latter also yields the filtering

$$\downarrow q \mapsto F_{\downarrow q} \mathfrak{X}, \quad \downarrow q \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{N}),$$

where, by Birkhoff duality, $F_{\downarrow q} \mathfrak{X} = \dim^{-1} \downarrow q$, $\downarrow q = \{0, 1, \dots, q\}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$. The composition $X \xrightarrow{\text{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{dim}} \mathbb{N}$, denoted by skel, also defines a discretization on X and yields the filtering $\downarrow q \mapsto F_{\downarrow q} X = \text{skel}^{-1} \downarrow q$, $\downarrow q \in O(\mathbb{N})$.

DEFINITION 2.29. A *CW*-decomposition map on *X*, denoted by cell: $X \rightarrow \mathfrak{X}$, is a discretization map where each $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ is an *q*-cell for some *q*. Moreover, for every $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ there is a continuous map $f_{\xi} : \overline{B}^q \to X$, where $q = \dim \xi$, such that

- (i) f_{ξ} restricts to a homeomorphism $f_{\xi}|_{B^q} \colon B^q \to |\xi|;$
- (ii) $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) \subset F_{\downarrow(q-1)}X.$

A subset $U \subset X$ is open (closed) if and only if $f_{\xi}^{-1}(U)$ is open (closed) in \overline{B}^q for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. A CW-decomposition map is *regular* if the maps f_{ξ} are embeddings.

Note that if *X* admits a (finite) CW-decomposition map then *X* is a compact Hausdorff space, cf. [34]. Since *X* is Hausdorff, it follows that $\|\xi\| = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q)$.²⁹ CW-decompositions are general enough to include simplicial and cubical complexes. From a CW-decomposition map we can define the following finite topology in terms of a pre-order on \hat{X} :

$$\xi \leqslant \xi'$$
 if and only if $|\xi| \subset \mathrm{cl}|\xi'|$,

which is called the *face partial order* on \mathfrak{X} .

LEMMA 2.30. The pre-order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) is a partial order and the associated Alexandrov topology is a T_0 topology.

PROOF. Suppose $\xi \neq \xi'$ and $\xi \sim \xi'$, i.e. $\xi \leq \xi'$ and $\xi' \leq \xi$, which implies that $\operatorname{cl}|\xi| = \operatorname{cl}|\xi'|$ and thus $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q) = f_{\xi'}(\bar{B}^q)$. Furthermore, $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q) = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \setminus B^q \cup B^q) =$

²⁹By continuity $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q) \subset clf_{\xi}(B^q) = ||\xi||$. On the other hand $||\xi|| = clf_{\xi}(B^q) \subset clf_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q) = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q)$ since the continuous image of a compact set is compact and in a Hausdorff space compact sets are closed.

 $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) \cup |\xi|$, and similarly $f_{\xi'}(\bar{B}^q) = f_{\xi'}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) \cup |\xi'|$. By assumption $|\xi| \cap |\xi'| = \emptyset$, which yields that

$$|\xi| \subset f_{\xi'}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) \subset F_{\downarrow(q-1)}X, \quad |\xi'| \subset f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) \subset F_{\downarrow(q-1)}X.$$

This contradicts the definition of $F_{\downarrow(q-1)}X$ and the fact that all cells are realized as disjoint sets in X. Therefore $\xi \sim \xi'$ if and only if $\xi = \xi'$ and \leq is a partial order and the Alexandrov topology is T_0 .

The next step is to show that cell: $X \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ is a continuous discretization map, i.e., that \leq is \mathscr{T} -consistent. Moreover, we also show that dim is order-preserving.

LEMMA 2.31. Let cl: Set(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow Set(\mathfrak{X}) be the closure operator defined by face partial order \leq . Then,

- (i) \leq is a \mathcal{T} -consistent partial order and $\operatorname{cl}[\xi] = |\operatorname{cl} \xi|$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$;
- (ii) dim: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant) \to (\mathbb{N}, \leqslant)$ is order-preserving.

PROOF. We have that $\operatorname{cl}|\xi| = \|\xi\| = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q)$ and thus, as before using Definition 2.29(i)-(ii), $f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q) = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \setminus B^q \cup B^q) = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \setminus B^q) \cup |\xi|$. This implies that $\operatorname{cl}|\xi|$ is a union of sets $|\xi'|$ and more precisely

$$\operatorname{cl}|\xi| = \bigcup \{ |\xi'| \mid |\xi'| \subset \operatorname{cl}|\xi| \} = \bigcup \{ |\xi'| \mid \xi' \leqslant \xi \} = |\operatorname{cl}\xi|,$$

which proves (i). As for (ii) we have that $\operatorname{cl}|\xi| \smallsetminus |\xi| = f_{\xi}(\bar{B}^q \smallsetminus B^q) = \bigcup \{ |\xi'| \mid \xi' \leq \xi \} \subset F_{\downarrow(q-1)}X$ and thus $\dim \xi' \leq q-1$. Consequently, $\xi' \leq \xi$ implies $\dim \xi' \leq \dim \xi$.

Lemma 2.31 shows in particular that cell is continuous open map and thus a discretization with respect to the face partial order. Moreover, $|\cdot|$ is an injective homomorphism of closure algebras. Indeed by additivity of $|\cdot|$ and cl we have that $cl|\mathcal{U}| = |cl \mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \in Set(\mathfrak{X})$. The associated CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, cl, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean and is called a *CW-decomposition* for *X*.

LEMMA 2.32. A CW-decomposition map cell: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is a natural discretization map.³⁰

PROOF. For every closed subset $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ the realization $|\mathcal{U}| \subset X$ is a sub CW-decomposition and therefore a deformation retract of a neighborhood in *X*, cf. [34, Prop. A.5.].

2.6.3. General closure and bi-closure algebras. A more general notion of closure algebra is given by a Boolean algebra $B = (B, \lor, \land, \urcorner)$ and an operator cl: $B \rightarrow B$ (an abstract closure operator) satisfying Axiom (K1)-(K4).³¹ The Boolean algebra B is not necessarily complete, nor atomic. Such algebras are referred to as

³⁰cf. Defn. 2.17.

³¹Replace \emptyset and X by the neutral elements 0 and 1 respectively, as well as the binary operations and complement.

closure algebras and are denoted as (B, cl). In [51] various representation results for general closure algebras are given. For a closure algebra the lattice of closed elements is given by Fwdset(cl) = { $b \in B | cl b \leq b$ }. The latter can be considered as *generalized topological space*, q.v. [55]. In terms of closed sets this entails that Fwdset(cl) is a bounded lattice, cf. Prop. 2.1 and if $\bigwedge b, b \in Fwdset(cl)$, exists in B, then $\bigwedge b \in Fwdset(cl)$. Moreover, the expression max{ $a | b \leq a, cl a = a$ } exists in B. By definition the latter satisfies $b \leq max{a | b \leq a, cl a = a} \leq cl b$ and thus it exists and cl $b = \bigwedge {a | b \leq a, cl a = a}$. The generalized topological space is denoted (B, Fwdset(cl)). Closure algebras are equivalent to generalized topological spaces. In a similar fashion a *bi-closure algebra* is given by a Boolean algebra and two abstract closure operators cl, cl': B \rightarrow B and is denoted by (B, cl, cl'). For bi-closure algebras we have an associated generalized bi-topological space. The same consideration hold if we used derivative operators.

For bi-closure algebras discretization can be formulated as bofore. An embedding

$$\cdot \mid : (\mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}') \rightarrowtail (\mathsf{B}, \mathrm{cl}, \mathrm{cl}'),$$

is a bi-topological CA-discretization if $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{cl}\mathcal{U}|$ and $\operatorname{cl}'|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{cl}'\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$. In order to describe discretization in terms of continuous discretization maps we need to use a representation of the bi-closure algebra such as the approach by Mckinsey-Tarski, cf. [51], or Jonsson-Tarski, cf. [38].

In a slightly more general setting one may define a *modal algebra* by specifying a Boolean algebra B and an operator $\Phi: B \to B$ satisfying (M1)-(M2).³² The latter is called a(n) (abstract) modal operator and the associated modal algebra is denoted by (B, Φ) . For a modal algebra the lattice of closed elements is given by Fwdset $(\Phi) = \{b \in B \mid \Phi b \leq b\}$. Similarly a *bi-modal algebra* is given by two modal operators $\Phi, \Phi': B \to B$ and is denoted by (B, Φ, Φ') . Even though the closed element almost yield generalized topological spaces the correspondence is more involved in this case.

 $^{^{32}\}mathrm{As}$ for closure algebras use the neutral elements 0 and 1.

CHAPTER 3

Flow topologies and discretization of dynamics

In the previous sections we discussed topological and bi-topological spaces in terms of closure algebras which is the appropriate language for formalizing discretization of topology. The next step is to model the dynamics of semi-flows on topological spaces via appropriately constructed topologies on *X*. Such topologies may be realized in many different ways and we refer to the dynamics induced topologies as *flow topologies*. The objective is not to develop explicit methods for discretizing dynamics but to describe the contours of a theory that discretizes dynamics in terms of discretizing two topologies.

3.1. Dynamics as topology

As discussed in the previous sections a topological space (X, \mathscr{T}) can be equivalently described via the closure algebra cl: $Set(X) \rightarrow Set(X)$. This description is convenient for introducing new topologies in relation to dynamical systems.

3.1.1. Basic flow topologies. For a semi-flow φ define the (completely additive) modal operators $\Gamma^-, \Gamma^+ : \operatorname{Set}(X) \to \operatorname{Set}(X)$ given by

$$(3.1) U \mapsto \Gamma^{-}U := \bigcup_{t>0} \varphi(-t, U), \quad U \mapsto \Gamma^{+}U := \bigcup_{t>0} \varphi(t, U),$$

The operators Γ^- and Γ^+ which are called the *strict backward image* and *strict forward image* operators respectively. The operators $cl^- = id \cup \Gamma^-$ and $cl^+ = id \cup \Gamma^+$ are obtained by taking $t \ge 0$ and satisfy all four Kuratowski axioms (K1)-(K4) for closure operators. The derivative operators Γ^- and Γ^+ define the topologies $\mathscr{T}^$ and \mathscr{T}^+ on *X* respectively, which are Alexandrov topologies on *X*. The associated specialization pre-order on *X* defined by \mathscr{T}^+ will be denoted by \leqslant^+ and is defined by $y \leqslant^+ x$ if and only if $y \in cl^+{x}$. The latter is characterized by

$$y \leq x$$
 if and only if $y = \varphi(t, x)$ for some $t \ge 0$.

The pre-order \leq^+ does record the directionality of the flow ϕ but discards the sense of time and invariance. The closed sets in \mathscr{T}^+ are the forward invariant sets for ϕ and are denoted by $\mathsf{Invset}^+(\varphi)$. As a matter of fact, using the notation in Sect. 2.2, we have that $\mathsf{Invset}^+(\varphi) = \mathsf{Fwdset}(\Gamma^+) = \mathsf{Fwdset}(\mathsf{cl}^+)$. The two topologies \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}^+ combined comprise the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}^+)$. The associated specialization pre-order on X defined by \mathscr{T}^- will be denoted by \leq^- and is defined by $y \leq^- x$ if and only if $y \in \mathsf{cl}^-\{x\}$. This pre-order is characterized by $y \leq^- x$ if

and only if $y \in \varphi(-t, x)$ for some $t \ge 0$, i.e. $x = \varphi(t, y)$ for some $t \ge 0$. This shows that \leq^- is the opposite pre-order to \leq^+ and closed sets in \mathscr{T}^+ are open sets in \mathscr{T}^- and vice versa. The Alexandrov topologies \mathscr{T}^- and \mathscr{T}^+ are each other's opposites. The closed sets in \mathscr{T}^- are the backward invariant sets for φ and are denoted by $\mathsf{Invset}^-(\varphi)$. The two topologies \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}^- combined comprise the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}^-)$.

REMARK 3.1. For the topologies \mathscr{T}^- and \mathscr{T}^+ the closure and conjugate closure operators are related: $\bar{c}l^+ = star^+ = cl^-$ and $\bar{c}l^- = star^- = cl^+$.

Since cl^- and cl^+ are closure operators Γ^- and Γ^+ are (canonical) *derivative operators* satisfying the Axioms (D1)-(D3). Observe that

(3.2)
$$\Gamma^{+}(\Gamma^{+}U) = \bigcup_{t>0} \varphi(t, \bigcup_{s>0} \varphi(s, U)) = \bigcup_{t>0} \bigcup_{s>0} \varphi(t, \varphi(s, U))$$
$$= \bigcup_{s+t>0} \varphi(s+t, U) = \Gamma^{+}U,$$

and therefore Γ^+ satisfies the stronger idempotency axiom (K3), i.e. $\Gamma^+(\Gamma^+U) = \Gamma^+U$ and Γ^+ is an idempotent derivative operator. In the same way one proves that Γ^- satisfies the idempotency axiom in (K3).

The derivative operator Γ^+ is associated with a binary relation on $X: y <^+ x$ if and only if $y = \varphi(t, x)$ for some t > 0. Observe that the $<^+$ is a transitive relation and the reflexive closure yields the specialization pre-order \leq^+ . Points $x \in X$ for which $\Gamma^+\{x\} = \{x\}$ correspond to fixed points of ϕ and are examples of reflexive points for $<^+$, i.e. $x <^+ x$. Other reflexive points are given by periodic orbits for ϕ , cf. [1]. The derivative operator Γ^+ does not detect invariant sets in general. Indeed, for $\varphi(t, x) = x + t$ the set $U = (0, \infty)$ satisfies $\Gamma^+ U = U$ but is not invariant. To capture invariance one can use τ -forward image operator Γ^+_{τ} and topology \mathscr{T}^+_{τ} by considering forward images from $t \ge \tau$ and similarly for τ negative. cf. Sect. 6.1. In view of the considerations in Sect. 2.2 one can also consider the topology \mathscr{T}_{τ} defined via the modal operator Φ defined by $\Phi U = \varphi(\tau, U)$ for some $\tau \neq 0$. In particular we have that

$$\mathscr{T}^+ \subset \mathscr{T}^+_\tau \subset \mathscr{T}_\tau, \quad \tau > 0,$$

and the same for $\tau < 0$ and all topologies are Alexandrov. The flow topologies capture directionality but do not require any continuity properties on ϕ . An interesting feature of topological dynamics is to study convergence and decompositions. To do so we will now explore an alternative way to recast dynamics in terms of topology.

REMARK 3.2. If φ is a continuous semi-flow then the continuity of $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ with respect to the topology \mathscr{T}^+ is immediate. Continuity of φ with respect to \mathscr{T} yields interaction of the two topologies as a manifestation of the continuous semi-flow φ on X. This implies the *subcommutativity* for \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}^+ , i.e. $U \subset X \mathscr{T}^+$ -closed implies that cl U is \mathscr{T}^+ -closed. This makes the space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}^+)$ a $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}^+)$ subcommutative bi-topological space.
3.1.2. The block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$. As our aim is an algebraization of dynamics that recovers invariance based on Wazewski's principle, cf. [12], we study the attracting and repelling blocks of φ . Recall that closed *attracting blocks* are defined by

$$(3.3) \qquad \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi) := \{ U \subset X \mid \operatorname{cl} U = U, \, \varphi(t, U) \subset \operatorname{int} U, \, \forall t > 0 \}.$$

Let $U, U' \in \operatorname{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$. If the singular homology satisfies $H(U, U') \neq 0$, then $\operatorname{Inv}(U \setminus U') \neq \emptyset$, cf. Sect. 4.5. In order to incorporate attracting blocks into the theory of (bi)-closure algebras we construct topologies derived from the basic flow topologies. In general, there are a number of options to define such topologies. We highlight one particular choice that serves the purpose of constructing closed attracting blocks, cf. Sect. 6.1.

LEMMA 3.3. The operator $\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-} := \Gamma^{-} cl$ is a modal operator.

PROOF. Axioms (M1)-(M2) in Section 2.2 are satisfied since cl is a closure operator and Γ^- is a derivative operator, which establishes Γ^-_{\bullet} as a normal, additive operator on Set(*X*).

The operator Γ_{\bullet}^{-} does not define a derivative operator since (D3) is not satisfied in general. Using the theory in Section 2.2 Γ_{\bullet}^{-} can be used to define a topology on *X*.

DEFINITION 3.4. A subset $U \subset X$ is closed with respect to Γ_{\bullet}^{-} if and only if $\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}U \subset U$. Such set are denoted by $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-})$.

By Proposition 2.1 Fwdset(Γ_{\bullet}^{-}) defines a topology on X which is denoted by $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ and is called the *block-flow topology* on X. Observe that the condition that $U \subset X$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -closed is equivalent to the condition $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} U) \subset U$ for all t > 0. The associated closure operator is given by

(3.4)
$$\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}U := \bigcap \{ U' \supset U \mid U' \in \mathsf{Fwdset}(\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}) \}.$$

By definition the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ is not necessarily an Alexandrov topology. A subset $U \subset X$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -closed if $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}U = U$.

PROPOSITION 3.5. The block-flow topology \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- is a coarsening of the Alexandrov topology \mathscr{T}^- which is generated by cl^- , *i.e.* $cl^- \subset cl^-$.

PROOF. By definition $\Gamma^- U \subset \Gamma_{\bullet}^- U \subset U$ which implies $\Gamma^- U \subset U$. Therefore, $cl^- \subset cl_{\bullet}^-$.

PROPOSITION 3.6. The maps $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ are continuous in the block-flow topology \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- for all $t \ge 0$.

PROOF. For the backward image it holds that $\varphi(-t, \Gamma^- U) = \Gamma^- \varphi(-t, U), t \ge 0$, and thus $\varphi(-t, \Gamma^- \operatorname{cl} U) = \Gamma^- \varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} U) \supset \Gamma^- \operatorname{cl} \varphi(-t, U)$. Suppose *U* is \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- -closed, i.e. $\Gamma_{\bullet}^- U \subset U$. Then,

$$\Gamma^{-}_{\bullet}\varphi(-t,U) \subset \varphi(-t,\Gamma^{-}_{\bullet}U) \subset \varphi(-t,U),$$

which proves that $\varphi(-t, U)$ is \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- -closed. The latter proves that for every $t \ge 0$ the map $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ is continuous in the \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- -flow topology.

Observe, by Proposition 3.6, that $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ is continuous in both topologies \mathscr{T} and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$. The block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ defines a new, derived subcommutative bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. Open and closed sets in the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ can be characterized via the semi-flow φ .

LEMMA 3.7. A subset $U \subset X$ is closed in the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ if and only if

(3.5)
$$\varphi(-t,\operatorname{cl} U) \subset U, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

Similarly, a subset $U \subset X$ is open in the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ if and only if

(3.6)
$$\varphi(t,U) \subset \operatorname{int} U, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

PROOF. By definition a subset $U \subset X$ is \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^- -closed if and only if $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}^- U = U$ which implies $\Gamma_{\bullet}^- U \subset U$ and thus $\Gamma^- \operatorname{cl} U \subset U$. The latter implies that $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} U) \subset U$ for all t > 0. Conversely, if (3.5) holds then $\Gamma^- \operatorname{cl} U \subset U$ and thus $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}^- U = U$.

By definition a subset $U \subset X$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open if and only if U^{c} is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -closed, i.e. $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} U^{c}) \subset U^{c}$ for all t > 0. The latter is equivalent to $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} U^{c})^{c} \supset U$ for all t > 0, which results in the equivalent statement that $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{int} U) \supset U$ for all t > 0. If we compose the latter with $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ we obtain

$$\varphi(t,U) \subset \varphi(t,\varphi(-t,\operatorname{int} U)) \subset \operatorname{int} U, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

On the hand, composition of (3.6) with the inverse image $\varphi(-t, \cdot)$ gives

$$U \subset \varphi(-t, \varphi(t, U)) \subset \varphi(-t, \operatorname{int} U), \quad \forall t > 0,$$

which prove that *U* is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open.

The $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ -pairwise clopen sets in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ are defined as sets $U \subset X$ that are closed in \mathscr{T} and open in $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$.

THEOREM 3.8. A subset $U \subset X$ is a closed attracting block, cf. (3.3), if and only if U is a $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ -pairwise clopen set in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

PROOF. This follows from Lemma 3.7 and the definition of closed attracting blocks, cf. Eqn. (3.3). $\hfill \Box$

The set of closed attracting blocks $ABlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$ is a sublattice of Set(X), cf. [42, 43], [40]. This lattice is not complete in general. The $(\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}, \mathscr{T})$ -pairwise clopen sets correspond to open repelling blocks. Indeed, $|\mathcal{U}|$ is open and (3.6) we have that $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl} |\mathcal{U}|) \subset |\mathcal{U}|$ for all t > 0. We denote the open *repelling blocks* by $RBlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$.

REMARK 3.9. The continuity of φ in the \mathscr{T} -topology can be relaxed to an \mathbb{R}^+ parameter family $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ of continuous maps in the \mathscr{T} -topology for all $t \ge 0$. This
implies in particular that we can apply discretization and topologization to other
families of maps such as $t \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ which is equivalent to iterating a map, i.e. discrete
time dynamics. Continuity of $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ implies a more equal role for both topologies.

The continuity of φ on $\mathbb{R}^+ \times X$ comes in in two instances, (i) equivalent discretization via condensed Morse pre-orders , cf. Sect. 3.3, and (ii) algebraization in order to invoke Wazewski's principle for finding invariant sets, cf. Sect. 6.1 and [12].

REMARK 3.10. If we consider variations of the operator Γ_{\bullet}^- such as $\Gamma_{\bullet}^+ = \Gamma^+ \text{cl}$ then the $(\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-, \mathscr{T})$ -clopen sets are open attracting blocks and the $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^-)$ -clopen sets are the closed repelling blocks. Other variations entail cl Γ^+ and cl Γ^- , cf. Rem. 3.2 and Sect. 6.1. Our definition of block-flow topology is suitable for the theory in this text.

3.2. Discretization of the block-flow topology

In Section 2.3 we discussed discretization of topology in terms of closure algebras and derivative algebras. The standard CW-decompositions of spaces are examples of such discretizations. In this section we apply the closure algebra discretization to the block-flow topology which provides the appropriate discretization of dynamics. As we have encoded φ as a topological space $(X, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$, we can apply the tools from Section 2.3, e.g., CA-discretizations, MA-discretizations, discretization maps and topology consistent pre-orders.

Let \mathfrak{X} be a finite sets and let $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) be a closure operator such that $\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \in$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) . This induces a pre-order \leq_{\bullet}^{-} by (2.8) and yields the continuity of disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$ defined in Eqn. (2.12). Conversely, if \leq_{\bullet}^{-} is any $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -consistent pre-order with respect to disc then the associated closure operator $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}$ defines a CA-discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

LEMMA 3.11. A pre-order \leq_{\bullet}^{-} on \mathfrak{X} with associated closure operator $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}$: $\mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -consistent with respect to disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ if and only if

(3.7)
$$\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0, \quad and \quad \forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}.$$

PROOF. The discretization disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ is continuous if and only if \mathcal{U} closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$ implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -closed. Assume (3.7) is satisfied. Let $cl_{\bullet}^{-}\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\mathcal{U}|) &= \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}} \varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\xi|) \subset \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}} |\mathbf{cl}^-_{\bullet}\xi| \\ &= \left| \mathbf{cl}^-_{\bullet} \left(\bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}} \{\xi\} \right) \right| = |\mathbf{cl}^-_{\bullet}\mathcal{U}| = |\mathcal{U}|, \quad \forall t > 0, \end{aligned}$$

which proves that $\Gamma^-_{\bullet}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\mathcal{U}|$ and thus $|\mathcal{U}|$ is \mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} -closed. Conversely, if disc is continuous, then \mathcal{U} closed in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^-) implies $|\mathcal{U}|$ is \mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} -closed and therefore $\varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\mathcal{U}|) \subset |\mathcal{U}|$. Choose $\mathcal{U} = \mathrm{cl}^-_{\bullet} \xi$. This implies that

$$\varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\xi|) \subset \varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}\xi|) \subset |\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}.$$

which establishes (3.7).

In the discrete setting we can define the discrete analogues of the block-flow topology $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ via discretizations of \mathscr{T} and \mathscr{T}^{-} . Let $\Gamma^{-} : \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ be a

discrete derivative for \mathscr{T}^- and define the additive operator $\Gamma^-_{\bullet} := \Gamma^- \mathbf{cl} \colon \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}).$

LEMMA 3.12. The triple $(\text{Set}(\mathfrak{X}, \Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}, | \cdot))$ defines a MA-discretization of $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. The associated discrete closure operator is given by $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} (\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-})^{k}$ and the triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}, | \cdot |)$ is a CA-discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

PROOF. In order to establish (Set($\mathfrak{X}, \Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot\rangle$) as a MA-discretization we use the fact that cl defines a CA-discretization ($\mathfrak{X}, cl, |\cdot|$) for (X, \mathscr{T}) and Γ^{-} defines a MA-discretization ($\mathfrak{X}, \Gamma^{-}, |\cdot|$) for (X, \mathscr{T}^{-}) . This implies, for $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$, that

(3.8)
$$\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}|\mathcal{U}| = \Gamma^{-}\mathrm{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset \Gamma^{-}|\mathrm{cl}\mathcal{U}| \subset |\Gamma^{-}\mathrm{cl}\mathcal{U}| = |\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}\mathcal{U}|,$$

which by Proposition 2.11 shows that $(\text{Set}(\mathfrak{X}, \Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}, | \cdot) \text{ is a MA-discretization of } (X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ and provides the expression for cl_{\bullet}^{-} . It remains to show that disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is continuous. Let $\mathcal{U} = \{\xi\}$, then (3.8) yields $\varphi(-t, cl|\xi|) \subset \Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}|\xi| \subset |\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-}\xi| \subset |cl_{\bullet}^{-}\xi|$ for all t > 0 which, by Lemma 3.11, proves that disc continuous.

The following lemma formulates a criterion for discretizing the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ without using a discretization for \mathscr{T}^{-} .

LEMMA 3.13. Let Φ : Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) be a modal operator such that

(3.9) $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\Phi\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0, \quad and \quad \forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}.$

Then, the operator $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-} = \Phi^{+=} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k$: $\mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ is a closure operator and yields a CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot|)$ of the block-flow topology $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

PROOF. The fact that $\Phi^{+=}$ is closure operator follows from Lemma 3.12. By assumption $\bigcup_{t>0} \varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) = \Gamma^-_{\bullet}|\xi| \subset |\Phi\xi|$. As in the proof of Lemma 3.12 this implies that $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset \Gamma^-_{\bullet}|\xi| \subset |\Phi\xi| \subset |\Phi^{+=}\xi| \subset |\operatorname{cl}^-_{\bullet}\xi|$ for all t > 0 which proves that disc is continuous, completing the proof.

The following result gives a local version of the above criterion and provides a practical method for constructing CA-discretizations for the block-flow topology. Fig. 3.1 displays an example of a discretization of both (X, \mathscr{T}) and $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

THEOREM 3.14. Let (X, \mathscr{T}) be compact and let $\Phi \colon \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ be a modal operator. Assume that for every $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ there exists $t_{\xi} > 0$ such that

(3.10) $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\Phi\xi|, \quad \forall 0 < t \leq t_{\xi}, \quad and \quad \forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}.$

Then, $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot|)$, with $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-} = \Phi^{+\bullet}$, is a CA-discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

PROOF. The proof of based on the following observation. By the compactness of *X* we may assume, without loss of generality, that $t_{\xi} \ge t_* > 0$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. Then, $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\Phi\xi|$ for all $0 < t \le t_*$ and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. Observe that

$$\varphi(-2t, \mathrm{cl}|\xi|) = \varphi(-t, \varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\xi|)) \subset \varphi(-t, |\Phi\xi|)$$
$$\subset \varphi(-t, \mathrm{cl}|\Phi\xi|) \subset |\Phi^2\xi|,$$



FIGURE 3.1. The topological space (X, \mathscr{T}) and semi-flow ϕ [left 1]. A discretization of X with \mathscr{T} -consistent pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ [middle 2, 3]. The relation Φ^{-1} [middle 4] which generates the $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -consistent pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant_{\bullet}^{-})$ [right 5]. The discretization map disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is continuous with respect to both topologies. Common coarsening of $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ and $(\mathfrak{X}, \geqslant_{\bullet}^{-})$ [right 6] resulting in a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})$ [right 7]. All pre-orders are represented by their Hasse diagrams.

which yields $\varphi(-kt, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\Phi^k \xi| \subset |\Phi^{+=} \mathcal{U}|$, for all $k \ge 0$ and for all $0 < t \le t_*$. As in the proof of Lemma 3.13, $\varphi(-t, \operatorname{cl}|\xi|) \subset |\Phi^{+=}\xi| \subset |\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}\xi|$ for all t > 0 which proves by Lemma 3.11 that disc is continuous, and thus $(\mathfrak{X}, \Phi^{+=}, |\cdot|)$ is a CA-discretization for $(X, \mathcal{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

REMARK 3.15. The operator Φ defines a relation on \mathfrak{X} : $(\eta, \xi) \in \phi$ if and only if $\eta \in \Phi \xi$, cf. App. A.3. The transitive, reflexive closure of ϕ is the pre-order \leq_{\bullet}^{-} associated to cl_{\bullet}⁻ := $\Phi^{+=}$.

REMARK 3.16. For discretizing the flow topologies \mathscr{T}^- and \mathscr{T}^+ we can use the criteria in Lemmas 3.11 and 3.9 by discarding the topology \mathscr{T} , i.e. take cl to be the identity map. For example a discrete closure operator $\mathbf{cl}^+ : \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ yields a CA-discretization for \mathscr{T}^+ if and only if $\varphi(t, |\xi|) \subset |\mathbf{cl}^+\xi|$ for all $t \ge 0$ and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$, i.e. \mathscr{T}^+ -consistency for the associated pre-order \leq^+ .

REMARK 3.17. The definition of the block-flow topology in Section 3.1.2 uses the modal operator Γ_{\bullet}^- . This construction works for any modal operator Φ on Set(X) as is explained in Section 2.2.

3.3. Morse pre-orders

In this section we explain the implications of discretization with respect to two topologies in the sense of $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ - pairwise clopen sets. We consider the bi-topological space $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ and we use the theory in Section 2.5 to discuss discretization in this setting. Let disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be a discretization map and let $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ be an anatagonistic pre-order for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$, which motivates the following definition:



FIGURE 3.2. Intersection of both the lattice of down-sets $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ and up-sets $U(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$ for Fig. 3.1 yields the coarsening (SC, \leq) [right] of the Morse pre-order ($\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}$).

DEFINITION 3.18. Let disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be a discretization map. A *Morse pre-order* on \mathfrak{X} is an anatagonistic pre-order \leq^{\dagger} for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$, i.e.

- (i) \leq^{\dagger} is \mathscr{T} -consistent with respect to disc;
- (ii) \leq^{\dagger} is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -co-consistent with respect to disc.

The associated closure operator is denoted by $cl^{\dagger} : Set(\mathfrak{X}) \to Set(\mathfrak{X})$.

By Theorem 2.22 $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is an antagonistic coarsening of discretizations for both \mathscr{T} and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$, cf. Sect. 2.5. The conditions for an antagonistic pre-order imply that for $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ we have that (i) $\operatorname{cl}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{cl}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}|$ and (ii) $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{star}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}|$. In particular, if $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, then $\operatorname{cl}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and thus $|\mathcal{U}|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed. Moreover, if $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, then $|\mathcal{U}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open, cf. Sect. 2.4.1, which implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ satisfies $\varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\mathcal{U}|$ for t > 0, cf. Lem. 3.7. These facts combined show that $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is a $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ -pairwise clopen set and therefore a closed attracting block, i.e. $|\mathcal{U}| \in \operatorname{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$. We have the following commutative diagram:



THEOREM 3.19. Let disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be a discretization map. A pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is a Morse pre-order on \mathfrak{X} for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ if and only if $|\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and

(3.12) $\varphi(t,|\xi|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0,$

for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$.

PROOF. If $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is a Morse pre-order then for every $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, $|\mathcal{U}|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and $\varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\mathcal{U}|$ for t > 0. Take $\mathcal{U} = \mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi$. Then, $|\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and $\varphi(t, |\xi|) \subset \varphi(t, |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$ for all t > 0.

Conversely, suppose $|\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and (3.12) is satisfied. To prove that $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is a Morse pre-order we show that it is \mathscr{T} -consistent and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -co-consistent with respect to disc. Let $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. Then, $\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and

$$|\mathcal{U}| = |\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}| = |\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\dagger}\bigcup\{\xi\}| = |\bigcup\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\dagger}\xi| = \bigcup|\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\dagger}\xi|,$$

is \mathscr{T} -closed. Therefore, \mathscr{U} closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ implies that $\operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathscr{U} = |\mathscr{U}|$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and thus \leq^{\dagger} is \mathscr{T} -consistent with respect to disc. Moreover,

$$\varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) = \varphi(t, \bigcup |\xi|) = \bigcup \varphi(t, |\xi|) \subset \bigcup \operatorname{int} |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$$
$$\subset \operatorname{int} \bigcup |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi| = \operatorname{int} |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}| = \operatorname{int} |\mathcal{U}|, \quad \forall t > 0,$$

which implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open. Therefore, \mathcal{U} closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ implies that $\operatorname{disc}^{-1}\mathcal{U} = |\mathcal{U}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open by (3.6). Recall that $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -co-consistency can be characterized as follows: $\mathcal{U}^{c} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger})$, then $|\mathcal{U}|^{c} = |\mathcal{U}^{c}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -closed, which is equivalent to $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$, then $|\mathcal{U}|$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open, cf. Sect. 2.4.1. Using the latter proves that \leq^{\dagger} is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -co-consistent with respect to disc.

REMARK 3.20. The \mathscr{T} -consistency of $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ with respect to disc implies that $\mathrm{cl}|\xi| \subset |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$ for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. In particular, this implies that $\varphi(t, \mathrm{cl}|\xi|) \subset \varphi(t, |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|) \subset$ int $|\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi| = \mathrm{int} |\mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}\xi|$, for all t > 0 and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$.

If Φ : Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) is a modal operator such that

(3.13)
$$\varphi(t, |\xi|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\Phi\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}$$

then Theorem 3.12 implies that the operator $cl_{\Phi} = \Phi^{+=} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \Phi^k$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) is an antagonistic closure operator for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$, cf. Lem. 3.13. If (X, \mathscr{T}) is compact then (3.13) can be weakened to $0 < t \le t_{\xi}$, cf. Thm. 3.14

3.3.1. Morse tessellations. For a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ the down-sets yield a sublattice $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ of closed attracting blocks. Following the theory in Section 2.5 a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ yields a finite discretization map dyn: $\mathfrak{X} \rightarrow SC$ which is defined by combining the formulas in (2.16) and (2.18). The latter is dual to the embedding $O(SC) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \rightarrow Set(\mathfrak{X})$. The composition

$$X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{dyn}} \mathsf{SC},$$

defines a continuous T_0 -discretization of X which is denoted by tile: $X \to SC$, cf. (2.20) and which defines an SC-grading on X, cf. App. C.1. Compare the latter with the composition $X \xrightarrow{\text{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{dim}} \mathbb{N}$ which defines an \mathbb{N} -grading on X. The diagrams in (1.1) and (2.19) show how dyn is order-preserving and order-reversing with respect to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet})$ respectively, cf. Sect. 2.5. Diagram (1.1) also shows the continuous T_0 -discretization maps

tile:
$$(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (\mathsf{SC}, \leqslant)$$
 and tile: $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \to (\mathsf{SC}^*, \geqslant)$,

by factoring through $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ and through $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant_{\bullet}^{-})$ respectively. A Morse pre-order can therefore be thought of as grading of X which, as T_0 -discretization, is a continuous map tile in the above sense. A down-set \mathcal{U} in (SC, \leqslant) is a down-set in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ and an up-set in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant_{\bullet}^{-})$ and therefore closed in (X, \mathscr{T}) and and open in $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ respectively. By Lemma 3.7 this implies that down-sets \mathcal{U} in (SC, \leqslant) realize to closed attracting neighborhoods tile⁻¹ $\mathcal{U} \in ABlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$. On the level of classes $\mathcal{S} \in SC$ the inverse image of tile yields an SC-graded tessellation (T, \leqslant) with

$$\mathsf{T} := \{ T = \operatorname{tile}^{-1} \mathcal{S} \mid \mathcal{S} \in \mathsf{SC} \},\$$

such that $\downarrow T$ is \mathscr{T} -closed and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open, i.e. $\varphi(t, x) \in \operatorname{int} \downarrow T$ for every $x \in T$ and for all tiles T. The latter follows since $\downarrow T = \downarrow \operatorname{tile}^{-1} \mathcal{S} = \operatorname{tile}^{-1} \downarrow \mathcal{S}$ and $\downarrow \mathcal{S}$ is a down-set in SC, cf. [44, Defn. 8]. This motivates the definition:

DEFINITION 3.21 (cf. [44], Cor. 4). An ordered tessellation (T, \leq) of X, cf. Defn. C.1, is called a *Morse tessellation* for ϕ if for every $T \in T$

(i) $\downarrow T$ is \mathscr{T} -closed;

(ii) $\downarrow T$ is $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -open, i.e. $\varphi(t, x) \in \operatorname{int} \downarrow T$, for all $x \in T$ and for all t > 0.

The sets $T \in \mathsf{T}$ are called *Morse tiles*.¹

Conversely, Morse tessellations yield Morse pre-orders and associated space discretizations. Indeed, for a Morse tessellation (T, \leq) we declare the tiles to be the cells in \mathfrak{X} and the partial order is the Morse pre-order on \mathfrak{X} . By definition this defines a discretization for both (X, \mathscr{T}) and $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. In the next subsection we discuss a more refined reconstruction based on regular closed sets.

REMARK 3.22. One can obviously build larger sets \mathfrak{X} by for example considering \mathscr{T} or $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ closure of the tiles T. One can also define fine structure within the tiles. In the next section we explain a specific reconstruction in the case of regular closed tiles.

Morse tessellations are a defining structure for Morse representations, cf. [44]. The considerations in this subsection explain that Morse tessellations are equivalent to Morse pre-orders which will be the central structure for discussing connection matrix theory in Sect. 4.

3.3.2. Regular closed attracting blocks. This section discusses a special property of closed attracting blocks, cf. (3.3).

THEOREM 3.23. Let $U \in ABlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$ be a closed attracting block, then U is a regular closed attracting block, i.e. $ABlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi) = ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$, where the latter denotes the lattice of regular closed attracting blocks. Moreover,

$$U \wedge U' = U \cap U',$$

¹Equivalently, for every $I \in O(T, \leq)$, $|I| := \bigcup_{T \in I} T \in ABlock(\varphi)$, i.e. T = T(N) where N is given by $N = \{|I| \mid I \in O(T, \leq)\} \subset ABlock(\varphi)$.

for all $U, U' \in \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$.

PROOF. Let $U \subset X$ be a closed attracting block. By definition $\operatorname{clint} U \subset U$. Suppose $U \smallsetminus \operatorname{clint} U \neq \emptyset$. Let $x \in U \smallsetminus \operatorname{clint} U$. Choose $t_n > 0$ with $t_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since U is an attracting block we have that $y_n := \varphi(t_n, x) \in \operatorname{int} U$ for all $t_n > 0$. By the continuity $y_n \to x$ as $n \to \infty$ which implies that $x \in \operatorname{clint} U$, a contradiction. Therefore $U = \operatorname{clint} U$, which proves that U is a regular closed attracting block, cf. [43, 44].

If $U, U' \in \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$, then $U \cap U' \in \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$ and thus $U \cap U'$ is a closed attracting block and therefore a regular closed attracting block. This implies that $U \cap U' = \operatorname{clint}(U \cap U') = U \wedge U'$.

By Theorem 2.22 we may assume that a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is induced by a bi-topological CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot|)$ for $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. Assume without loss of generality that $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) = \mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X})$ and $\mathbf{cl} = \mathbf{cl}^{\dagger}$ and $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-} = \mathbf{star}^{\dagger}$. Moreover, assume that $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean CA-discretization. Let $\mathcal{U} \in \mathscr{CO}(\mathfrak{X})$, then, since $|\mathcal{U}| \in \operatorname{ABlock}_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$, the set \mathcal{U} is regular closed and $|\mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{U}'| = |\mathcal{U}| \cap |\mathcal{U}'| = |\mathcal{U}| \wedge |\mathcal{U}'| =$ $|\mathcal{U} \wedge \mathcal{U}'|$, which yields the following regular closed analogue of (3.11):

(3.15)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{R}(X) \xleftarrow{\neg} \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi) \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}) \xleftarrow{\neg} \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger}) \end{array}$$

The down-sets for a Morse pre-order yield a sublattice of $ABlock_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$. Conversely, for a finite sublattice N \subset ABlock $_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi)$ we can construct a Boolean CA-discretization, cf. Sect. 3.4.2 and Rem. 3.31. Morse pre-orders provide an important reduction of discretization data as is explained in the next section.

3.4. Condensed Morse pre-orders

In this section we assume that $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean CA-discretization of (X, \mathscr{T}) . The fact that closed attracting blocks are regular closed sets, cf. Thm. 3.23, is a crucial property for reducing the data structures in the theory of Morse pre-orders. Such a discretization will be referred to as a *condensed Morse pre-order*.

3.4.1. Pre-orders on top cells. The bottom embedding $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \rightarrow \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ in (3.15) is inclusion since $\mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{U}' = \mathcal{U} \wedge \mathcal{U}'$, which follows from the fact that the evaluation map $|\cdot| : \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}) \rightarrow \mathscr{R}(X)$ is a homomorphism and $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean. Since $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}) \cong \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top})$, cf. Prop. 2.26, we can dualize the homomorphism

$$\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC},\leqslant) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X},\leqslant^{\dagger}) \rightarrowtail \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}),$$

which yields the surjection $\pi: \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \twoheadrightarrow (SC, \leq)$, where \mathfrak{X}^{\top} is unordered and where $SC \cong J(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}))$.

DEFINITION 3.24. The induced pre-order \leq^{\top} on \mathfrak{X}^{\top} , defined by

$$\xi \leq^{\top} \xi'$$
 if and only if $\pi(\xi) \leq \pi(\xi')$,

is called a called a *condensed Morse pre-order* for \leq^{\dagger} .²

By construction we have that $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \cong O(SC, \leq)$. The associated closure operator on $Set(\mathfrak{X}^{\top})$ is denoted by cl^{\top} . By Proposition 2.26, $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ implies $cl \mathcal{U}^{\top} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and thus, since $(\mathfrak{X}, cl, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean, $cl |\mathcal{U}^{\top}| = |cl \mathcal{U}^{\top}| \in ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$. Consequently $\varphi(t, |cl \mathcal{U}^{\top}|) \subset int |cl \mathcal{U}^{\top}|$ for all t > 0. Let $\mathcal{U}^{\top} = cl^{\top}\xi$, with $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Then, $\varphi(t, ||\xi||) \subset \varphi(t, |cl cl^{\top}\xi|) \subset int |cl cl^{\top}\xi| = int ||cl^{\top}\xi||$ for all t > 0. The latter is a condition on only the top cells. We show below that any pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ satisfying the latter is a condensed Morse pre-order induced by a Morse pre-order.

THEOREM 3.25. A pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ is a condensed Morse pre-order for \leq^{\dagger} if and only if

(3.16)
$$\varphi(t, \|\xi\|) \subset \operatorname{int} \|\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\mathsf{T}}\xi\|, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

Condition (3.16) is a characterization of condensed Morse pre-orders and can be used as alternative definition of condensed Morse pre-order .

REMARK 3.26. If (X, \mathscr{T}) is a compact topological space then the criterion in (3.16) is equivalent to the condition: for every $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ there exists a $t_{\xi} > 0$, such that $\varphi(t, \|\xi\|) \subset \operatorname{int} \|\mathbf{cl}^{\top}\xi\|$ for all $0 < t \leq t_{\xi}$.

REMARK 3.27. For a binary relation $\phi \subset \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ the transitive, reflexive closure $\phi^{+=}$ defines a pre-order on \mathfrak{X}^{\top} . If (3.16) is satisfied with $\mathrm{cl}^{\top}_{\phi} = (\phi^{+=})^{-1}$, then ϕ will also be referred to as a condensed Morse pre-order for \leq^{\dagger} . The definition of condensed Morse pre-order is reminiscent of the notion of weak outer approximation in relation to the commutative diagram in (3.15), cf. [40], [43, Defn. 3.7], [44].

The Boolean algebra $\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top})$ is a sublattice in $\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$. The embedding does not preserve the top element and the inclusion is not therefore Boolean. The closure operator cl: $\operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$, given by $\mathcal{U} \mapsto \operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} \in \operatorname{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$, is additive but not a lattice homomorphism in general. Since $i: \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \hookrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$, with \mathfrak{X}^{\top} unordered, is an order-embedding³ Birkhoff duality yields the surjective lattice homomorphism $j: \operatorname{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top})$ given by $\mathcal{U} \mapsto \mathcal{U}^{\top} := \mathcal{U} \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Schematically we pose the

²Since $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \cong O(SC, \leq) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ it follows that a pre-order \leq^{\top} is the restriction of \leq^{\dagger} to the top cells \mathfrak{X}^{\top} , cf. Proof of Thm. 3.25.

³The top cells \mathfrak{X}^{\top} form an anti-chain in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) , cf. Sect. 2.6.1.

following lifting diagram:

(3.17)
$$O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$$
$$O(\mathfrak{X}^{\mathsf{T}}, \leqslant^{\mathsf{T}}) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id}} \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\mathsf{T}})$$

Theorem 3.28 below shows that the identity map can be lifted as closure.

THEOREM 3.28. Suppose $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ is a pre-order that satisfies (3.16). Then, the restriction **cl**: $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \rightarrow O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ is an injective lattice homomorphism with $j \circ \mathbf{cl} =$ id.

PROOF. By definition $\mathcal{U}^{\top} = \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\top}} \{\xi\}$ and since $\|\cdot\|$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}(X)$ is an injective Boolean homomorphism, cf. Prop. 2.27, we have that $\|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| = \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\top}} \|\xi\|$. In combination with (3.16), the additivity of \mathbf{cl}^{\top} and the fact that $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ we conclude

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t, \|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}\|) &= \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}} \varphi(t, \|\xi\|) \subset \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}} \left(\operatorname{int} \|\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\mathsf{T}}\xi\| \right) \subset \operatorname{int} \left(\bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}} \|\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\mathsf{T}}\xi\| \right) \\ &= \operatorname{int} \left\| \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}} \mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\mathsf{T}}\xi \right\| = \operatorname{int} \|\mathbf{c}\mathbf{l}^{\mathsf{T}}\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}\| \subset \operatorname{int} \|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}\|, \quad \forall t > 0, \end{split}$$

which proves that $\|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\|$ is an attracting block for ϕ . Since $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ and $ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$ are sublattices of $Set(\mathfrak{X}^{\top})$ and $\mathscr{R}(X)$ respectively, and since $\|\cdot\| : Set(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \to \mathscr{R}(X)$ is an injective Boolean homomorphism the evaluation map $\|\cdot\| : O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \to ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$ is a injective lattice homomorphism. In particular we conclude that $|\mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top}| \in ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$ and $\mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$.

To show that the restriction of **cl** is a homomorphism it remains to check that the unit and intersection are preserved. By definition **cl** $\mathfrak{X}^{\top} = \mathfrak{X}$ which proves that the unit is preserved. By Proposition 2.26 we have that **cl** $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X})$ and by Theorem 3.23, $|\mathbf{cl} \mathcal{U}^{\top}| \cap |\mathbf{cl} \mathcal{U}^{\top}| = |\mathbf{cl} \mathcal{U}^{\top}| \wedge |\mathbf{cl} \mathcal{U}^{\top}|$. This implies,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{cl}(\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U}'^{\top})| &= \mathrm{cl}|\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U}'^{\top}| = \|\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U}'^{\top}\| = \|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| \wedge \|\mathcal{U}'^{\top}\| = \|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| \cap \|\mathcal{U}'^{\top}\| \\ &= |\mathbf{cl}|\mathcal{U}^{\top}| \cap |\mathbf{cl}|\mathcal{U}'^{\top}| = |\mathbf{cl}|\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathbf{cl}|\mathcal{U}'^{\top}|, \end{aligned}$$

where we use Proposition 2.27 to conclude that $\|\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U}'^{\top}\| = \|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| \wedge \|\mathcal{U}'^{\top}\|$. The fact that $|\cdot|$ is injective yields $\mathbf{cl}(\mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U}'^{\top}) = \mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top} \cap \mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}'^{\top}$, which completes the proof.

PROOF OF THM. 3.25. The direction that a condensed Morse pre-order satisfies (3.16) is given above. It remains to show that (3.16) yields a Morse pre-order. Suppose (3.16) is satisfied. Then, by Theorem 3.28, cl: $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \rightarrow O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ provided an embedding sublattice. From (2.15)-(2.17) we obtain a pre-order ($\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}$) such that the range of the above closure is the lattice $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$:



The pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is the desired Morse pre-order that induces $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$. If we choose $\leq_{\bullet}^{-} = \geq^{\dagger}$ we obtain \leq^{\dagger} as antagonistic pre-order for $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}, |\cdot|)$, cf. Thm. 2.22.

The novelty of the above construction is that the (injective) composition

$$\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC},\leqslant) \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}^{\!\!\!\top},\leqslant^{\!\!\!\!\top}) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{cl}} \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X},\leqslant) \xrightarrow{\ \ \subset} \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$$

dualizes to the finite discretization

$$(3.18) dyn: (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant) \longrightarrow (\mathsf{SC}, \leqslant),$$

which is defined in Section 3.3.1 and is given by the formulas in (2.16) and (2.18). The finite discretization dyn recovers the Morse pre-order \leq^{\dagger} via $\xi \leq^{\dagger} \xi'$ if and only if dyn $\xi \leq dyn \xi'$, and \leq^{\top} is the restriction of \leq^{\dagger} to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} . The advantage of using regular closed sets is that the Morse pre-order is completely determined by the restriction ($\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}$) which is a much smaller data structure in general and bypasses the topologies given by \leq and \leq^{-}_{\bullet} . The following result gives a formula for determining dyn in terms of \leq^{\top} :

THEOREM 3.29. Suppose $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ is a pre-order that satisfies (3.16). The finite discretization dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \longrightarrow (\mathsf{SC}, \leq)$ is given by

(3.19)
$$\xi \mapsto \operatorname{dyn}(\xi) = \min_{\mathsf{SC}} \left\{ \left[\eta^\top \right] \mid \eta^\top \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^\top \right\}$$

where $[\eta^{\top}] \in SC$ is the partial equivalence class in $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ containing η^{\top} .

PROOF. Consider the commutative diagram

(3.20)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{dyn}} \mathsf{SC} \\ \iota_{\mathfrak{X}} \downarrow & \qquad \qquad \downarrow \iota_{\mathsf{SC}} \\ \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X},\leqslant)) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{J}(\mathbf{cl})} \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC})) \end{array}$$

the maps $\iota_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and ι_{SC} are given by $\xi \stackrel{\iota_{\mathfrak{X}}}{\longmapsto} \downarrow \xi$ and $[\xi^{\top}] \stackrel{\iota_{\mathsf{SC}}}{\longrightarrow} \downarrow [\xi^{\top}]$, and cl: $O(\mathsf{SC}) \rightarrow O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$. By the commutativity we have that $\operatorname{dyn} = \iota_{\mathsf{SC}}^{-1} \circ \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{cl}) \circ \iota_{\mathfrak{X}}$, and $\mathsf{J}(\mathsf{cl})(\mathcal{U}) = \min \mathsf{cl}^{-1}(\uparrow \mathcal{U}) \in \mathsf{J}(O(\mathsf{SC}))$, $\mathcal{U} \in \mathsf{J}(O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant))$, cf. Thm. B.2. Recall that $\mathsf{cl}^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) = \{\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC}) \mid \mathsf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top} = \mathcal{U}\}$. Note that in $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ the up-set $\uparrow \iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi)$ is the set of closed subsets in \mathfrak{X} that contain $\iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi) = \bigcup \xi$. By definition $\mathsf{cl}^{-1}(\uparrow \iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi))$ are all $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC})$ such that cl $\mathcal{U}^{\top} = \mathcal{U}$ for some $\mathcal{U} \in \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ with $\bigcup \xi \subset \mathcal{U}$. The latter is equivalent to $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$. Since cl $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC})$ this implies that $\mathsf{cl}^{-1}(\uparrow \iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi)) = \{\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC}) \mid \xi \in \mathsf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top}\}$. Since join-irreducible elements generate all elements in a finite

distributive lattice we have that $\mathbf{cl}^{-1}(\uparrow \iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi)) = \{\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC})) \mid \xi \in \mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U}^{\top}\}$ and thus

$$\mathsf{J}(\mathbf{cl})(\iota_{\mathfrak{X}}(\xi)) = \min_{\mathsf{T}} \{ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}} \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{SC})) \mid \xi \in \mathbf{cl} \; \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}} \},\$$

which is attained by a unique $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}^{\top} \in J(O(SC))$. Recall that $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in J(O(SC))$ if and only if $\mathcal{U}^{\top} = \bigcup S$, $S = [\xi^{\top}]$ for some $\xi^{\top} \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Therefore, $\xi \in \operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U}^{\top}$ if and only if $\xi \in \operatorname{cl} \eta^{\top}$ for some $\eta^{\top} \in \bigcup [\xi^{\top}]$. By duality $\xi \in \operatorname{cl} \eta^{\top}$ if and only if $\eta^{\top} \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Consider the set

$$\{ [\eta^{\top}] \in \mathsf{SC} \mid \eta^{\top} \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \}.$$

Let $[\eta^{\top}]$ and $[\tilde{\eta}^{\top}]$ be minimal. Then, $\downarrow [\eta^{\top}] \subset \widehat{\mathcal{U}}^{\top}$ and $\downarrow [\tilde{\eta}^{\top}] \subset \widehat{\mathcal{U}}^{\top}$, which implies that $[\eta^{\top}] = [\tilde{\eta}^{\top}]$, and $\downarrow [\eta^{\top}] = \widehat{\mathcal{U}}^{\top}$.

REMARK 3.30. For condensed Morse pre-orders the commutative diagram in (3.15) is replaced by

(3.21)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{R}(X) \xleftarrow{\neg} \mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi) \\ & \mathbb{R}(X) & & \bigoplus_{\|\cdot\|} & & \bigoplus_{\|\cdot\|} \\ & \mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \xleftarrow{\neg} \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leqslant^{\top}) \end{array}$$

Condensed Morse pre-orders give rise to regular closed Morse tessellations.

3.4.2. Regular closed tessellations. A condensed Morse pre-order yields a Morse pre-order. The range of the injective lattice homomorphism cl: $O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top}) \rightarrow O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ can be expressed as $O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ via a pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ — a Morse pre-order. For $\mathcal{U}^{\top} \in O(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ we can give a representation of SC in terms of regular closed tiles. By construction $\|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| \in ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$ and we denote the associated sublattice of regular closed attracting blocks by $\mathsf{N} \subset ABlock_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$. Then, $\mathsf{SC} \cong \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{N}) \cong \mathsf{T}$, where $T = \|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| - \|\mathcal{U}^{\top^{\bullet}}\| := \|\mathcal{U}^{\top}\| \wedge \|\mathcal{U}^{\top^{\bullet}}\|^{\#} \in \mathscr{R}(X)$, cf. [44]. From [44, Lem. 23] we have that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}\| - \|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}}\| &= \mathrm{cl}\left(\|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}\| \smallsetminus \|\mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}}\|\right) = \mathrm{cl}\left(|\mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}}| \smallsetminus |\mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}}|\right) \\ &= \mathrm{cl}\left(|\mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}} \smallsetminus \mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}}|\right) = \left|\mathbf{cl}(\mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}} \smallsetminus \mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}})\right| \\ &= |\mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}} - \mathbf{cl}\ \mathcal{U}^{\mathsf{T}^{\mathsf{4}}}|, \end{split}$$

which shows that the regular closed tiles are closure of the Morse tiles obtained in (2.18) and (3.14). The poset (T, \leq) , which is isomorphic to (SC, \leq) , is an example of a *regular closed Morse tessellation*. The definition of a regular closed Morse tessellation is similar to Definition 3.21: the tiles are regular closed and Condition (i) is redundant. Given a regular closed Morse tessellation we can reconstruct a Morse pre-order. If we start with a regular closed Morse tessellation (T, \leq) , then the Morse tiles $T \in \mathsf{T}$ generate a subalgebra of regular closed sets $\mathscr{R}_0(X)$ which in turn generates a finite subalgebra of $\mathsf{Set}(X)$ represented by $\mathsf{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ for some finite set \mathfrak{X} , cf. Prop. 2.28. The elements in \mathfrak{X} are again denoted by ξ and their *realization* in *X* is denoted by $|\xi|$. This way we obtain a discrete space \mathfrak{X} with two pre-orders: (i) the face pre-order \leq defined by $\xi \leq \xi'$ if and only if $|\xi| \subseteq \operatorname{cl}|\xi'|$, for which closed sets in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) correspond to closed sets in the topological space (X, \mathscr{T}) and (ii) the Morse pre-order \leq^{\dagger} , derived from the Morse tessellation, defined by $\xi \leq^{\dagger} \xi'$ if and only if $\varphi(t, |\xi|) \in \operatorname{int} \downarrow T$ for all t > 0 for some $T \supset |\xi'|$. Closed sets in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger})$ correspond to regular closed attracting blocks for the semi-flow φ , and the partial equivalence classes of \leq^{\dagger} retrieve the Morse tessellation partial order. Summarizing, a regular closed Morse tessellation gives rise to a bi-topological CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant, \leqslant_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot|)$ where $\leqslant_{\bullet}^{-} = \geq^{\dagger}$.

REMARK 3.31. If we choose an arbitrary finite sublattice N \subset ABlock $_{\mathscr{R}}(\varphi)$, then N is a sublattice of some finite subalgebra $\mathscr{R}_0(X) \subset \mathscr{R}(X)$. This induces a Boolean CA-discretization by Proposition 2.28.

3.5. Beyond semi-flows

In this chapter the focus of applying bi-topological techniques is restricted to semi-flows. However, most of the ideas and methods apply to a much wider class of dynamical systems. In this section we outline some of these extensions and how these fits into the theory of this chapter.

A relational semi-flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}_{t \in \mathbb{T}^+}$ is a family of binary relations $\phi^t \subset X \times X$ on a point set X parametrized by (time) $t \in \mathbb{T}^+$ such that

- (i) $\phi^0 = \operatorname{id} \operatorname{on} X$;
- (ii) $\phi^s \circ \phi^t = \phi^{s+t}$ for all⁴ $s, t \in \mathbb{T}^+$.

The time space \mathbb{T}^+ is either \mathbb{Z}^+ or \mathbb{R}^+ . For negative time we define ϕ^{-t} to be the *opposite relation*, i.e. $\phi^{-t} = \{(x, y) \in X \times X \mid (y, x) \in \phi^t\}$, cf. App. A. Therefore Axiom (ii) is equivalent to

(ii)' $\phi^s \circ \phi^t = \phi^{s+t}$ for all $s \cdot t \ge 0$ with $s, t \in \mathbb{T}$,

where \mathbb{T} is either \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{R} . In Appendix A we discuss additional properties of binary relations. If $\varphi(t, x) := \phi^t(x)$ defines a continuous map $\mathbb{T}^+ \times X \to X$ then, if $\mathbb{T}^+ = \mathbb{R}^+, \varphi$ is called a *continuous semi-flow* on X which is the main point of focus in this text. If $\mathbb{T}^+ = \mathbb{Z}^+$, ϕ is a called an *iterated continuous map*. In this case it suffices to only consider the map $f := \phi^1$ since higher iterates are found via composition. Backward images define ϕ^t for negative times. Most considerations in this chapter are valid for relational semi-flows with \mathbb{T} either discrete or continuous time. In particular the techniques carry over to iterated maps. We will indicate in which situations continuity will be required.

On the complete and atomic Boolean algebra Set(X) there is a natural duality between binary relations and completely additive modal operators, cf. App. A. Let Φ be a modal operator on Set(X). Recall from Sect. 2.2 that specialization relation is given by $(x, x') \in \phi$ if and only if $x \in \Phi\{x'\}$ and the operator $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$ is defined

⁴For composition of relations and other properties cf. App. A.

via (2.4). We apply this principle to a relational semi-flow by setting

$$(x, x') \in \phi^{-t}$$
 if and only if $x \in \phi^t \{x'\}, t \in \mathbb{T}$

If we coarsen the relations by discarding time we obtain the relation

$$(x, x') \in \phi^{-t}$$
, for some $t > 0$ if and only if $x \in \Gamma^+\{x'\} := \bigcup_{t>0} \phi^t\{x'\}$,

which is remeniscent of the operator Γ^+ defined in Section 3.1.1. A similar definition can be made for Γ^- . Via Γ^+ and Γ^- one can define associated Alexandrov topologies \mathscr{T}^+ and \mathscr{T}^- respectively. It makes sense to define finer topologies via appropriately defined modal operators. For $\tau \in \mathbb{T}^+$ define the topology \mathscr{T}_{τ} by declaring the sets $U \subset X$ such that $\phi^{\tau}U \subset U$ to be closed. In particular we have that

$$\mathscr{T}^+ \subset \mathscr{T}^+_\tau \subset \mathscr{T}_\tau, \quad \tau > 0,$$

and the same for $\tau < 0$. All these topologies are Alexandrov. The specialization relation for \mathscr{T}_{τ} is given by

$$(x, x') \in \phi^{-\tau}$$
 if and only if $y \in \phi^{\tau} \{x\}$.

The flow topologies discussed in Section 3.1.2 are not Alexandrov in general and the associated duality is more involved. For example the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ for a relational semi-flow is defined by considering the modal operator Γ^{-} as defined above in the setting of relational semi-flows. Define the modal operator $\Phi_{\bullet}^{-} := \Gamma^{-} \text{cl}$ for the topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$. Another interesting modal operator to consider is defined as: $\Phi_{\bullet}^{\tau} = \phi^{\tau} \text{cl}$.

Finally, even though Theorem 3.23 does not hold in general for relational semiflows one can also study regular closed attracting blocks for relational semi-flows, cf. [44].

CHAPTER 4

Algebraization of dynamics

In this section, we elaborate on the third theme of this text: augmentation of Morse pre-orders with algebraic topological data in order to characterize invariance of the dynamics, i.e. the algebraization of dynamics. In particular, we use techniques from algebraic topology in a way in that enables a computational theory. The starting point is a discretization. A Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is the choice of a pre-order such that the discretization map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \rightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ is both \mathscr{T} -consistent and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ -co-consistent. In particular, the composed maps

$$(X,\mathscr{T}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{dyn}} (\mathsf{SC}, \leqslant), \quad (X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} (\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{dyn}} (\mathsf{SC}^{*}, \geq)$$

tile

are continuous T_0 -discretizations, denoted by tile, which define SC-gradings on X, cf. App. C.1. We explain how factorized gradings can be used to discretize algebraic topological invariants of topological spaces. We apply these methods in the context of space and flow topologies. Recall that the first theme was linking topology and dynamics by formulating dynamics as a topology. It is worthwhile to then ask of the reverse direction: what happens when topology is analyzed as dynamics? The beginning of this chapter explores this direction, leading to a construction we entitle *tessellar homology*, which, in contradistinction to cellular homology, uses general tiles instead of CW-cells.

4.1. Cartan-Eilenberg systems

The notion of a Cartan-Eilenberg system over a (countable) total order was first introduced in [11].This notion is generalized to arbitrary total orders in [35] and to arbtrary posets in [48] and [63]. Here we use this concept for finite distributive lattices, cf. [63]. To some extend Cartan-Eilenberg systems may be regarded as a type of generalized homology theory. These systems provide the right data structure for considering algebraic topological invariance in combination with filterings and discretizations of a space.

4.1.1. Cartan-Eilenberg systems over finite distributive lattices. Birkhoff's representation theorem, cf. Thm. B.2, yields that every finite distributive lattice can be represented as the down-set lattice O(P) for some finite poset (P, \leq). Regard O(P) as small (thin) category where the objects are the elements in the lattice and the order relations $\alpha \leq \beta$ (i.e. $\alpha \subset \beta$) account for the morphisms, or arrows, i.e.

 $\alpha \leq \beta$ yields the arrow $\alpha \to \beta$. The *arrow category* of O(P) consists of pairs (α, β) , with $\alpha \leq \beta$, and unique morphisms $(\alpha, \beta) \to (\gamma, \delta)$ for $\alpha \leq \gamma$ and $\beta \leq \delta$, and is denoted by O(P)² and corresponds to commutative diagrams in O(P). Following **[35]** we consider the covariant functors p_0 , p_1 and p_2 given by $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \stackrel{p_0}{\longmapsto} (\alpha, \beta)$, $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \stackrel{p_1}{\longmapsto} (\alpha, \gamma)$ and $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \stackrel{p_2}{\longmapsto} (\beta, \gamma)$ respectively, and natural transformations $i: p_0 \Rightarrow p_1$ and $j: p_1 \Rightarrow p_2$ whose components are given by $(\alpha, \beta) \stackrel{i}{\mapsto} (\alpha, \gamma)$ and $(\alpha, \gamma) \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} (\beta, \gamma)$ respectively.

DEFINITION 4.1 (cf. [63]). Let (P, \leq) be a finite poset. A *Cartan-Eilenberg system* over O(P) consists of a covariant functor E: $O(P)^2 \rightarrow R$ -**Mod**¹ and a natural transformation $k: Ep_2 \Rightarrow Ep_0$ between the composite functors Ep_2 and Ep_0 , called the *connecting homomorphism*, such that



is an exact triangle, where the natural transformations E_i and E_j are the right whiskerings of E and *i*, and E and *j* respectively. A Cartan-Eilenberg system over O(P) is denoted by $E = (O(P)^2, E, k)^2$.

Unpacking the above definition yields

$$\mathsf{E}: \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P})^2 \longrightarrow R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}, \quad (\alpha, \beta) \mapsto \mathsf{E}(\alpha, \beta) = E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \in R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}.$$

The functor E yields the homomorphisms $\ell \colon E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \to E_{\gamma}^{\delta}$ for all $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\gamma, \delta)$, and the composition $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \xrightarrow{\ell} E_{\gamma}^{\delta} \xrightarrow{\ell} E_{\epsilon}^{\zeta}$ is given by $\ell \colon E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \to E_{\epsilon}^{\zeta}$ by the transitivity in O(P). The natural transformation k yields the differential $k \colon E_{\beta}^{\gamma} \to E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ such that the diagrams³

(4.1)
$$E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \xrightarrow{i} E_{\alpha}^{\gamma} \qquad E_{\beta}^{\gamma} \xrightarrow{k} E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$$
$$\downarrow \qquad \downarrow \ell \qquad E_{\beta}^{\gamma} \qquad E_{\delta}^{\zeta} \xrightarrow{k} E_{\delta}^{\xi}$$

are exact and commutative for all $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \leq (\delta, \epsilon, \zeta)$. By construction $\ell \colon E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \xrightarrow[id]{id} E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ is the identity homomorphism and the exactness of (4.1)[left] shows that $E_{\alpha}^{\alpha} = 0$ for all $\alpha \in O(P)$, cf. [35]. Morphisms between Cartan-Eilenberg systems **E** and **E'**

¹The category of *R*-modules is denoted by *R*-**Mod**. Cartain-Eilenberg systems can be formulated in any abelian category such as abelian groups, *R*-modules or \mathbb{K} -vector spaces.

²Cartan-Eilenberg systems can be defined over any poset, eg. all subsets of a topological space, closed subsets, etc., cf. [63].

³In the special cases $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\alpha, \gamma)$ and $(\alpha, \gamma) \leq (\beta, \gamma)$ the morphisms ℓ are denoted by i and j respectively.

can be described in terms of the *E*-terms, i.e. a morphism is a natural transformation $h: \mathsf{E} \Rightarrow \mathsf{E}'$ which, in terms of *E*-terms, implies that there exist homomorphisms $h_{\alpha}^{\beta}: E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \to E_{\alpha}'^{\beta}$ which commute with the morphisms in **E** and **E**' respectively:

for every ordered triple(α, β, γ).

Since O(P) is a finite lattice it suffices to define a Cartan-Eilenberg system with exact triangle and commutative squares for ordered pairs called an *exact couple system*, cf. [48]. To be more specific we consider the diagrams:

(4.3)
$$E_{\varnothing}^{\alpha} \xrightarrow{i} E_{\varnothing}^{\beta} \qquad E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \xrightarrow{k} E_{\varnothing}^{\alpha}$$
$$\stackrel{\ell}{\longrightarrow} E_{\varphi}^{\alpha} \qquad \ell \downarrow \qquad \downarrow_{i}$$
$$E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \qquad E_{\gamma}^{\delta} \xrightarrow{k} E_{\varnothing}^{\gamma}$$

which are exact and commutative for all $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\gamma, \delta)$. For an ordered triple (α, β, γ) the composition $E_{\beta}^{\gamma} \stackrel{k}{\to} E_{\emptyset}^{\beta} \stackrel{j}{\to} E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ defines the connecting homomorphism (differential) $k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \colon E_{\beta}^{\gamma} \to E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$. Since (4.3) is exact for $(\beta, \gamma) \in O(\mathsf{P})^2$ we have that kj = 0 and thus $k_{\alpha\beta\gamma}k_{\beta\gamma\delta} = j(kj)k = 0$. Any ordered triple (α, β, γ) yields the following octahedral diagram:⁴



where the inner exact triangle (dashed) is induced by the three outer exact triangles, cf. [48, Lem. 4.8].

THEOREM 4.2 (cf. [48], Lem. 4.8). An exact couple system over O(P) extends to a Cartan-Eilenberg system over O(P).

⁴If there is no ambiguity about the domain and codomain the sub-indices are omitted from the maps k, i, j, ℓ and \tilde{k} .

4.1.2. The excisive property. For most algebraic topological applications of Cartan-Eilenberg systems the excisive property of homology plays an important role which leads to the following definition.

DEFINITION 4.3. A Cartan-Eilenberg system E over O(P) is called *excisive* if

(4.5)
$$E_{\alpha \cap \beta}^{\beta} \cong E_{\alpha}^{\alpha \cup \beta}, \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}).^{5}$$

Two ordered pairs $(\alpha, \beta), (\alpha', \beta') \in O(\mathsf{P})^2$ are *equivalent*, if $\beta \smallsetminus \alpha = \beta' \smallsetminus \alpha'$. The excisive property for a Cartan-Eilenberg system implies that the *E*-terms only depend on equivalent pairs up to isomorphism. For $\beta \smallsetminus \alpha = \{p\}$ we abuse notation and write $E_p := E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ for all $p \in \mathsf{P}$.

LEMMA 4.4. Let (α, β) and (α', β') be equivalent pairs in $O(P)^2$. Then, $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \cong E_{\alpha'}^{\beta'}$.

PROOF. Define $\tilde{\alpha} = \alpha \lor \alpha'$ and $\tilde{\beta} = \beta \lor \beta'$. Then, $\alpha, \alpha' \leqslant \tilde{\alpha}, \beta, \beta' \leqslant \tilde{\beta}$ and $\beta \smallsetminus \alpha = \beta' \smallsetminus \alpha' = \tilde{\beta} \smallsetminus \tilde{\alpha}$. Consider $\alpha \leqslant \tilde{\alpha}$ and $\beta \leqslant \tilde{\beta}$. Then, $(\beta \cap \tilde{\beta}) \lor (\alpha \cup \tilde{\alpha}) = \beta \lor \tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{\beta} \lor \tilde{\alpha}$. Consequently, $(\beta \cup \tilde{\alpha}) \smallsetminus \tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{\beta} \lor \tilde{\alpha}$ and therfore $\tilde{\beta} = \beta \cup \tilde{\alpha}$. Similarly, $\beta \lor (\beta \cap \tilde{\alpha}) = \beta \lor \alpha$ which implies that $\alpha = \beta \land \tilde{\alpha}$. By (4.5) we conclude that $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} = E_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\beta} \cap \beta \cong E_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\tilde{\alpha} \cup \beta} = E_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\tilde{\beta}}$, By the same token one proves that $E_{\alpha'}^{\beta'} = E_{\tilde{\alpha} \cap \beta'}^{\beta'} \cong E_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\tilde{\alpha} \cup \beta'} = E_{\tilde{\alpha}}^{\tilde{\beta}}$, and thus $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} \cong E_{\alpha'}^{\beta'}$.

Excisive Cartan-Eilenberg systems already appear in the seminal work by Franzosa on connection matrices for Morse representations, cf. [21]. In Franzosa's work such data structures of R-modules of \mathbb{K} -vector spaces are referred to a *module braids*. As a matter of fact one can prove that these concepts are equivalent.

THEOREM 4.5 (cf. [63]). A module braid over the convex sets in P is equivalent to an excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system over O(P).

An important result for excisive Cartan-Eilenberg systems is a representation in terms of finitely generated differential modules. For convenience we assume that the ring *R* is a *principal ideal domain*. Recall that P-graded differential module is denoted by (C, d), with $C = \bigoplus_{p \in P} G_p C$, cf. App. C.2-C.3. A P-graded differential module (C, d) is free if and only if the components $G_p C$ are free. Free graded differential modules are used to construct representations of Cartan-Eilenberg systems. A P-graded differential module defines an O(P)-filtered differential module via $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}C := \bigoplus_{p \in \alpha} G_p C$, cf. App. C.2-C.3. In general, O(P)-filtered differential modules induce excisive Cartan-Eilenberg systems. Consider the short exact sequence:

(4.6)
$$0 \longrightarrow F_{\alpha}C \xrightarrow{i} F_{\beta}C \xrightarrow{j} \frac{F_{\beta}C}{F_{\alpha}C} \longrightarrow 0 , \quad \alpha \leq \beta.$$

Since the differential d preserves the filtering we may define the homologies $E_{\emptyset}^{\alpha} := H(F_{\alpha}C, d), E_{\emptyset}^{\beta} := H(F_{\beta}C, d)$ and $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} := H(F_{\beta}C/F_{\alpha}C, d)$. This yields the exact

⁵The homomorphism $\ell \colon E_{\alpha \cap \beta}^{\beta} \to E_{\alpha}^{\alpha \cup \beta}$ is an isomorphism.

triangles in (4.3) where $k: H(F_{\beta}C/F_{\alpha}C, d) \to H(F_{\alpha}C, d)$ is the connecting homomorphism constructed in the usual way. All other axioms of exact couple systems are readily verified which yields a Cartan-Eilenberg system denoted $\mathbf{E}(C, d)$. The excisive property follows from the fact that $F_{\alpha\cup\beta}C/F_{\alpha}C = (F_{\alpha}C + F_{\beta}C)/F_{\alpha}C \cong$ $F_{\beta}C/(F_{\alpha}C \cap F_{\beta}C) = F_{\beta}/F_{\alpha\cap\beta}C$. The (excisive) Cartan-Eilenberg system $\mathbf{E}(C, d)$ is the Cartan-Eilenberg system of the O(P)-filtered differential module (C, d). This implies that a Cartan-Eilenberg system of a P-graded differential module is automatically defined.

DEFINITION 4.6. Let **E** be a Cartan-Eilenberg system over a finite distributive lattice O(P). A free, P-graded differential group (*C*, d), with $C = \bigoplus_{p \in P} G_p C$, is a P-graded representation for **E** if

$$\mathbf{E}(C,\mathbf{d}) \cong \mathbf{E}$$

A P-graded representation is *strict* if the free P-graded differential group (C, d) is strict.⁶

The main theorem of this section states that in most cases P-graded representations for Cartan-Eilenberg systems exist and are unique up to conjugacy. The existence part was proved in [21] and applies to Cartan-Eilenberg systems due to Theorem 4.5. The existence result in [21] assumes that every *E*-term is the homology of a differential module. We say in this case that the Cartan-Eilenberg system is *chain generated*. To be more precise, for all $(\alpha, \beta) \in O(P)^2$ there exist differential modules $(C^{\alpha}_{\varnothing}, d^{\alpha}_{\varnothing}), (C^{\beta}_{\varnothing}, d^{\beta}_{\varnothing})$ and $(C^{\beta}_{\alpha}, d^{\beta}_{\alpha})$, and short exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow C^{\alpha}_{\varnothing} \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} C^{\beta}_{\varnothing} \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} C^{\beta}_{\alpha} \longrightarrow 0,$$

such that $E_{\emptyset}^{\alpha} = H(C_{\emptyset}^{\alpha}, d_{\emptyset}^{\alpha}), E_{\emptyset}^{\beta} = H(C_{\emptyset}^{\beta}, d_{\emptyset}^{\beta})$ and $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} = H(C_{\alpha}^{\beta}, d_{\alpha}^{\beta})$. By the standard construction of the connecting homomorphisms this yields a Cartan-Eilenberg system **E**. This concept is more general than a Cartan-Eilenberg system generated by an O(P)-filtered differential module, or a P-graded differential module, cf. [63].

THEOREM 4.7 ([21], Thm. 4.8). Let **E** be a chain generated, excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system over O(P). Then, there exists a free, P-graded differential group (C, d) — a P-graded representation — such that $\mathbf{E} \cong \mathbf{E}(C, d)$.

An *R*-module is *finitely generated* if it has a finite generating set. The running assumption in this chapter is that *R* is a principal ideal domain. This implies that a module $C \cong R^n \oplus \text{Tor}(C)$, where Tor(C) is the *maximal torsion submodule* of C^7 and $\text{Tor}(C) \cong \bigoplus_i R/(d_i)$, where d_i are the non-zero invariant factors of *C*. The integer *n* is called the *rank* of *C*. A Cartan-Eilenberg system **E** is finitely generated if all

⁶Recall that (C, d) is strict if the differential restricted to G_pC , $p \in P$, is trivial, cf. Defn. C.3.

⁷Recall that $c \in \text{Tor}(C)$ if the exists an $r \in R$ such that rc = 0.

modules E_{α}^{β} , $(\alpha, \beta) \in O(\mathsf{P})^2$. Suppose **E** is a finitely generated, excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system over $O(\mathsf{P})$. For E_{α}^{β} let s_{α}^{β} be the rank of E_{α}^{β} and r_{α}^{β} is the number of non-zero invariant factors of the maximal torsion submodule $\operatorname{Tor}(E_{\alpha}^{\beta})$. For $\beta \setminus \alpha = \{p\}$ we denote s_{α}^{β} and r_{α}^{β} by s_p and r_p respectively.

DEFINITION 4.8. Let **E** be a finitely generated, excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system over a finite distributive lattice O(P). A free, P-graded differential module (C, d), with $C = \bigoplus_{p \in P} G_p C$, is a *principal representation* for **E** if

(i)
$$\mathbf{E}(C, d) \cong \mathbf{E};$$

(ii) rank $G_p C = s_p + 2r_p$ for all $p \in \mathsf{P}$.

The differential d is called a *spectral matrix* for **E**.

Since *R*-modules over a principal ideal domain allow length 1 free resolutions the existence of a principal representation is guaranteed by Theorem 4.7. The main result in [63] states that such a representation is unique up to isomorphism of Cartan-Eilenberg systems which implies that differentials (spectral matrices) are unique up to conjugacy.

REMARK 4.9. For strict P-graded differential modules the homology satisfies $H(G_pC, d) = G_pC \cong E_{\alpha}^{\beta}$, with $\beta \smallsetminus \alpha = \{p\}$ for all $p \in P$.

REMARK 4.10. In the context of dynamical systems a spectral matrix is referred to as a *connection matrix*. We will refer to this nomenclature when we apply Cartan-Eilenberg systems for bi-topological spaces involving the block-flow topology.

REMARK 4.11. If a Cartan-Eilenberg system is generated by an O(P)-filtered differential \mathbb{K} -vector space, then [58] provides a simplified proof of Theorem 4.7.

4.1.3. Cartan-Eilenberg systems of a filtered topological space. As before let (P, \leq) be a finite poset and (X, \mathscr{T}) be a topological space. Consider a P-graded decomposition of X given by $X = \bigcup_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p X$, cf. App. C.1. Dual to a grading is a lattice filtering grd^{-1} : $\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}) \to \operatorname{Set}(X)$ given by the lattice homomorphism $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}X := \operatorname{grd}^{-1}\alpha$.⁸ From this point on one can invoke a (generalized) (co)homology theory by assigning $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} := H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X)$ for every $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P})^2$. From the Eilenberg-Steenrod axioms we have exact triangles (and the connecting homomorphisms) and commutative squares:

⁸If (P, \leq) is \mathscr{T} -consistent then tile is a continuous map, and $\operatorname{grd}^{-1} \colon \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}) \to \mathscr{C}(X, \mathscr{T})$ is filtering of closed set of *X*. The mapping $\operatorname{grd}^{-1} \colon \mathsf{U}(\mathsf{P}) \to \mathscr{O}(X, \mathscr{T})$ yields a filtering of open sets in *X*. This can also be obtained by considering a \mathscr{T} -co-consistent grading, i.e. continuous with respect to opposite poset P^* .

for $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\gamma, \delta)$. For example the homology functor can be taken to be singular homology. Note that we suppress the \mathbb{Z} -grading as the Cartan-Eilenberg theory works in the setting of differential modules. Singular homology yields a chain generated Cartan-Eilenberg system $\mathbf{E}^{\text{sing}}(X)$. Denote by C(X) the *R*-module of singular chains over a ring *R* and d: $C(X) \to C(X)$ is the singular boundary operator, or differential making (C(X), d) a differential module.⁹ The filtering of *X* yields a filtering of C(X), i.e. $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}C(X)$ with $F_{\alpha}C(X) := C(F_{\alpha}X)$, where $C(F_{\alpha}X)$ are the singular chains in C(X) restricted to $F_{\alpha}X$. For singular chains it holds that $F_{\alpha\cap\beta}C(X) = F_{\alpha}C(X) \cap F_{\beta}C(X)$. The same relation with respect to union does not hold in general. The differential satisfies $dF_{\alpha}C(X) \subset F_{\alpha}C(X)$ for all $\alpha \in O(P)$, making $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}C(X)$ a meet semi-lattice filtered module (chain complex). The fact that the latter is not an O(P)-filtered differential module. However, for the filtering we obtain the following short exact sequences:

$$0 \longrightarrow C(F_{\alpha}X) \xrightarrow{i} C(F_{\beta}X) \xrightarrow{j} \frac{C(F_{\beta}X)}{C(F_{\alpha}X)} \longrightarrow 0$$

 $(\alpha,\beta) \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P})^2$, which represent the modules C^{α}_{\varnothing} , C^{β}_{\varnothing} and C^{β}_{α} . The associated homologies $H(F_{\alpha}X) = H(C(F_{\alpha}X), \mathrm{d}), H(F_{\beta}X) = H(C(F_{\beta}X), \mathrm{d})$ and

$$H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X) = H(C(F_{\beta}X)/C(F_{\alpha}X), \mathbf{d}),$$

yield the above exact triangle for a pair. We conclude that $\mathbf{E}^{sing}(X)$ is chain generated as explained in Section 4.1.2. The fact that (C(X), d) is not lattice filtered implies that the associated Cartan-Eilenberg system is not excisive in general. Depending on the homology theory, or on properties of the grading of X, we can relate the homologies $H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X)$ and $H(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X)$ which are not necessarily isomorphic. If a grading $X = \bigcup_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p X$ is *natural* then the associated filtering $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}X$ consists of mutually good pairs, cf. Defn. 2.17. For example if we consider singular homology then $H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X) \cong H(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X)$ for all $\alpha \subset \beta$, cf. [34, Prop. 2.22], [69, Thm. 3.2.9]. In this case the relative singular homology satisfies the excisive property, i.e. $H(F_{\alpha \cup \beta}X, F_{\alpha}X) \cong H(F_{\alpha \cup \beta}X/F_{\alpha}X) \cong H(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha \cap \beta}X) \cong$ $H(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha \cap \beta}X)$, for all $\alpha, \beta \in O(\mathsf{P})$. If X is a compact Hausdorff space and the poset P is \mathscr{T} -consistent (not necessarily natural), i.e. the filtering consists of closed sets $F_{\alpha}X \in \mathscr{C}(X,\mathscr{T})$. By the closedness of $F_{\alpha}X$ we have the homeomorphisms $F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X \setminus [F_{\alpha}X] \cong F_{\beta}X \setminus F_{\alpha}X$, for all $\alpha \subset \beta$. Let H represent Alexander-Spanier cohomology. From the excisive property of Alexander-Spanier cohomology we have that¹⁰

$$\bar{H}(F_{\beta}X, F_{\alpha}X) \cong \bar{H}_{c}(F_{\beta}X \smallsetminus F_{\alpha}X) \cong \bar{H}_{c}(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X \smallsetminus [F_{\alpha}X]) \\
\cong \bar{H}(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X, [F_{\alpha}X]) =: \bar{H}(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X),$$

⁹If we invoke $C(X) = \bigoplus_q C_q(X)$ as the \mathbb{Z} -graded module of singular chains then (C, d) is a chain complex.

¹⁰Here \bar{H}_c denote compactly supported Alexander-Spanier cohomology.

cf. [62, Ch. 6, Sect. 6, Lem. 11], [16, Ch. V, Sect. 2.A]. The same result can be obtained by using compactly supported *Alexander-Spanier homology*, cf. [47, Cor. 9.4].

REMARK 4.12. Suppose X is a (locally) compact Hausdorff space homeomorphic to a finite CW-complex and the poset P is \mathscr{T} -consistent such that $F_{\alpha}X$ is homeomorphic to a closed subcomplex. Then, $F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X$ is the one-point compactification of $G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X := F_{\beta}X \smallsetminus F_{\alpha}X$. For the singular homology we have the isomorphism $H(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X) \cong H^{BM}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X)$, where H^{BM} indicates the *Borel-Moore homology* of $G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X$, cf. [8]. As a matter of fact the Borel-Moore chain groups $C^{BM}(F_{\beta}X \smallsetminus F_{\alpha}X)$ yield a short exact sequences

$$(4.8) \quad 0 \to C^{\mathrm{BM}}(F_{\beta}X \smallsetminus F_{\alpha}X) \xrightarrow{i} C^{\mathrm{BM}}(F_{\gamma}X \smallsetminus F_{\alpha}X) \xrightarrow{j} C^{\mathrm{BM}}(F_{\gamma}X \smallsetminus F_{\beta}X) \to 0,$$

as opposed to the weakly exact sequences in (4.9).

REMARK 4.13. In [21, 19] considers the sequence of pointed quotient spaces $F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X$ which induces the weakly exact sequence¹¹

(4.9)
$$C(F_{\alpha}X) \xrightarrow{i} C(F_{\beta}X) \xrightarrow{j} C(F_{\beta}X/F_{\alpha}X)$$

of singular chains on the quotient spaces for good pairs. The approach in [19] allows slightly weaker conditions on the good pairs, cf. [46].

4.2. Tessellar homology

The objective of the homological algebra in this section is to obtain algebraic topological invariants of X via finite algebraic information; *discretization of algebraic topology*. To do so we employ the abstract formalism of Cartan-Eilenberg systems as explained in Section 4.1. Let disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ be a natural discretization map, i.e. \leqslant is a \mathscr{T} -consistent pre-order and consist of mutually good pairs. Let $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ be the poset of partial equivalence classes of $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$. Then, the map $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ given by the composition

(4.10)
$$X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim},$$

is natural and yields a $\mathscr{X}/_{\sim}$ -grading $X = \bigcup_{[\xi]} G_{[\xi]}X$, cf. Rem. 2.10 and App. C.1. The associated filtering $\mathcal{U} \mapsto F_{\mathcal{U}}X$, $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathscr{X}, \leqslant)$, defined by disc⁻¹, consists of good pairs and yields an excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system \mathbf{E}^{disc} as outlined in Section 4.1.3. For simplicity we assume that \mathbf{E}^{disc} is *finitely generated* for the remainder of this chapter. We now explain the construction of an associated homology theory.

54

¹¹Weakly exact sequences yield exact triangles homology. Recall that a sequence $A \xrightarrow{i} B \xrightarrow{j} C$ is *weakly exact* is *i* is injective, $j \circ i = 0$ and the quatient map $B/\text{im } i \to C$ induced by *j* yields an isomorphism $H(B/\text{im } j) \cong H(C)$, cf. [46] and [21] for more detail.

4.2.1. The tessellar differential module. For $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ define the *E*-terms for \mathbf{E}^{disc} via relative (singular) homology $E_{[\xi]} := H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X)$, which is chain generated and finitely generated with *coefficients in a principal ideal domain R*. The *tessellar modules*, or *tessellar chain groups* are given by the external direct sum

(4.11)
$$C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) := \bigoplus_{[\xi] \in \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}} G_{[\xi]} C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X),$$

where $G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}(X) := H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X)^{12}$ if the latter is a free *R*-module, or else choose a free differential module $(G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}(X), d)$ such that

- (i) $H(G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}, d) \cong H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi^*}X);$ (ii) $G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}(X) \cong R^{s_{\xi}+2r_{\xi}}$, cf. Defn. 4.8(ii).

By Theorem 4.7 there exists an $O(\mathfrak{X})$ -filtered differential

$$d^{disc}: C^{disc}(X) \to C^{disc}(X)$$

such that $\mathbf{E}(C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \mathrm{d}^{\operatorname{disc}}) \cong \mathbf{E}^{\operatorname{disc}}$ and the spectral matrix $\mathrm{d}^{\operatorname{disc}}$ is unique up to isomorphism, cf. Sect. 4.1.2. If the homologies $H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X)$ are free (finitely generated), then $(C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \mathrm{d}^{\operatorname{disc}})$ is a strict \mathfrak{X}/\sim -graded differential module with $C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{[\xi]\in\mathfrak{X}/\sim} H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X)$. We refer to $(C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \mathrm{d}^{\operatorname{disc}})$ as the \mathfrak{X}/\sim -graded *tessellar differential module*, or \mathfrak{X}/\sim -graded *tessellar chain complex* based on singular homology. The associated homology is called the *tessellar homology* of disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ and is denoted by $H^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) \cong H(X)$. Following Appendix C.2 the restricted module $G_{\mathfrak{U}\smallsetminus\mathfrak{U}'}C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X)$ is well-defined for every convex set $\mathfrak{U}\smallsetminus\mathfrak{U}'$, with $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}' \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ and

(4.12)
$$G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) := \bigoplus_{[\xi]\subset\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'} G_{[\xi]}C^{\operatorname{disc}} = \frac{F_{\mathcal{U}}C^{\operatorname{disc}}}{F_{\mathcal{U}'}C^{\operatorname{disc}}}.$$

The differential is the restriction of d^{tess} to $G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}C^{\text{tess}}(X)$. The associated homology $H^{\text{disc}}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X) := H(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}C^{\text{disc}}(X), d^{\text{disc}})$ is the tessellar homology of the locally closed set¹³ $G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X$. The latter also defines the relative tessellar homology $H^{\text{disc}}(F_{\mathcal{U}}X, F_{\mathcal{U}'}X)$.

THEOREM 4.14. Let disc: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a natural discretization map. Then, the tessellar homology satisfies $H^{\text{disc}}(X) \cong H(X)$. In particular, for every convex set $\mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}' \subset \mathfrak{X}$, $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}' \in \mathsf{O}(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$, we have that $H^{\text{disc}}(G_{\mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}'}X) \cong H(F_{\mathcal{U}}X, F_{\mathcal{U}'}X)$.

PROOF. By definition the modules $G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}$ are free. By [21, Thm. 4.8] we have a differential d^{disc} which retrieves the homologies.

The discretization map disc: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ discretizes X, while the construction of $(C^{\text{disc}}(X), d^{\text{disc}})$ discretizes the algebraic topology of X. More details on tessellar homology are discussed in [63].

¹²By the isomorphism $O(\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}) \cong O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ we have that $\lfloor \xi = \lfloor [\xi]$.

¹³A locally closed subset of X is given as the intersection an open and a closed subset in X.

4.2.2. The tessellar complex. It it sometimes useful to describe the tessellar homology in combinatorial terms. To do some we define a slight generalization of a (Lefschetz) complex, cf. [31].

DEFINITION 4.15. A *complex* is a triple $(\mathcal{T}, \leq, \kappa)$ where (\mathcal{T}, \leq) is a finite pre-order and $\kappa \colon \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T} \to R$ is a function satisfying

(i) (upper-triangular) $\kappa(\vartheta, \vartheta') \neq 0$ implies $\vartheta \leq \vartheta', \vartheta \neq \vartheta'$;

(ii) (boundary) $\sum_{\vartheta'} \kappa(\vartheta, \vartheta') \kappa(\vartheta', \vartheta'') = 0.$

The function κ is called the *incidence function* and its values in the ring *R* are called the *incidence numbers*.

For a cell complex we can define (free) canonical differential R-module. Define the free R-module over \mathcal{T} :

$$C(\mathcal{T}) := \bigoplus_{\vartheta \in \mathcal{T}} R \langle \vartheta \rangle^{14}$$

with differential

$$\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{T}} \langle \vartheta \rangle := \sum_{\vartheta' \in \mathcal{T}} \kappa(\vartheta, \vartheta') \langle \vartheta' \rangle,$$

which makes $(C(\mathcal{T}), d_{\mathcal{T}})$ a $\mathcal{T}/_{\sim}$ -graded differential *R*-module. For every convex set $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{T}$ the restriction of $C(\mathcal{T})$ to $C(\mathcal{C})$ and differential accordingly defines a *subcomplex* $(C(\mathcal{C}), d_{\mathcal{C}})$. The associated Cartan-Eilenberg system is excisive and is denoted by $\mathbf{E}(C(\mathcal{T}), d_{\mathcal{T}})$ with *E*-terms given by $E_{\alpha}^{\beta} := H(C(\mathcal{C}), d_{\mathcal{C}})$, with $\beta \setminus \alpha = \mathcal{C}$. Consider the diagram

(4.13)
$$X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$$
$$\uparrow^{\varpi}_{\mathcal{T}}$$

which implies that the equivalence classes in \mathcal{T} coincide with the equivalence classes in \mathfrak{X} , i.e. $\mathcal{T}/_{\sim} \cong \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$.

DEFINITION 4.16. A triple $(\mathcal{T}, \leq, \kappa)$ is *tessellar complex* for a natural discretization map disc: $X \rightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ if if

$$(C(\mathcal{T}), \mathbf{d}_{\mathcal{T}}) \cong (C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \mathbf{d}^{\operatorname{disc}}),$$

as $O(\mathfrak{X})$ -filtered chain isomorphic $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ -graded differential modules.

A tessellar complex yields a differential matrix with *R*-coefficients via the incidence function κ . This justifies the terminology spectral matrix. For a convex set $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ we use the notation

(4.14)
$$H^{\operatorname{disc}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X)\cong H(C(\mathcal{C}), \mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{C}})\cong H(F_{\mathcal{U}}X, F_{\mathcal{U}'}X),$$

with $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}'$ is independent of the pair $\mathcal{U}' \subset \mathcal{U}$ and where $(C(\mathcal{C}), d_{\mathcal{C}})$ is restriction of $(C(\mathcal{T}), d_{\mathcal{T}})$ to \mathcal{C} . In Section 4.3 we discuss the special case of a CW-decomposition.

¹⁴We use the notation $\langle \vartheta \rangle$ to express ϑ as basis for $C(\mathcal{T})$.

REMARK 4.17. Given a natural discretization map disc: $X \rightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ one can always construct a map disc: $X \rightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ (not necessarily surjective) such that there exists a tessellar complex $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \kappa)$. Such a discretization map is a *representable* natural discretization.

4.2.3. Linear discretization, split grading and bi-graded Betti numbers. In certain cases a natural discretization map disc: $X \rightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ allows another scalar discretization map via an order-preserving map ind: $\mathfrak{X} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ (not necessarily surjective). By construction ind factors through $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$:



The map ind maps to a linear order and the composition skel is called a *linear discretization*. The discretization ind is a coarsening of disc and is therefore a natural discretization map, which makes $(C^{\text{disc}}, d^{\text{disc}})$ a \mathbb{Z} -graded differential module. Since ind is order preserving the tessellar homology of $G_p X := \text{skel}^{-1} p \subset X$ is well-defined. For the latter we consider a standard spectral sequence. Define, using (4.12),

$$G_p C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{[\xi] \subset \operatorname{ind}^{-1} p} G_{[\xi]} C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X),$$

which gives the \mathbb{Z} -grading $C^{\text{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} G_p C^{\text{tess}}(X)$. As explained in Section 4.1.2 we obtain the short exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow F_{\downarrow(p-1)}C^{\text{disc}} \xrightarrow{i_{p-1}} F_{\downarrow p}C^{\text{disc}} \xrightarrow{j_p} G_pC^{\text{disc}} \longrightarrow 0$$

From the tessellar boundary operator d^{disc} we compute the homology which provide the zeroth and first pages $\mathscr{E}^0 = \bigoplus_p \mathscr{E}^0_p$ and $\mathscr{E}^1 = \bigoplus_p \mathscr{E}^1_p$ with

$$\mathscr{E}_p^0 = G_p C^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathscr{E}_p^1 = H(G_p C^{\operatorname{disc}}) \cong H^{\operatorname{disc}}(G_p X).$$

This yields the exact triangles, using $H^{\text{disc}}(F_{\downarrow p}X) = H(F_{\downarrow p}C^{\text{disc}})$,



where $d_p^1 = j_{p-1}k_p$ are the connecting homomorphisms computed from d^{disc} . Recursively define $\mathscr{E}^{r+1} = H(\mathscr{E}^r, d^r)$ where $d_p^r : \mathscr{E}_p^r \to \mathscr{E}_{p-r}^r$ with $d^r = ji^{1-r}k$. Since ind defines a finite filtering on $C^{\text{disc}}(X)$ the spectral sequence converges and $\mathscr{E}_p^{\infty} \cong G_p H(C^{\text{disc}}) = G_p H^{\text{disc}}(X)$. If we set $\beta_p^{\text{disc}} = \operatorname{rank} G_p H^{\text{disc}}(X)$, called the *Betti numbers*, then

$$\sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \beta_p^{\text{disc}} = \operatorname{rank} H^{\text{disc}}(X).$$

In particular, when $R = \mathbb{K}$, then ind yields a grading on the tessellar homology. For ring coefficients this is more complicated and it is not true in general that $\operatorname{Gr} H^{\operatorname{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{P}} G_p H^{\operatorname{disc}}(X)$ is isomorphic to $H^{\operatorname{disc}}(X)$, cf. App. C.2. However, if the differential satisfies $\operatorname{d}^{\operatorname{disc}} G_p C^{\operatorname{disc}} \subset G_{p-1} C^{\operatorname{disc}}$, then the tessellar differential module $(C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \operatorname{d}^{\operatorname{disc}})$, with $\operatorname{d}_p^{\operatorname{disc}} := \operatorname{d}^{\operatorname{disc}}(p, p-1)$, ¹⁵ is a chain complex $(G_p C^{\operatorname{disc}}, \operatorname{d}_p^{\operatorname{disc}})$. We write $\operatorname{d}^{\operatorname{disc}} = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{P}} \operatorname{d}_p^{\operatorname{disc}}$. In this case the linear discretization ind is said to be *split grading* for the tessellar differential module and ind induces a \mathbb{Z} -grading on the associated tessellar homology. The \mathbb{Z} -grading given by ind can be useful is some cases e.g. cellular homology and the treatment of tessellar homology for Morse pre-orders, cf. Sect.'s 4.3 – 4.4.

The advantage of using Betti numbers is that one can treat the \mathbb{Z} -grading given by ind as a grading on the Betti numbers. We start with using the \mathbb{Z} -grading on singular homology: $H^{\text{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{\text{disc}}_q(X)$. Define the *bi-graded Betti numbers* as: $\beta_{p,q}^{\text{disc}} = \operatorname{rank} G_p H^{\text{disc}}_q(X)$. The double *tessellar Poincaré polynomial* of X is defined as

(4.16)
$$P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{disc}}(X) = \sum_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \beta_{p,q}^{\text{disc}} \lambda^p \mu^q$$

The latter satisfies a variation on the standard *Morse relations*. Define $\beta_{p,q}^{\text{disc}}(\xi) = \operatorname{rank} G_p H_q^{\text{disc}}(G_{[\xi]}X)$ and associated Poincaré polynomial

$$P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\operatorname{disc}}(G_{[\xi]}X) = \sum_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \beta_{p,q}^{\operatorname{disc}}(\xi)\lambda^p \mu^q.$$

The singular homology grading yields the splitting $d_p^r = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} d_{p,q}^r$.

THEOREM 4.18 (Bi-graded Morse relations). Let $X \xrightarrow{\text{disc}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{ind}} \mathbb{Z}$ be a natural linear discretization. Then,

(4.17)
$$\sum_{[\xi]\subset\mathcal{X}} P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{disc}}(G_{[\xi]}X) = P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{disc}}(X) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (1+\lambda^r \mu) Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r$$

where $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r = \sum_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} (\text{rank im } d_{p+r,q+1}^r) \lambda^p \mu^q \ge 0$. The sum over r is finite.

PROOF. In terms of the spectral sequences we have that $\mathscr{E}^0 = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{E}^0_{p,q}$ and $\mathscr{E}^1 = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{E}^1_{p,q}$ are isomorphic. For the spectral sequence we have the short exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker \mathbf{d}_{p,q}^r \longrightarrow \mathscr{E}_{p,q}^r \longrightarrow \operatorname{im} \mathbf{d}_{p,q}^r \longrightarrow 0, \quad \text{and}$$
$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{im} \mathbf{d}_{p+r,q+1}^r \longrightarrow \ker \mathbf{d}_{p,q}^r \longrightarrow \mathscr{E}_{p,q}^{r+1} \longrightarrow 0.$$

¹⁵In Appendix C.2 the entries of d are explained.

the implies the relation

rank $\mathscr{E}_{p,q}^r = \operatorname{rank} \mathscr{E}_{p,q}^{r+1} + \operatorname{rank} \operatorname{im} \operatorname{d}_{p,q}^r + \operatorname{rank} \operatorname{im} \operatorname{d}_{p+r,q+1}^r$.

Define the double Poincaré polynomials $P_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{E}^r) := \sum_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}} (\operatorname{rank} \mathscr{E}^r_{p,q}) \lambda^p \mu^q$ and $Q^r_{\lambda,\mu} = \sum_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}} (\operatorname{rank} \operatorname{im} \operatorname{d}^r_{p+r,q+1}) \lambda^p \mu^q$. Then, the Poincaré polynomials satisfy $P_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{E}^r) = P_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{E}^{r+1}) + (1+\lambda^r \mu) Q^r_{\lambda,\mu}$. Iterating the above identities for $P_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{E}^r)$ and using the fact that the spectral sequence converges yields Equation (4.17). \Box

Using bi-graded tessellar Betti numbers will prove to be very useful in setting up a more refined theory of spectral matrices. In Sect. 5.4.2 we exploit this idea in the setting of parabolic flows. This approach is reminiscent of the detailed connection matrix in [4]. If we again ignore the natural grading of singular homology the Morse relations will be

(4.18)
$$\sum_{[\xi]\subset\mathfrak{X}} P_{\lambda}^{\text{disc}}(G_{[\xi]}X) = P_{\lambda}^{\text{disc}}(X) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (1+\lambda^r)Q_{\lambda}^r,$$

which is obtained by setting $\mu = 1$. Note that the property for ind to be split grading is that $Q_{\lambda}^r = 0$ for $r \ge 2$. The maximal value for r in (4.18) can be utilized to further coarsen ind in order to obtain a linear discretization that is split grading.

REMARK 4.19. A similar procedure to bi-graded tessellar Betti numbers can be followed for the $X/_{\sim}$ -grading by using spectral systems, cf. [48].

REMARK 4.20. We do not refer to $C^{\text{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} G_p C^{\text{disc}}(X)$ as the skeletal differential module since it is a coarsening of the tessellar differential module. The differential is obtained by coarsening the information. This issue comes up again in the next section.

4.3. Cellular homology

Let *X* be a finite CW-complex, i.e. a compact Hausdorff space that admits a CW-decomposition map cell: $X \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$, where (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) is the poset of CW-cells with the face partial order. The *cellular differential module*, or *cellular chain complex*, denoted C^{cell} , is constructed according to the theory in Section 4.2. This coincides with the classical construction, as we outline below.

From the definition of CW-decomposition we have the composition

$$X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{cell}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{dim}} \mathbb{N}$$

which is a coarsening of the discretization cell. Since dim is order-preserving and since cell is a natural discretization, the composite discretization skel is natural and linear and thus continuous. Therefore skel defines a \mathscr{T} -consistent (not surjective) linear discretization of X. In the traditional set-up the cellular homology of X is defined in terms of the natural discretization map skel. As before define the filtering $\downarrow p \mapsto \text{skel}^{-1} \downarrow p =: F_{\downarrow p}X$ with skeletal chain complex $C^{\text{skel}}(X) :=$

 $\bigoplus_{p\in\mathbb{N}} H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow(p-1)}X).^{16} \text{ The sets } G_pX = F_{\downarrow p}X \smallsetminus F_{\downarrow(p-1)}X \text{ are a disjoint} union of$ *p* $-cells <math>|\xi|$ in *X* and the homology is given by $H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow(p-1)}X) \cong \bigoplus_{\xi\in G_p\mathfrak{X}} R\langle\xi\rangle$, where $G_p\mathfrak{X} = \dim^{-1}p$ and *R* is a principal ideal domain. Since the homologies $H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow(p-1)}X)$ are free Theorem 4.7 yields a differential (strict spectral matrix) d^{skel}: $C^{\text{skel}}(X) \to C^{\text{skel}}(X)$ such that $H^{\text{skel}}(X) \cong H(X)$. We will explain this construction now in a more detailed way.

REMARK 4.21. The above construction is the traditional way of constructing cellular homology for a finite CW-complex X. The \mathbb{N} -grading is special in the sense that if H is the singular homology functor and dim plays the role in ind in Sect. 4.2.3, then $G_pH_q(X) \neq 0$ if and only if p = q. Since all components are homeomorphic the skeletal chain complex is given by $C_q^{\text{skel}}(X) = \bigoplus_{\dim(\xi)=q} R\langle \xi \rangle$ with boundary operator d_q^{skel} with $d^{\text{skel}} = \bigoplus d_q^{\text{skel}}$. The linear discretization skel is split grading. Even though skel is natural this condition is not needed since the order is linear.

A more detailed way to treat the cellular complex is to use the face partial order (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . As in the more general tessellar case we define the cellular chain complex¹⁷ by

$$C^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) = \bigoplus_{\xi \in \mathfrak{X}} G_{\xi} C^{\operatorname{cell}}(X), \quad G_{\xi} C^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) = H(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X) \cong H^{\operatorname{BM}}(G_{\xi}X),^{18}$$

where $G_{\xi}X = |\xi|$ and its Borel-Moore homology of $G_{\xi}X$ is given by $H^{BM}(G_{\xi}X) \cong R$. The module C^{cell} is a special case of the tessellar module for the discretization map cell. The filtering $\mathcal{U} \mapsto F_{\mathcal{U}}X$, $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$, defined by cell⁻¹, consists of good pairs and yields a chain generated, excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system \mathbf{E}^{cell} as outlined in Sections 4.1.3 and 4.2. Since $G_{\xi}C^{\text{cell}}(X) \cong R$ the system \mathbf{E}^{cell} is finitely generated. We follow the procedure of Section 4.2. Theorem 4.7 yields the existence of (strict)

$$d^{cell}: C^{cell}(X) \to C^{cell}(X),$$

such that $\mathbf{E}(C^{\text{cell}}, d^{\text{cell}}) \cong \mathbf{E}^{\text{cell}}$. In particular, $H^{\text{cell}}(X) \cong H(X)$ and

(4.19)
$$H^{\operatorname{cell}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X)\cong H(F_{\mathcal{U}}X,F_{\mathcal{U}'}X)\cong H^{\operatorname{BM}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X),^{19}$$

for all $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{U}' \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$, $\mathcal{U}' \subset \mathcal{U}$. The pair $(C^{\text{cell}}, d^{\text{cell}})$ is the *cellular chain complex*. For the differential d^{cell} we express the strict upper-triangular structure by $d^{\text{cell}}(\xi, \xi') : G_{\xi'}C^{\text{cell}} \to G_{\xi}C^{\text{cell}}$ and $d^{\text{cell}}(\xi, \xi') \neq 0$ implies that $\xi < \xi'$. The following lemma follows from choice of singular homology in the definition of \mathbf{E}^{cell} .

LEMMA 4.22. If $d^{\text{cell}}(\xi, \xi') \neq 0$, then ξ' covers ξ^{20} .

¹⁶By Remark 4.12 we also have $H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow (p-1)}X) \cong H^{BM}(G_pX)$.

 $^{^{17}}$ Even though we do not utilize the \mathbb{Z} -grading of singular homology we refer to C^{cell} as chain complex as opposed to differential module since the construction is based on the singular chain complex.

¹⁸Here $\downarrow \xi^{\bullet} := (\downarrow \xi)^{\bullet}$ denotes the immediate predecessor of $\downarrow \xi$.

¹⁹For latter isomorphism on Borel-Moore homology, cf. [28, 9].

²⁰In a finite partial order ξ covers ξ if $\xi < \xi'$ and $[\xi, \xi'] = \{\xi, \xi'\}$. The pair $\{\xi, \xi'\}$ is a covering pair.

PROOF. For the singular chain complex the connecting homomorphism k_q in

$$\dashrightarrow H_q(F_{\downarrow\xi^{\bullet}}X) \xrightarrow{i_q} H_q(F_{\downarrow\xi}X) \xrightarrow{j_q} H_q(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi^{\bullet}}X) \xrightarrow{k_q} H_{q-1}(F_{\downarrow\xi^{\bullet}}X) \xrightarrow{-}$$

is degree -1 which implies that d^{cell} is also degree -1 with respect to the \mathbb{Z} -grading of singular homology, i.e. $d^{cell}(\xi, \xi') = \bigoplus d^{cell}_q(\xi, \xi')$ and $d^{cell}_q(\xi, \xi') \colon G_{\xi'}C^{cell}_q \to G_{\xi}C^{cell}_{q-1}$, cf. [21]. For the cellular chain groups it holds that

$$G_{\xi}C_q^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) = H_q\big(F_{\downarrow\xi}X, F_{\downarrow\xi}, X\big) \cong \begin{cases} R & \text{if } q = \dim\xi; \\ 0 & \text{if } q \neq \dim\xi, \end{cases}$$

Therefore, $d_q^{\text{cell}}(\xi, \xi') = 0$ unless $\dim \xi' = q$ and $\dim \xi = q - 1$.

In contrast to the general construction of Section 4.2, all of the nonzero entries $d^{cell}(\xi, \xi')$ are determined by the octahedral diagrams, i.e. the rolled out middle triangle in (4.4) (homology braid). Indeed, for a covering pair $\xi < \xi'$, with $\dim \xi' = q$, we choose a triple of down-sets (closed sets)

$$\downarrow \xi'^{\bullet} \smallsetminus \xi \subset \downarrow \xi'^{\bullet} \subset \downarrow \xi'$$

which yields $d_q^{cell}(\xi, \xi') \colon G_{\xi'}C_q^{cell} \to G_{\xi}C_{q-1}^{cell}$ given by the composition²¹

$$(4.20) \qquad H_q(F_{\downarrow\xi'}X, F_{\downarrow\xi'}X) \xrightarrow{k_q} H_{q-1}(F_{\downarrow\xi'}X) \longrightarrow H_{q-1}(F_{\downarrow\xi'}X, F_{\downarrow\xi'}X, F_{\downarrow\xi'}X).$$

where $G_{\xi'}C_q^{\text{cell}} = H_q(F_{\downarrow\xi'}X, F_{\downarrow\xi'}X)$ and $G_{\xi}C_{q-1}^{\text{cell}} = H_{q-1}(F_{\downarrow\xi'}X, F_{\downarrow\xi'}X)$. By the excisive property this construction is independent of the triple $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{U}' \subset \mathcal{U}''$ with $\xi = \mathcal{U}' \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}$ and $\xi' = \mathcal{U}'' \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'$.

Per Section 4.2.3 we consider the order-preserving map dim: $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathbb{N}$ which plays the role of ind in order to obtain an \mathbb{N} -grading of H^{cell} . For the composition skel the sets $G_p X := \text{skel}^{-1} p$ are convex. By Lemma 4.22 the differential d^{cell} acts on $G_p C^{\text{cell}}(X)$ as

$$\mathbf{d}^{\mathrm{cell}} \colon G_p C_p^{\mathrm{cell}}(X) \to G_p C_{p-1}^{\mathrm{cell}}(X).$$

If we write the restriction to $G_p C^{\text{cell}}(X)$ as d_p^{cell} then $(G_p C^{\text{cell}}, d_p^{\text{cell}})$ is a chain complex and dim is split grading for cellular homology. As a consequence dim yields the natural \mathbb{N} -grading of cellular homology.

REMARK 4.23. As in Section 4.2.2 we can define the standard Lefschetz complex and incidence numbers from the cellular homology.

REMARK 4.24. For the spectral sequence in Theorem 4.18 for dim we have that $d_{p,q}^r = 0$ for $r \ge 2$ and therefore $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r = 0$ for $r \ge 2$. Moreover, all homologies $\mathscr{E}_{p,q}^r = 0$ for $p \ne q$ and $r \le 2$. For the Morse relations this implies

$$P_{\lambda\mu}(C^{\text{cell}}) = P_{\lambda,\mu}(C^{\text{cell}}) = P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{cell}}(X) + (1+\lambda\mu)Q_{\lambda,\mu}^1 = P_{\lambda\mu}^{\text{cell}}(X) + (1+\lambda\mu)Q_{\lambda\mu}^1.$$

²¹In Franzosa's connection matrix theory these entries are called *flow defined*.

Moreover, $P_{\lambda\mu}(C^{\text{cell}}) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathfrak{X}} P_{\lambda\mu}^{\text{cell}}(\xi)$, with $P_{\lambda\mu}^{\text{cell}}(\xi) = (\lambda\mu)^q$ and $q = \dim \xi$. This yields

$$\sum_{\xi \in \mathfrak{X}} (\lambda \mu)^{\dim \xi} = P_{\lambda \mu}^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) + (1 + \lambda \mu) Q_{\lambda \mu}^{1}$$

which retrieve the standard Morse relations. The latter also follows if we use the fact that $(C^{\text{cell}}, d^{\text{cell}})$ is a chain complex.

4.4. Composite gradings and the homology for Morse pre-orders

The most important objective in chapter is to build an homology theory for the discretization map tile: $X \to SC$. In the first sections of this chapter we utilized Cartan-Eilenberg systems to discretize the algebraic topological information for arbitrary topological spaces. In this section we outline how discretization can be employed in a bi-topological setting. The objective is to use the factorization so that we can discretize two topologies: the space topology and the block-flow topology. To do so one can factor the two topologies in $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ in different ways. For example $(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \to (SC, \leq)$, or $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{-})$ $) \dashrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \to (SC, \leq)$, cf. Diagram (2.19). One can also invoke to the topology \mathscr{T}^{\dagger} in this setting. In a more general setting the bi-topological discretization of algebraic invariants can be organized via the following diagram continuous maps

$$(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}') \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant^{\dagger}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{part}} (\mathsf{P}, \leqslant),$$

where $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ is a bi-topological space, $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ an antagonistic pre-order and (P, \leq) a finite poset. The factorization via (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and (\mathfrak{X}, \leq') is given by Diagram (2.19). Recall,



We illustrate the discretization by considering one of the two topologies and the associated factorization:

(4.21)
$$(X,\mathscr{T}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{disc}} (\mathfrak{X},\leqslant) \xrightarrow{\pi} (\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim},\leqslant) \xrightarrow{\varpi} (\mathsf{P},\leqslant)$$

62

As before the discretization map tile yields a chain-generated Cartan-Eilenberg system \mathbf{E}^{tile} , cf. Sect. 4.1.3 and Sect. 4.2.1. Under the assumption that disc is natural and yields finitely generated tessellar homology the same applies to \mathbf{E}^{tile} . Define, using the singular chain complex for (X, \mathcal{T}) ,

(4.22)
$$C^{\text{tile}}(X) := \bigoplus_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X),$$

where $G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X) := H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow p}, X)$ if the latter is a free *R*-module, or else choose a free differential module $(G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X), d)$ such that

(i) $H(G_p C^{\text{tile}}, d) \cong H(F_{\downarrow p} X, F_{\downarrow p}, X);$ (ii) $G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X) \cong R^{s_p + 2r_p}$, cf. Defn. 4.8(ii).

By Theorem 4.7 there exists an O(P)-filtered differential

$$d^{\text{tile}} \colon C^{\text{tile}}(X) \to C^{\text{tile}}(X)$$

such that $\mathbf{E}(C^{\text{tile}}, d^{\text{tile}}) \cong \mathbf{E}^{\text{tile}}$, cf. Sect. 4.1.2. In particular, $H^{\text{tile}}(X) \cong H(X, \mathscr{T})$. The tessellar homology H^{tile} can also be defined for (X, \mathscr{T}') and for $(X, \mathscr{T}^{\dagger})$. These are different invariants for the discretization tile: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}') \to (\mathsf{P}, \leqslant)$. Since disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ is a natural discretization map we can utile the tessellar homology of disc. Consider the Cartain-Eilenberg system \mathbf{E}^{tile} where the *E*-terms are defined using the tessellar homology H^{disc} which isomorphic to the singular homology, i.e. $H^{\text{disc}}(G_pX) \cong H(F_{\downarrow p}X, F_{\downarrow p}, X)$. The tessellar homology for disc is defined via a $\mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}$ -graded tessellar module $C^{\text{disc}}(X) = \bigoplus_{[\xi] \in \mathfrak{X}/_{\sim}} G_{[\xi]}C^{\text{disc}}(X)$. Convex sets in P are convex sets in \mathfrak{X} and we define $G_pC^{\text{tile}}(X)$ as $H^{\text{disc}}(G_pX)$ is the latter is free. Otherwise choose $G_pC^{\text{tile}}(X)$ as explained above. In the case of field coefficient in \mathbb{K} the homology H^{disc} is free and there exists a strict P-graded differential module $(C^{\text{disc}}(X), d^{\text{disc}})$, cf. Theorem 4.7 and cf. [58].

REMARK 4.25. In the case we use field coefficients $R = \mathbb{K}$ the algorithm CON-NECTIONMATRIX [31, Algorithm 6.8], which is based on algebraic-discrete Morse theory, takes as input $(C^{\text{disc}}(X), d^{\text{disc}})$ and outputs a strict P-graded differential module $(C^{\text{tile}}(X), d^{\text{tile}})$ which is O(P)-filtered chain equivalent to the differential module $(C^{\text{disc}}(X), d^{\text{disc}})$ via O(P)-filtered chain maps $h: C^{\text{tile}}(X) \to C^{\text{disc}}(X)$ and $h': C^{\text{disc}}(X) \to C^{\text{tile}}(X)$. The O(P)-filtered chain equivalence h induces isomorphisms $\{h_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}: H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X) \to H^{\text{disc}}(G_{\beta \smallsetminus \alpha}X) \mid \alpha, \beta \in O(P)\}$ which form an isomorphism of Cartan-Eilenberg systems:²²

for all $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in O(P)$.

²²cf. [**21**, Eqn. (1.2)].

REMARK 4.26. There is a special case when disc is a quasi-isomorphism, i.e.

$$H(\text{disc}): H(X) \to H(\mathfrak{X})$$

induces an isomorphism $H(X, \mathscr{T}) \cong H(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$, where the latter is taken to be the singular homology of the finite topological space $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$. This is a situation which commonly arises in practice, e.g. disc is a CW decomposition map and $(\mathfrak{X}, \leqslant)$ is a simplicial or cubical complex.²³ In this case we interpret (4.21) as



Let $C^{\text{part}}(\mathfrak{X})$ be the tessellar P-graded differential module for part, for which \mathbf{E}^{part} is isomorphic to \mathbf{E}^{tile} given by the P-graded differential module $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ (this follows from an elementary five lemma argument), q.v. Sect. 6.2 for further discussion.

After this general interlude of bi-topological discretzation we return to the case $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. Assume that (X, \mathscr{T}) is a finite regular CW-complex and let disc = cell, part = dyn = ϖ and P = SC = $\mathscr{X}/_{\sim^{\dagger}}$, cf. (4.24). If we use the discrete space $(\mathscr{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ then the convex sets in SC are given by $\mathscr{U} \setminus \mathscr{U}', \mathscr{U}, \mathscr{U}' \in O(\mathscr{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. The homology $H^{\text{part}}(\mathscr{U} \setminus \mathscr{U}')$ is well-defined and isomorphic to $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathscr{U} \setminus \mathscr{U}'}X)$ per Remark 4.26. The homology $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathscr{U} \setminus \mathscr{U}'}X)$ is given by the relative homology $H(F_{\mathscr{U}}X, F_{\mathscr{U}'}X)$ and can be computed from a cellular chain complex. Summarizing, we have:

THEOREM 4.27. Given the composition $X \xrightarrow{\text{cell}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{dyn}} SC$. Then,

$$(4.23) \qquad H^{\rm dyn}(\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}') \cong H^{\rm tile}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X) \cong H^{\rm cell}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X) \cong H^{\rm BM}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X),$$

where $H^{BM}(G_{\mathcal{U}\setminus\mathcal{U}'}X)$ is the Borel-Moore homology of the Morse tile $G_{\mathcal{U}\setminus\mathcal{U}'}X$.

The homologies $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\setminus\mathcal{U}'}X)$ are invariants of a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. We can visualize this structure by augmenting the di-graph for (SC, \leq) by the homology $H^{\text{part}}(S) \cong H^{\text{BM}}(G_{S}X)$ at the nodes of the graph, cf. Fig. 1.5. The associated Cartan-Eilenberg system yields the homologies $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\setminus\mathcal{U}'}X)$. Such invariants can also be defined using the topologies $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ and \mathscr{T}^{\dagger} , cf. Sect. 4.5. In the forthcoming sections we will implement these ideas for a large class of flows, so-called parabolic flows, and produce algebraic-combinatorial representations of

²³Or more generally, if each f_{ξ} is a homeomorphism; such a CW complex is called regular.

its global dynamics.



REMARK 4.28. The map tile: $X \rightarrow SC$ is a discretization map and the homology H^{tile} is the tessellar homology of the discretization map tile. The two stage approach in this section allows us to compute H^{tile} from an SC-graded cellular chain complex. For any discretization ind: $SC \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ we can consider H^{tile} as a bigraded homology theory (in the case of field coefficients) as described in Section 4.2.3. The bi-graded Betti numbers/homology depend on our choice of the discretization ind. A possible choice for ind is a linear extension of SC. In Section 5.5 we consider tessellar homology for parabolic flows with a linear discretization.

Consider the diagram



where we treat tile as discretization map and ind: SC $\rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ is a linear discretization map. Then for for any convex set $\mathcal{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}'$ the Morse relations in Theorem 4.18 are given by

(4.25)
$$\sum_{\mathcal{S}\in\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'} P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) = P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (1+\lambda^r\mu)Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r.$$

The poset (SC, \leq) yields a partial order on the pairs $(S, P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_S X))$, $S \in SC$, via

(4.26)
$$\left(\mathcal{S}, P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X)\right) \leqslant \left(\mathcal{S}', P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G'_{\mathcal{S}}X)\right) \iff \mathcal{S} \leqslant \mathcal{S}'.$$

The poset of pair $(S, P_{\lambda,\mu}^{\text{tile}}(G_S X))$ is denoted by (\amalg, \leq^{\dagger}) and is called the *tessellar phase diagram* of the Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. Considering only non-trivial Poincaré polynomials yields the *pure tessellar phase diagram* $(\overline{\Pi}, \leq^{\ddagger})$, with order-embedding

$$(4.27) \qquad \qquad (\overline{\mathrm{II}}, \leqslant^{\ddagger}) \hookrightarrow (\mathrm{II}, \leqslant^{\dagger}),$$

cf. Fig. 1.4. The treatment of semi-flows up to this point is a tale of two topologies. In that setting the *p*-index in $\beta_{p,q}^{\text{tile}}$ can be thought of as a manifestation of the topology induced by the semi-flow and the *q*-index as a manifestation of the space topology.

4.5. Morse tessellations, Morse decompositions and the Conley index

For a Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ we have a Morse tessellation as given in (3.14). As a matter of fact the filtering $\mathcal{U} \mapsto F_{\mathcal{U}}X$, $\mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ defines a finite, distributive lattice $\mathsf{N} = \{F_{\mathcal{U}}X \mid \mathcal{U} \in O(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})\} \subset \mathsf{ABlock}(\varphi)$ of attracting blocks. This yields the Morse tessellation (T, \leq) given by

$$(4.28) T(\mathsf{N}) := \{T = U \smallsetminus U^{\bullet} \mid U \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{N})\}, \quad T \leqslant T' \iff U \subset U'$$

where $T = G_S X$, $U = F_{\downarrow S} X$ and $U^{\bullet} = F_{\downarrow S \smallsetminus S} X$, $S \in SC$, cf. [44]. Such a tessellation does model the 'direction' of dynamics but not the invariant dynamics. However, the compactness of the phase space (X, \mathscr{T}) does imply the existence of key invariant sets: attractors. Recall that a set $A \subset X$ is an *attractor* if there exists an attracting block U such that $A = \omega(U)$. The attractors of φ form a bounded, distributive lattice Att (φ) with binary operations $A \lor A' = A \cup A'$ and $A \land A' = \omega(A \cap A')$. The map $U \mapsto \omega(U)$ is a surjective lattice homomorphism, cf. [42]. By compactness:

$$U \in \mathsf{ABlock}(\varphi), \ U \neq \emptyset, \implies A = \omega(U) \neq \emptyset.$$

In terms of the sublattice N we obtain a sublattice $\omega \colon N \twoheadrightarrow A \subset Att(\varphi)$, where $A := \{A \in Att(\varphi) \mid A = \omega(U), U \in N\}$. In general this map need not be a isomorphism which yields an inportant conclusion: knowing N provides no insight into structure of A from information given by $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. However, topology can partly answer this question. From the map $\omega \colon N \twoheadrightarrow A$ we have the following congruence relation: $U \sim U'$ if and only if $\omega(U) = \omega(U')$. Since we cannot utilize this relation solely on the information given by $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ we use a topological principle for flows also known as *Wazewski's principle*,²⁴ cf. [12, Sect. II.2]. This can be restated as follows:

$$(4.29) U \sim U' \implies H(U, U \cap U') \cong H(U \cup U', U') \cong 0,$$

where *H* is the singular homology functor. The key representation of dynamics is via a *tessellated Morse decomposition* which we define as the dual of the homomorphism $\omega \colon \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{A}$. By Birkhoff duality we obtain an injective order preserving map $J(\omega) \colon J(\mathbb{A}) \hookrightarrow J(\mathbb{N})$. Invoking the Conley form we obtain an injection $\pi \colon \mathbb{M}(\mathbb{A}) \hookrightarrow$ $T(\mathbb{N})$, where the poset $(\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{A}), \leq)$, with $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{A}) := \{M = A - A^{\bullet} \mid A \in J(\mathbb{A})\}$, is called a *Morse representation*. The notation $A - A^{\bullet} := A \cap (A^{\bullet})^* \neq \emptyset$ is the Conley form on $\operatorname{Att}(\varphi)$, cf. [44]. As before $M \leq M'$ if and only if $A \subset A'$. The Morse sets in a Morse representation are never the empty set! Via Birkhoff duality we can given an explicit formula for the embedding π . However, from [44] there exists a left inverse to π : the unique image $M \mapsto T$ satisfies $\operatorname{Inv}(T) = M$, where $\operatorname{Inv}(T)$ is the maximal invariant sets in *T*. The latter provides a easy way to construct the embedding π . As before we do not have control over the poset set $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{A})$. Consider a Morse set M and $\pi(M) = T$. Then, for any pair $U, U' \in \mathbb{N}$ with $U \smallsetminus U' = \pi(M)$ we have

 $^{^{24}}$ To establish Wasewski's principle the continuity of φ is used a crucial way.
$Inv(U \setminus U') = \omega(U) - \omega(U') = M \neq \emptyset$ and $U \neq U'$. For the latter we can now invoke Wazewski's principle in (4.29):

$$(4.30) H(U,U \cap U') \cong H(U \cup U',U') \neq 0 \implies M = \operatorname{Inv}(U \smallsetminus U') \neq \emptyset.$$

By construction $H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X) \cong H(F_{\mathcal{U}}X, F_{\mathcal{U}'}X)$ only depends on $\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'$ which justifies the definition

(4.31)
$$HC(T) := H^{\text{tile}}(G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X), \quad T = F_{\mathcal{U}}X \smallsetminus F_{\mathcal{U}'}X,$$

and is called the *Conley index* of a Morse tile *T*, cf. [12]. In the case of a CWdecomposition via cell the Conley index *T* is given as the Borel-Moore homology of the tile *T*. The Conley index is an algebraic invariant for congruent pairs (U, U'). By construction $HC(T) \neq 0$ implies that *T* is the image of a Morse set *M* under π , i.e. $M = \text{Inv}(T) \neq \emptyset$. The Conley index in (4.31) is not only well-defined for tiles in T(N) but for any Morse tile $T = U \setminus U'$ obtained from attracting blocks $U, U' \in \mathbb{N}$.²⁵

The algebraic topological approach in this chapter is to use invariants based on the topology (X, \mathscr{T}) . Wazewski's principle allows an interpretation of the invariants that yield information about the invariant dynamics of the flow which defines the second topology $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. In the application of the theory to dynamical systems the topology (X, \mathscr{T}) is assumed to be given while the second topology $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ is not known a priori. However, for the latter we have information about discretizations $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq_{\bullet}^{-})$. This track of combining information of two topologies and invoking Wazewski's principle yields a powerful algebraic topological tool for studying invariant sets of flows. In Section 4.4 we also indicated that the tessellar homology can be defined for three topologies. The case outlined above is worked out. Invariants based on $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$ and $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ take into account the bi-topological nature of the problem. In future work we will examine these more detailed algebraic topological invariants. For the application in the forthcoming chapter and applications to Conley theory the appoach in Section 4.4 suffices.

²⁵The above arguments apply to sublattices of N such as $\emptyset \subset U \cap U' \subset U \subset X$, and $\emptyset \subset U' \subset U \cup U' \subset X$.

CHAPTER 5

Parabolic recurrence relations and flows

In the final part of this text we study a class of flows for which we demonstrate the discretization of topology and dynamics as described in the preceding chapters. The class of systems we consider are called *discrete parabolic flows*. Discrete parabolic flows and associated parabolic recurrence relations occur in various applications of dynamical systems and represent important classes of conservative dynamics as well as dissipative dynamics, cf. [66, 65, 67]. Examples of parabolic recurrence relations are discretizations of uniform parabolic PDE's, monotone twist maps and fourth order conservative differential equations, etc, cf. [25, 24]. The nature of discrete parabolic flows makes them very suitable for displaying the theory developed in this paper. The application to parabolic systems entails the definition of explicit CA-discretizations and MA-discretizations. The algebraic methods reveal a new invariant for braids and parabolic flows, q.v. Sect. 5.5.2.

5.1. Discretized braid diagrams

Braids can be treated in various ways. One way is to regard braids as a path in a two dimensional configuration space. The more hands-on way to think of braids as a collection of 'strands' between to copies of the Eucledian plane. A generic projection onto the strip $\mathbb{R} \times [0, 1]$ contains all information by tagging intersections as postive, or negative. This representation is called a *braid diagram*. In this text we consider a special class braid diagrams, piecewise linear and with positive intersections. From [24] we recall the notion of closed *discretized braid diagram*.

DEFINITION 5.1. The space of *closed discretized period d braid diagrams* on m strands, denoted \mathscr{D}_m^d , is the space of unordered collections of *strands* $x = \{x^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=0}^{m-1}$, defined as follows:

- (i) (Strands): each strand $x^{\alpha} = (x_0^{\alpha}, x_1^{\alpha}, \dots, x_d^{\alpha}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ consists of d+1 anchor points x_i^{α} ;
- (ii) (Periodicity): $x_d^{\alpha} = x_0^{\theta(\alpha)}$ for all $\alpha = 1, ..., m$, for some permutation $\theta \in S_m$ (symmetric group);
- (iii) (Non-degeneracy): for any pair of distinct strands x^{α} and $x^{\alpha'}$ such that $x_i^{\alpha} = x_i^{\alpha'}$ for some *i*, the following *transversality* condition holds

$$(x_{i-1}^{\alpha} - x_{i-1}^{\alpha'}) (x_{i+1}^{\alpha} - x_{i+1}^{\alpha'}) < 0$$

The elements $x \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ are referred to as discretized braids, or discretized braid diagrams. The spaces \mathscr{D}_m^d can be topologized as metric spaces, cf. [24], and the connected components of \mathscr{D}_m^d , called *discrete braid classes*, are denoted by [x].

REMARK 5.2. Note that the space \mathscr{D}_1^d consists of tuples $x = (x_0, \dots, x_d)$, with $x_0 = x_d$ and no additional conditions on x. Therefore, $\mathscr{D}_1^d \cong \mathbb{R}^d$ as metric spaces.

Let us start with an important invariant of discretized braids. Given a discretized braid $x \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$. Two of its strands x^{α} and $x^{\alpha'}$ intersect if

- (i) $(x_i^{\alpha} x_i^{\alpha'})(x_{i+1}^{\alpha} x_{i+1}^{\alpha'}) < 0$ for some *i*, or (ii) if for some *i*, $x_i^{\alpha} = x_i^{\alpha'}$ and $(x_{i-1}^{\alpha} x_{i-1}^{\alpha'})(x_{i+1}^{\alpha} x_{i+1}^{\alpha'}) < 0$.

Define $\iota(x^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha'}) := \#\{\text{number of intersection between } x^{\alpha} \text{ and } x^{\alpha'}\}$ as the local intersection number. Define the crossing number by

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}(x) := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \neq \alpha'} \iota(x^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha'}) \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The crossing number is an invariant for a braid classes [x], i.e. λ is constant on components $[x] \subset \mathscr{D}_m^d$.

REMARK 5.3. Generically a discrete braid has the property $x_i^{\alpha} \neq x_i^{\alpha'}$ for all *i* and for all $\alpha \neq \alpha'$. The local intersection number can be defined for generic braids by counting sign changes, i.e. indices *i* for which (i) is satisfied.

Unordered sets $x = \{x^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1}^{m}$ for which Definition 5.1(iii) is not satisfied are called *singular braids* and are denoted by Σ_m^d . Pairs of strands for which Definition 5.1(iii) is not satisfied are called *non-transverse* and the crossing number is not defined in this case. We can however consider a variation on the crossing number that is defined for both discretized braids and singular braids. Let $x \in \Sigma_m^d$ be a singular braid. Then, following [22], we define the set

$$\mathscr{S}_{\epsilon}(x) := \left\{ \tilde{x} \in \mathscr{D}_{m}^{d} \mid |\tilde{x}_{i}^{\alpha} - x_{i}^{\alpha}| < \epsilon, \; \forall i \text{ and } \forall \alpha \right\} \neq \varnothing.$$

The crossing numbers

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{-}(x) := \min_{\mathscr{S}_{\epsilon}(x)} \boldsymbol{\lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{-}(x) := \max_{\mathscr{S}_{\epsilon}(x)} \boldsymbol{\lambda}$$

are independent of ϵ provided $\epsilon > 0$ is sufficiently small and therefore are welldefined. For $x \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ the numbers $\lambda_-(x)$ and $\lambda_+(x)$ are also defined in which case $\lambda_{-}(x) = \lambda_{+}(x) = \lambda(x)$, cf. [22].

For a discrete braid *x* its *braid components* are given by the cycles of the permutation τ . The the orders of the cycles which we refer to as the *cycle orders* is another invariant for a braid class [x]. For example for $\theta \in S_5$ given by $\theta = (01)(234)$ the cycle orders are 2 and 3. We can define a special space of braids by coloring components. In this text we are interested in particular in braids with dual coloring. The space of 2-colored discretized braids $\mathscr{D}_{n,m}^d$ consists of ordered pairs (x, y), where $x = \{x^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} \in \mathscr{D}_n^d$ and $y = \{y^{\beta}\}_{\beta=0}^{m-1} \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$, and (x, y) satisfies Definition 5.1(i)-(iii). In other words $(x, y) \in \mathscr{D}_{n+m}^d$. We denote a 2-colored discretized braid by $x \operatorname{rel} y$. The canonical projection $\pi \colon \mathscr{D}_{n,m}^d \to \mathscr{D}_m^d$ given by $x \operatorname{rel} y \mapsto y$ yields the fibers $\mathscr{D}_n^d \operatorname{rel} y = \pi^{-1}(y)$. A connected component $[x] \operatorname{rel} y$ is called a *(discrete) relative braid class component* with skeleton y. A connected component $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ in \mathscr{D}_{n+m}^d is called a *(discrete) relative braid class*. The fibers $\pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]$ consist of relative braid class components $[x] \operatorname{rel} y$ and are referred to as the *(discrete) relative braid class fibers* of $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$. In most situations a braid class fiber consists of a single braid class component.

DEFINITION 5.4. A relative braid class [x rel y] is called *non-degenerate*, or *proper* if the cycle orders in x differ form the cycle orders in y. In particular, for $x \text{ rel } y \in \mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$ is proper if the cycle orders in y are all larger than 1. In latter case the *skeleton* y is also called *proper*.

If $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ is proper, then its fibers $\pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]$ are and therefore also its components [x] rel y are proper as well. For a skeleton $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ we consider the singular braids in x rel $y \in \Sigma_{n,m}^d$. Denote the fiber of singular relative braids by Σ_n^d rel $y = \pi^{-1}(y)$.

5.2. Parabolic flows

Discretized braids introduced in the previous section are intimately related to a class of recurrence relations.

DEFINITION 5.5. A *parabolic recurrence relation* (of period d > 0) is a system of equations of the form

(5.1)
$$R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1}) = 0, \quad i \in \mathbb{Z},$$

where each $R_i : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth function such that

- (i) $R_{i+d} = R_i$ for all *i*;
- (ii) $\partial_1 R_i > 0$ and $\partial_3 R_i > 0$.¹

We denote the recurrence relation by $\mathbf{R} = (R_i)$.

The following proposition establishes periodic solutions of parabolic recurrence relations as discretized braid diagrams. At a latter stage we also define associated flows which yields an even stronger symbiosis between parabolic recurrence relations and discretized braids.

PROPOSITION 5.6 (cf. [24]). Let $x = \{x^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=0}^{m-1}$ be a set of strands satisfying Definition 5.1(i)-(ii) with the property that $R_i(x_{i-1}^{\alpha}, x_i^{\alpha}, x_{i+1}^{\alpha}) = 0$, for all *i* and all α . Then, $x \in \mathcal{D}_m^d$, i.e. Definition 5.1(iii) is also satisfied. Such a discretized braid is called a stationary braid with respect to (5.1). In particular, the crossing number of x is well-defined.

¹One can weaken the monotonicity with one of the inequalities to be \geq for every *i*. For convenience in this paper we assume strict inequalities for both partial derivatives unless indicated explicitly.

Associated to a parabolic recurrence relation we consider the following system of differential equations:

(5.2)
$$\dot{x}_i = R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1}), \quad i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

The solution operator as well as the system of differential equations will be referred to as a *discrete parabolic flow*. The objective is to find *k*-periodic solutions of parabolic recurrence relations, i.e. sequences (x_i) , with $x_{i+kd} = x_i$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, which satisfies Equation (5.1). In order to build a suitable theory for periodic solutions we use the concept of discretized braids, cf. [24] Multiple periodic sequences with possible different periods may be regarded as a discretized braid diagram.

The parabolic equation in (5.2) defines a *local* flow φ on the space of 1-periodic sequences $\mathscr{D}_1^d \cong \mathbb{R}^d$ with the standard metric topology. We refer to φ as a *parabolic flow*. We say that a braid $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ is a *skeletal braid* for φ if Equation (5.1) is satisfied for all $y^{\alpha} \in y$. Shorthand notation $\mathbf{R}(y) = 0$ and y is also referred as a *skeleton* for φ . Recall that a skeleton for which the cycle orders are all larger than 1 is called a *proper skeleton*. Relative braids $x \operatorname{rel} y \in \mathscr{D}_1^d \operatorname{rel} y$ for which y is proper are proper as relative braids. In this case there is an important relation between parabolic dynamics and the crossing number invariants.

PROPOSITION 5.7 (cf. [24], [22]). Let $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ be a proper skeleton (stationary braid) for φ , i.e. all cycle orders are strictly larger than 1, and let $x \operatorname{rel} y \in \Sigma_1^d \operatorname{rel} y$. Then, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we have that

(i) $\varphi(t, x) \operatorname{rel} y \in \mathscr{D}_1^d \operatorname{rel} y \text{ for all } 0 < |t| \leq \epsilon;$ (ii) for all $-\epsilon \leq t_- < 0 < t_+ \leq \epsilon \text{ it holds that}$

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{+}(x \operatorname{rel} y) &= \boldsymbol{\lambda} \big(\varphi(t_{-}, x) \operatorname{rel} y \big) \\ &> \boldsymbol{\lambda} \big(\varphi(t_{+}, y) \operatorname{rel} y \big) = \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{-}(x \operatorname{rel} y). \end{aligned}$$

PROOF. Denote by k#y the *k*-fold covering of *y*, i.e. we take *k* concatenated copies of *y*. The braid *y* gives a permutation θ on the on the symbols $\{1, \dots, m\}$, cf. Defn. 5.1(ii). Choose *k* to be order of the permutation θ . Then, k#y consists of 1-periodic sequences for $i \in \{0, \dots, kd\}$. Moreover,

(5.3)
$$\lambda(k\#x \operatorname{rel} k\#y) = k\lambda(x \operatorname{rel} y).$$

Since $R_{i+d} = R_i$ we have that the flow φ^k generated by ψ on \mathcal{D}_1^{kd} is given by the *k*-fold covering if we choose $x \in \mathcal{D}_1^d$, i.e. $\varphi^k(t, k \# x) = k \# \varphi(t, x)$. If $x \in \Sigma_1^d$ rel y, then k # x rel $k \# y \in \Sigma_1^{kd}$ rel k # y. Let y^{α} be a strand such x and y^{α} are non-transverse. Since all cycle orders of y are larger than 1 we have that all relative braids x rel y are proper and thus $x - y^{\alpha} \neq 0$ for all α (strands don not coincide). By the main result in [22] this implies that $\iota(\varphi^k(t_-, x), k \# y^{\alpha}) > \iota(\varphi^k(t_+, x), k \# y^{\alpha})$ for all $-\epsilon \leq t_- < 0 < t_+ \leq \epsilon$. If we combine this with the crossing number for k-fold coverings we obtain

$$\sum_{\alpha} \iota \big(\varphi^k(t_-, x), k \# y^{\alpha} \big) > \sum_{\alpha} \iota \big(\varphi^k(t_+, x), k \# y^{\alpha} \big),$$

which implies that $\lambda(\varphi^k(t_-, x) \operatorname{rel} k \# y) > \lambda(\varphi^k(t_+, x) \operatorname{rel} k \# y)$ and thus

$$\lambda(k \# \varphi(t_-, x) \operatorname{rel} k \# y) > \lambda(k \# \varphi(t_+, x) \operatorname{rel} k \# y).$$

Property (5.3) then gives

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}\big(\varphi(t_{-}, x) \operatorname{rel} y\big) > \boldsymbol{\lambda}\big(\varphi(t_{+}, x) \operatorname{rel} y\big).$$

From [22, Thm. 1(ii)] it also follows that $\lambda(\varphi(t_-, x) \operatorname{rel} y) = \lambda_+(x \operatorname{rel} y)$ and $\lambda(\varphi(t_+, x) \operatorname{rel} y) = \lambda_-(x \operatorname{rel} y)$, which completes the proof

As a consequence of the above proposition we conclude that λ_+ (· rel y) is a discrete Lyapunov function for φ and the value of the Lyapunov function strictly drops at singular relative braids.

REMARK 5.8. If we do not require the cycle orders for y to be strictly larger than 1 then if x may coalesce with the 1-periodic strands in y in which case associated the singular braid is stationary and Proposition 5.7(ii) does not hold in that case. For application of these technique for improper braid classes recall [24, 67].

Besides crossing numbers and cycle orders another invariant for relative braid classes can be defined, cf. [24], and which is of algebraic topological nature. In this case we assume that the components [x] rel y are bounded as sets in \mathbb{R}^d . In Section 5.5.1 we provided an extensive account of the algebraic invariant which is also referred to as the *Braid Conley index*. The theory in [24] implies that the invariants are homotopy invariants, i.e. a homotopy $h_s(y)$ in \mathscr{D}_m^d yields isomorphic invariants. The latter is useful for choosing convenient representatives y for studying the relative braid class fibers in \mathscr{D}_1^d rel y.

5.3. Closure algebra discretizations for parabolic flows

In this section we assume that a skeleton $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ always consist of two extremal strands: define $y^- = y^0$ and $y^+ = y^{m-1}$ such that the remaining strands satisfy $y_i^- < y_i^\alpha < y_i^+$, for all $\alpha = 1, \dots, m-2$. The latter collection of strands is denoted by \mathring{y} . The skeleton y now induces a bounded cubical complex as will be explained in Section 5.3.1.

DEFINITION 5.9. Let $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ be as described above and assume that \mathring{y} is proper, cf. Defn. 5.4. We consider points x in

(5.4)
$$X = \left\{ x \in \mathscr{D}_1^d \mid y_i^- \leqslant x_i \leqslant y_i^+ \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^d,$$

which is a compact metric space with metric topology induced by \mathbb{R}^d , cf. Rem. 5.2. Let φ be a parabolic (local) flow on *X* generated by Equation (5.2) where the parabolic recurrence relation **R** satisfies **R**(*y*) = 0.

Regard $\bar{y} = \{y^-, y^+\}$ as sub-skeleton. For x equal to either y^- or y^+ the local flow φ is stationary. If $x_i = y_i^-$, or $x_i = y^+$ for at least one i, i.e. $x \in \partial X$ as subset of \mathbb{R}^d , then $x \operatorname{rel} \bar{y} \in \Sigma_1^d$ rel \bar{y} . Proposition 5.7 then implies that $\lambda(\varphi(t, x) \operatorname{rel} \bar{y}) =$

 $\lambda(x \operatorname{rel} \bar{y}) = 0$, which yields $\varphi(t, x) \in X$ for all $t \ge 0$. If we invoke the remaining strands in y the semi-flow φ will display monotone behavior with respect to relative braid classes in the spirit of a Morse tessellation as is described in the forthcoming sections. In practical terms $\varphi(t, x)$ rel y is generically contained in a relative braid and $\varphi(t, x)$ rel y can evolve from one braid class to the next and not return. Summarizing, the parabolic flows satisfy the following properties:

- (i) $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R}^+ \times X \to X$ is smooth semi-flow on X;
- (ii) the braid $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ is a skeleton for φ .

We now study parabolic flows on *X* for a fixed skeleton $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$. From this point on we assume that *y* is a skeleton as described above with \mathring{y} proper.

REMARK 5.10. The boundary strands y^- and y^+ model boundary conditions on the parabolic flow pushing in. Using alternating strands we can also model boundary condition pushing out, cf. [24]. Variations on push-in or push-out boundary conditions can be obtained by different combinations of multi-strand braids. In this paper we restrict to push-in boundary conditions modeled via the strands y^- and y^+ .

5.3.1. Discretization of the metric topology on *X*. We define a cubical complex \mathfrak{X} for *X* as follows. From the definition of *X* there exists a natural grading on *X* via co-dimension of tangencies. Define

$$G_d X := \{ x \mid x_i \neq y_i^{\alpha_i}, \forall i, \alpha \}; G_{d-k} X := \{ x \mid x_{i_1} = y_{i_1}^{\alpha_{i_1}}, \cdots, x_{i_k} = y_{i_k}^{\alpha_{i_k}}, i_1 \neq \cdots \neq i_k \},$$

where $k = 1, \dots, d$. Note that the indices α_{i_j} are not necessarily distinct. If $\alpha = \alpha_{i_1} = \dots = \alpha_{i_d}$, then $\alpha \in \{0, m-1\}$ by the definition of X and the assumption that \mathring{y} is proper. The top cells $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top} =: G_d \mathfrak{X}$ label the connected components of the set $G_d X$, which we refer to as *generic braids*. The (d - k)-dimensional cells $\xi \in G_{d-k} \mathfrak{X}$ label the connected components of the set $G_{d-k} X$, cf. Fig. 5.3(a). All cells realize as open rectangular cuboids $|\xi|$ in X and are thus homeomorphic to open k-balls in \mathbb{R}^k , k > 0. The set \mathfrak{X} of cells is forms a CW-decomposition of X, cf. Sect. 2.6.2. The map

(5.5) cell:
$$X \to \mathfrak{X}$$
, defined by cell $(x) = \xi$, for $x \in |\xi|$

is a CW-decomposition map and thus Boolean. The co-dimension provides the dimension grading of \mathfrak{X} :

dim: $X \to \mathfrak{X}$, with dim $\xi = q$ if and only if $|\xi| \in G_q X$.

The face partial order on \mathfrak{X} defines the discrete closure operator cl $\xi = \bigcup \xi$. The triple $(\mathfrak{X}, \text{cl}, |\cdot|)$ is a CA-discretization for X and the finite algebra $(\text{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \text{cl})$ is the associated closure algebra discretezation of (Set(X), cl).

Note that generically a relative braid $x \operatorname{rel} y \in \mathscr{D}_1^d \operatorname{rel} y$ is a point in a top cell $|\xi|, \xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\mathsf{T}}$. This justifies the notation $\lambda(\xi)$ as the crossing number of a top cell. The same applies to the crossing numbers λ_- and λ_+ , i.e. $\lambda_-(\xi) := \min\{\lambda(\eta) \mid$

 $\eta \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\lambda_+(\xi) := \max\{\lambda(\eta) \mid \eta \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}\}$. Define the following combined crossing number function on \mathfrak{X} :

$$\Lambda : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}, \quad \xi \mapsto \Lambda(\xi) := (\lambda_{-}(\xi), \lambda_{+}(\xi))$$



FIGURE 5.1. Skeleton *y* [left] and *y* with free strand *x* (in red) [middle]. A relative braid class component [x] rel *y* which is a top-cell in \mathfrak{X} [right].

REMARK 5.11. It is often convenient to use the following normal form for the skeleton y: for any fixed i the cross-section $(y_i^0, y_i^1, \ldots, y_i^{m-1})$ is a permutation of $\{0, 1, \ldots, m-1\}$. That is, the anchor points (y_i^{α}) are integers and take unique values between 0 and m-1. This implies that the pairs (i, y_i^{α}) lay on the integer lattice within the box $[1, d+1] \times [0, m-1]$. The cubical complex \mathfrak{X} is comprised of cells ξ which we define as follows. Consider sets $I_i^1 = (i, i+1) \subset \mathbb{R}$ for for $i \in \{0, \cdots, m-2\}$ and sets $I_i^2 = \{i\}$, for $i \in \{0, \cdots, m-1\}$. A cell ξ is given as

(5.6)
$$|\xi| = I_{i_1}^{j_1} \times I_{i_2}^{j_2} \times \ldots \times I_{i_d}^{j_d},$$

where $j_k \in \{1,2\}, i_k \in \{0, \dots, m-2\}$ for $I_{i_k}^1$ and $i_k \in \{0, \dots, m-1\}$ for $I_{i_k}^2$. Figure 5.3(a) below shows a skeleton y in normal form and Figure 5.3(b) depicts the cubical complex consisting of unit squares. We can now use the cubical complex to describe a normal form of the braid component [x] rel y with y in normal form. The dimension of a cell ξ is given by dim $\xi = \sum_{j_k \neq 2} j_k$, where the integers are determined by the representation of $|\xi|$ in (5.6).

Figure 5.1[left] above is an example of a skeleton $y \in \mathscr{D}_8^2$. Figure 5.2[left] displays the CW-decomposition in terms of cubes. Figure 5.2[left] also gives the crossing numbers $\lambda(\xi)$ for the top cells $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$.

5.3.2. Discretization of flow topologies. In the previous section we described a natural CW-decomposition to discretize the metric topology on X. We now define a second discrete topology on \mathfrak{X} via a pre-order such that the map $\Lambda \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ is order-preserving and which serves the purpose of discretizing the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$. The order on $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ is the product order, i.e. $(a, b) \leq (a', b')$ if and only if $a \leq a'$ and $b \leq b'$. We build a pre-order for discretizing $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$ in two steps:

(i) Define the (symmetric) relation $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$ as the *partial adjacency relation*

$$(\xi,\xi'), (\xi',\xi) \in \mathcal{C} \iff \xi' \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \text{ and } \xi \in \operatorname{cl} \xi'^2$$

(ii) Define the *discrete flow relation* $\psi \subset \mathcal{C}$ as follows:

$$(\xi,\xi')\in\psi\iff \Lambda(\xi)\leqslant \Lambda(\xi')$$

By construction Λ is order-preserving. Observe that $(\xi, \xi) \in \psi$ if and only if $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\perp}$. Since every relative braid and relative singular braid is associated to a unique cell ξ we devide up the cells in \mathfrak{X} into two groups, the *regular cells* $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$ and the *singular cells* $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{sing}$ which may be characterized as follows:

$$\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$$
, if and only if $\lambda(\xi) = \lambda_{-}(\xi) = \lambda_{+}(\xi)$;
 $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{sing}$, if and only if $\lambda_{-}(\xi) < \lambda_{+}(\xi)$.

The transitive closure of ψ yields the discrete derivative operator $\Gamma^+ := (\psi^+)^{-1}$ and the transitive, reflexive closure $\psi^{+=}$ defines the pre-order \leq^+ and yields the discrete closure operator $\mathbf{cl}^+ := (\psi^{+=})^{-1}$, and $\mathbf{cl}^+ = \mathrm{id} \cup \Gamma^+$.

LEMMA 5.12. The discrete closure operator cl^+ defined above satisfies the continuity condition $cl^+|\mathcal{U}| \subset |cl^+\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$.

PROOF. By Remark 3.16 it suffices to show that $\varphi(t, x) \in |\mathbf{cl}^+\xi|$ for all $t \ge 0$, for all $x \in |\xi|$ and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. Let $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$, then $\varphi(t, x) \in |\operatorname{star} \xi|$ for all $0 \le t \le \tau_x$ for some τ_x sufficiently small. If $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{reg}}$, then $\operatorname{star} \xi \subset \mathbf{cl}^+\xi^3$ and if $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{sing}}$, then $\operatorname{star} \xi \subset \mathbf{cl}^+\xi$. In the former case $\varphi(t, x) \in |\operatorname{star} \xi| \subset |\operatorname{cl}^+\xi|$ for all $0 \le t \le \tau_x$ for some τ_x sufficiently small. In the latter case we argue as follows. From Proposition 5.7 we have that $\varphi(-t, x) \in |\xi^-|$, $\varphi(t, x) \in |\xi^+|$, for all $0 < t \le \tau_x$, with $\xi^-, \xi^+ \in$ $\operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^\top$. Moreover, $\lambda(\xi^-) = \lambda_+(\xi)$ and $\lambda(\xi^+) = \lambda_-(\xi)$. This implies that

(5.7)
$$\Lambda(\xi^{-}) > \Lambda(\xi) = (\lambda_{+}(\xi), \lambda_{-}(\xi)) > \Lambda(\xi^{+}).$$

This proves that $(\xi^+, \xi) \in \psi$ and thus $\varphi(t, x) \in |\mathbf{cl}^+\xi|$ for all $0 \leq t \leq \tau_x$ for some τ_x sufficiently small.

The above arguments show that for every $x \in X$ the flow satisfies $\varphi(t, x) \in |\eta|$ for all $0 < t \leq \tau_x$ for some $\eta \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$. Let $t' > \tau_x$ be the first time that $\varphi(t', x) \in |\zeta|$ for some $\zeta \in \mathcal{X}_{sing} \cap cl \eta$. Then, by (5.7), $\Lambda(\eta) > \Lambda(\zeta)$ and thus $(\zeta, \eta) \in \psi$ and consequently $\zeta \in cl^+\xi$. We can repeat the above argument to conclude that the criterion in Remark 3.16 is satisfied for all $t \geq 0$.

REMARK 5.13. In view of Theorem 3.14, since X is compact, it suffices to prove that $\varphi(t, x) \in |\mathbf{cl}^+\xi|$ for all $0 \leq t \leq \tau_*$, some $\tau_* > 0$.

76

²In term of the face partial order this reads $\xi \leq \xi'$.

³Here **star** is associated with the discrete topology (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) given by the CW-decomposition.

⁴A cell ξ^{-} does not exist when ξ corresponds to a boundary cell for *X*.



FIGURE 5.2. Cubical complex \mathfrak{X} and values of $\lambda(\xi)$, $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^+$ [left], for the braid diagram displayed in Fig. 5.3. The outlined regions are magnified in the middle and right figures and indicate the relation ψ . On the various cells $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$ it gives the Lyapunov function Λ .

REMARK 5.14. Equation (5.7) in the above proof also implies that $(\xi, \xi^-) \in \psi$ which is equivalent to $(\xi^-, \xi) \in \psi^{-1}$. The latter implies $\varphi(-t, |\xi|) \subset |\mathbf{cl}^-\xi|$ for all $t \ge 0$ and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$, where \mathbf{cl}^- is the closure operator obtained from the opposite relation $\psi^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$.

Lemma 5.12 shows that $(\text{Set}(\mathfrak{X}), \text{cl}^+)$ is a CA-discretization for the Alexandrov topology (X, \mathscr{T}^+) defined by the parabolic flow. If we also invoke the observation that $(\xi, \xi) \in \psi$ if and only if $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^\top$ we can prove an even stronger statement.

LEMMA 5.15. The discrete derivative operator Γ^+ satisfies $\Gamma^+|\mathcal{U}| \subset |\Gamma^+\mathcal{U}|$ for all $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$.

PROOF. The proof follows along the same lines as Lemma 5.12. As pointed out in Remark 3.16 it suffices to show that $\varphi(t, x) \in |\Gamma^+\xi|$ for all t > 0, for all $x \in |\xi|$ and for all $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}$. If $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$, then either $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$, or $\Lambda(\eta) = \Lambda(\xi)$ for all all $\eta \in \operatorname{star} \xi$. If $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$, then $\varphi(t, x)$ stays in $|\xi|$ for all $0 \leq t \leq \tau_x$ for some τ_x sufficiently small and thus in $|\Gamma^+\xi|$ by the observation that $(\xi, \xi) \in \psi$ if and only if $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. The remaining case follows as before and therefore $\varphi(t, x) \in |\operatorname{star} \xi| \subset |\Gamma^+\xi|$ for all $0 \leq t \leq \tau_x$ for some τ_x sufficiently small. In particular for $0 < t \leq \tau_x$. The case $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{sing}$ follows as in the proof of Lemma 5.12.

REMARK 5.16. Note that Lemma 5.15 implies Lemma 5.12. This indicates that the decomposition $\mathbf{cl}^+ = \mathrm{id} \cup \Gamma^+$ on $\mathrm{Set}(X)$ allows a discretization $\mathbf{cl}^+ = \mathrm{id} \cup \Gamma^+$ on $\mathrm{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$ with an explicit derivative operator Γ^+ . The same conclusions hold for $\mathbf{cl}^- = \mathrm{id} \cup \Gamma^-$ defined via the opposite relation $\psi^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$.

The CA-discretizations for (X, \mathscr{T}^-) and (X, \mathscr{T}^+) are constructed according to the crossing number function Λ and are especially designed to display the behavior of φ with respect to singular braids, cf. Prop. 5.7. One can define more refined discretizations that yield more discrete forward invariant sets. The next lemma explains why we use this particular construction of CA-discretization for (X, \mathscr{T}^-) and (X, \mathscr{T}^+) .



FIGURE 5.3. Cubical complex \mathfrak{X} , λ restricted to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} and the closure operator \mathbf{cl}^{\top} induced by the relation ψ visualized as a directed graph [left]. Elements of SC with more than one top cell are outlined. Poset SC, where vertices are labeled by λ [right].

LEMMA 5.17. Let $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ be a closed, forward invariant set for ψ , i.e. $\mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and $\mathbf{cl}^+ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$. Then,

(5.8)
$$\Gamma^+ \mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}.$$

In particular, \mathcal{U} is a regular closed set in \mathfrak{X} .

PROOF. For $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$ we distinguish between $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\xi \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. We start with the latter. For $\xi \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ consider two cases: (i) $\xi \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$. Then, star $\xi \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$, and by the definition of ψ we have that $\psi^{-1}[\xi] := \{\eta \mid (\eta, \xi) \in \psi\} \subset \operatorname{star} \xi \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}^{-5}$ (ii) $\xi \in \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U} = \operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} \setminus \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U} = \operatorname{bd} \mathcal{U}$ (using the fact that $\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$). Then, star $\xi \notin \mathcal{U}$. Under the condition that $\operatorname{cl}^+ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ regular cells $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{reg}}$ satisfy the property that star $\xi \subset \mathcal{U}$. This implies that boundary cells are singular cells $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{sing}}$. As before $\psi^{-1}[\xi] \subset \operatorname{star} \xi \subset \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and thus $\psi^{-1}[\xi]$ is open. Since $\operatorname{cl}^+ \mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{U}$ also $\psi^{-1}[\xi] \subset \mathcal{U}$ which yields $\psi^{-1}[\xi] \subset \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \cap \mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$.

Consider the case $\xi \in \mathcal{U}^{\top} = \mathcal{U} \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Then, $\psi^{-1}[\xi] \subset \mathcal{U} \cap \operatorname{cl} \xi \subset \mathcal{U}$ since $\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and $\operatorname{cl}^+ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$. Let $\eta \in \psi^{-1}[\xi] \smallsetminus \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ be a cell which is not interior to \mathcal{U} , i.e. $\eta \in \operatorname{bd} \mathcal{U}$. By the same argument as before $\eta \in \mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{sing}}$ and by Equation (5.7) we have that $\Lambda(\eta) > \Lambda(\xi)$ which yields $(\xi, \eta) \in \psi$ and $(\eta, \xi) \notin \psi$. The latter contradicts the existence of boundary cells $\eta \in \psi^{-1}[\xi]$. Consequently, $\psi^{-1}[\xi] \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$, which holds for every $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$.

Iterating this procedure gives $(\psi^{-1})^k [\xi] \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}, k \ge 1$ and thus $\Gamma^+ \xi \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$, cf. Thm. 3.14. This proves that $\Gamma^+ \mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$. The realization $|\mathcal{U}|$ is a closed, forward invariant set and satisfies $\varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) \subset \operatorname{int} |\mathcal{U}|$ for all t > 0. Therefore $|\mathcal{U}|$ is thus a closed attracting block. Such sets a regular closed by Theorem 3.23. Since the CA-discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq, |\cdot|)$ is Boolean the same holds for the sets \mathcal{U} in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . \Box

From the previous consideration we propose a pre-order \leq^{\dagger} and we show that \leq^{\dagger} yields the right continuity properties with respect to cell as defined in (5.5).

⁵Note that this does not require closedness for neither of the discrete topologies.

Define the pre-order

$$(5.9) \qquad \qquad \leq^{\dagger} := \leq \lor \leq^{+}, ^{6}$$

i.e. \mathcal{U} is closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ if and only if $\mathbf{cl} \ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and $\mathbf{cl}^+ \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$.

THEOREM 5.18. The pre-order \leq^{\dagger} defines a Morse pre-order for $(X, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$, i.e. the maps

cell:
$$(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}), \text{ and } cell: (X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \geq^{\dagger}),$$

are continuous.

PROOF. To proof the above statement we need to show that for $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ the pre-image cell⁻¹ $\mathcal{U} = |\mathcal{U}|$ is closed in (X, \mathscr{T}) and open in $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet})$. Let \mathcal{U} be closed in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. Then, cl $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and cl⁺ $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ which implies that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is closed in (X, \mathscr{T}) . By Lemma 5.17

$$\varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) \subset \bigcup_{t>0} \varphi(t, |\mathcal{U}|) = \mathbf{\Gamma}^+ |\mathcal{U}| \subset |\mathbf{\Gamma}^+ \mathcal{U}| \subset |\operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}| = \operatorname{int} |\mathcal{U}|, \ \forall t > 0,$$

which, by Lemma 3.7, proves that $|\mathcal{U}|$ is open in $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$.

The above theorem shows that sets that are closed in both discrete topologies are closed attracting blocks and therefore $\leq \lor \leq^+ = \leq^\dagger$ defines a Morse pre-order for parabolic flows with skeleton y and which is an antagonistic coarsening of discretizations for both \mathscr{T} and $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{\bullet}$, cf. Sect. 2.5, i.e. take \leq^\dagger and \geq^\dagger respectively.

REMARK 5.19. If $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ is a closed, backward invariant set for ψ , i.e. cl $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$ and cl⁻ $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}$. Then, $\Gamma^{-}\mathcal{U} \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{U}$. The arguments in the proof of Lemma 5.17 remain unchanged if we replace ψ with ψ^{-1} . For the latter we use the first part of the inequality in (5.7). This proves the same statement for closed, backward invariant sets.

REMARK 5.20. From the previous consideration we can define a discretization of the block-flow topology $\mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}$. Using the relation ψ as defined above we have the derivative operators $\Gamma^{-}, \Gamma^{+} : \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \operatorname{Set}(\mathfrak{X})$. Define the discrete operator $\Gamma_{\bullet}^{-} := \Gamma^{-} \operatorname{cl}$. Since Γ^{-} gives a DA-discretization for the Alexandrov topology \mathscr{T}^{-} we have by Remark 3.16 that

$$\varphi(-t, \mathbf{cl} |\xi|) = \varphi(-t, |\mathbf{cl} \xi|) \subset |\mathbf{\Gamma}^{-}\mathbf{cl} \xi| = |\mathbf{\Gamma}_{\bullet}^{-}\xi|, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

The discrete operator Γ_{\bullet}^{-} satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3.13 and therefore $\mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}$: Set $(\mathfrak{X}) \to$ Set (\mathfrak{X}) , given by Lemma 3.13 defines a CA-discretization for $(X, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-})$. The antagonistic coarsening of $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathbf{cl}, \mathbf{cl}_{\bullet}^{-}, |\cdot|)$ is the pre-order \leq^{\dagger} in (5.9).

The following lemma gives a characterization of the transitive, reflexive closure of ψ .

⁶The meet of two pre-orders is defined as the transitive closure of the union of the two relations, i.e. $\leq \lor \leq^+ := (\leq \lor \leq^+)^+$.

LEMMA 5.21. $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=}$ if and only if there exist cells $\xi_0, \dots \xi_\ell$, with $\xi_0 = \xi$, $\xi_\ell = \xi'$ and $(\xi_i, \xi_{i+1}) \in \mathfrak{X}^\top \times G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X}$, or $(\xi_i, \xi_{i+1}) \in G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}^\top$, such that

(5.10)
$$(\xi_0,\xi_1), (\xi_1,\xi_2), \cdots, (\xi_{\ell-2},\xi_{\ell-1}), (\xi_{\ell-1},\xi_\ell) \in \psi.$$

PROOF. We prove the lemma in one direction since (5.10) trivially implies $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=}$. We may assume without loss of generality that $\xi, \xi' \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \xi \neq \xi'$. Indeed, if $\xi \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ then $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$, or $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{sing}$. For the former we can choose $\tilde{\xi} \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $\Lambda(\tilde{\xi}) = \Lambda(\xi)$, and for the latter case $\lambda_{-}(\xi) < \lambda_{+}(\xi)$. Therefore we can choose $\tilde{\xi} \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $(\lambda_{-}(\xi), \lambda_{-}(\xi)) = \Lambda(\tilde{\xi}) < \Lambda(\xi) = (\lambda_{-}(\xi), \lambda_{+}(\xi))$. We can thus choose $\tilde{\xi} \in \operatorname{star} \xi \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $\Lambda(\tilde{\xi}) \leq \Lambda(\xi)$. Similarly, if $\xi' \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ we can choose $\tilde{\xi}' \in \operatorname{star} \xi' \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $\Lambda(\xi) \leq \Lambda(\tilde{\xi}')$.

By definition $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi$ if (a) $\xi' \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\xi \in \mathbf{cl} \xi'$, or (b) $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\xi' \in \mathbf{cl} \xi$, or (c) $\xi = \xi'$ which we may exclude in the proof. Consequently, $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=}$ implies the existence of

$$(\xi, \eta_0), (\eta_0, \sigma_1), \cdots, (\sigma_{k-1}, \eta_{k-1}), (\eta_{k-1}, \xi') \in \psi,$$

with $\eta_j \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\sigma_j \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. The lemma is proved if we prove (5.10) for the case $(\sigma, \eta), (\eta, \sigma') \in \psi, \sigma, \sigma' \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\eta \notin \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$. Assume without loss of generality that $\eta \in G_k \mathfrak{X}, k < d - 1$. By the definition of ψ it holds that $\Lambda(\sigma) \leq \Lambda(\eta) \leq \Lambda(\sigma')$, which is equivalent to

$$(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\sigma), (\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\sigma))) \leq (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{-}(\eta), (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{+}(\eta))) \leq (\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\sigma'), (\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\sigma'))).$$

Since $\lambda_{-}(\eta)$ is minimal over star $\eta \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ and $\lambda_{+}(\eta)$ is maximal over star $\eta \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ it follows that $\lambda(\sigma) = \lambda_{-}(\eta) \leq \lambda_{+}(\eta) = \lambda(\sigma')$. Moreover, every $\sigma'' \in \operatorname{star} \eta \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ satisfies $\lambda(\sigma) \leq \lambda(\sigma'') \leq \lambda(\sigma')$. Choose $\sigma'' \in \operatorname{star} \eta \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ such that $\operatorname{cl} \sigma \cap \operatorname{cl} \sigma'' \cap G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X} \neq \emptyset$ and let $\eta' \in G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X}$ be the unique cell in $\operatorname{cl} \sigma \cap \operatorname{cl} \sigma'' \cap G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X}$. Then, $\Lambda(\sigma) \leq \Lambda(\eta') \leq \Lambda(\sigma'') \leq \Lambda(\sigma')$ and $(\sigma, \eta'), (\eta', \sigma'') \in \psi$. Observe that $\operatorname{cl} \sigma'$ and $\operatorname{cl} \sigma''$ intersect in a cell $\tilde{\eta} \in \operatorname{star} \eta$ with $\Lambda(\sigma'') \leq \Lambda(\tilde{\eta}) \leq \Lambda(\sigma')$ and $\operatorname{star} \tilde{\eta} \subset \operatorname{star} \eta$. Now repeat the above steps by using the cells in star $\eta \cap \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ at most once. This process terminates after finitely many steps, proving the lemma.

THEOREM 5.22. The partial equivalence classes of $\psi^{+=}$ correspond to the discrete relative braid class components in \mathscr{D}_1^d rel y for a given skeleton y.

PROOF. We distinguish regular and singular cells. Every regular cell ξ determines a discrete relative braid. This assignment is not one-to-one in general. Let the braid class component [x] rel y be the connected component of x rel y for some $x \in |\xi|$. Any point x' rel $y \in [x]$ rel y corresponds to a cell $\xi' \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$, with $x \in |\xi'|$. Let $\gamma: [0,1] \rightarrow [x]$ rel y be a path joining x and x'. Then, $\gamma(s) \in |\xi_s| \subset [x]$ rel y, $\xi_s \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$ for all $s \in [0,1]$. If $\xi \in \mathcal{X}_{reg}$, then star $\xi \subset \mathcal{X}_{reg}$ and $\Lambda(\eta) = \Lambda(\xi)$ for all $\eta \in \operatorname{star} \xi$. Therefore, the set $\bigcup_{s \in [0,1]} |\operatorname{star} \xi_s|$ is an open covering of γ . Since $\Lambda(\operatorname{star} \xi_s)$ is constant for all s, the compactness of path γ implies that Λ is constant on $\bigcup_{s \in [0,1]} \operatorname{star} \xi_s$ and in particular $\Lambda(\xi) = \Lambda(\xi')$. The path also yields a chain ξ_i satisfying (5.10) which proves, using Lemma 5.21, that $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=}$. Since this

holds for any two relative braids in [x] rel y we conclude that the set of all cells \mathcal{U} with $|\mathcal{U}| = [x]$ rel y is contained in a partial equivalence class of $\psi^{+=}$. Conversely, equivalent cells belong to the same braid class component which proves that the braid class components are realized by the partial equivalence classes of $\psi^{+=}$. \Box

From the theory in Section 3.4 we have that \leq^{\dagger} restricted to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} defines a condensed Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$. The condensed Morse pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}^{\top}, \leq^{\top})$ can be characterized as follows. We define a relation ψ^{\top} on \mathfrak{X}^{\top} in two steps.

- (i) Let $\mathcal{C}^{\top} \subset \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ be the (symmetric) *adjacency relation* given by
 - $(\xi,\xi') \in \mathcal{C}^{\top} \iff G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X} \cap \operatorname{cl} \xi \cap \operatorname{cl} \xi' \neq \emptyset \quad \text{and} \quad \xi \neq \xi',$

i.e. $(\xi, \xi') \in \mathcal{C}^{\top}$ if and only if the cells $||\xi||$ and $||\xi'||$ intersect along a (d-1)-dimensional face.⁷

(ii) Let $\psi^{\top} \subset \mathcal{C}^{\top}$ be defined as follows:

$$(\xi,\xi')\in \psi^{ op}\iff \lambda(\xi)\leqslant\lambda(\xi'),$$

cf. Fig. 5.3[left] and [right].

THEOREM 5.23. The transitive, reflexive closure $\psi^{\top^{+=}}$ is the restriction \leq^{\top} of \leq^{\dagger} to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} . In other words, $\psi^{\top^{+=}}$ is a condensed Morse pre-order for φ .

PROOF. Let $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{\top}$, then ξ and ξ' are adjacent top cells and $\lambda(\xi) \leq \lambda(\xi')$. By definition there exists a unique cell $\eta \in G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X} \cap \operatorname{cl} \xi \cap \operatorname{cl} \xi'$, and star $\eta = \{\eta, \xi, \xi'\}$. The Lyapunov functions for these cells are given by $\Lambda(\xi) = (\lambda(\xi), \lambda(\xi))$, $\Lambda(\eta) = (\lambda(\xi), \lambda(\xi'))$ and $\Lambda(\xi') = (\lambda(\xi'), \lambda(\xi'))$. Consequently, $\Lambda(\xi) \leq \Lambda(\eta) \leq \Lambda(\xi')$ and thus $(\xi, \eta), (\eta, \xi') \in \psi$. By definition $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{\top + =}$ is equivalent to pairs

$$(\xi_0,\xi_1),\cdots,(\xi_{\ell-1},\xi_\ell)\in\boldsymbol{\psi}^\top$$

with $\xi_0 = \xi$ and $\xi_k = \xi'$. Therefore, $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{\top + =}$ implies $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=}$. We obtain the inclusion, $\psi^{\top + =} \subset \psi^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top})$.

Conversely, let $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top})$. By Lemma 5.21 there exist $\xi_0, \dots, \xi_{2\ell}$, with $\xi_0 = \xi$ and $\xi_{2\ell} = \xi'$, such that (5.10) holds. This yields

$$(\xi_{2i},\xi_{2i+2}) \in \psi^{\top}, \quad i = 0, \cdots, \ell - 1,$$

which implies that $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{\top +=}$. This provides the opposite inclusion $\psi^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top}) \subset \psi^{\top +=}$ and thus $\psi^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top}) = \psi^{\top +=}$.

Since \leq restricted to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} is an anti-chain the restriction of \leq^{\dagger} to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} is equal to the restriction of \leq^{+} to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} , i.e. $\psi^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top})$. Therefore, the restriction of \leq^{\dagger} to \mathfrak{X}^{\top} is equal to $\psi^{\top}^{+=} \cap (\mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top})$, which completes the proof.

By Theorem 5.23 the transitive, reflexive closure $\psi^{\top^{+=}}$ is a closure operator on \mathfrak{X}^{\top} , i.e. $\mathbf{cl}^{\top} = (\psi^{\top^{+=}})^{-1}$, and is thus a condensed Morse pre-order for φ . By Theorem 5.22 the braid class components correspond to the partial equivalence classes of $\psi^{+=}$ and therefore with the partial equivalence classes of $\psi^{\top^{+=}}$. By the

⁷Recall that $G_{d-1}\mathfrak{X}$ is the skeleton of co-dimension one cells in \mathfrak{X} .

order-preserving map dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathsf{SC}, \leq)$ given in (3.18) we obtain the partial equivalence classes of \leq^{\dagger} . The interior yields the braid class components: the open sets int $|dyn^{-1}\mathcal{S}|, \mathcal{S} \in \mathsf{SC}$, describe all discrete braid class components. The advantage of $|dyn^{-1}\mathcal{S}|$ is that its Borel-Moore homology gives its Conley index via $H^{\text{tile}}(\mathcal{S})$. Another way to retrieve the braid class components from \leq^{\top} is to use Section 3.4.2. In this way we obtain the closures of the braid class components. This way one cannot immediately determine its Conley index

In the next section we carry out a specific analysis for a number of examples of parabolic systems.

5.4. Recipe for global decompositions

In this section we apply the methodology of this text to parabolic flows in combination with the theory of discretized braids. This application will use all of the ingredients described in the previous chapters. We also place an emphasis on the computational aspects and highlight how these can be carried out in practice. The goal is to obtain a Morse pre-order for a discrete parabolic flow φ , which encodes the directionality of φ , from which we can determine a (graded) tessellar differential module, a graded representation (connection matrix), and a tessellar phase diagram, whose structures reveal information about the invariance and connecting orbits of φ .

Section 5.4.1 outlines the general recipe for computing a Morse pre-order and a graded representation applied to parabolic flows. In order to make use of the algorithm CONNECTIONMATRIX of [31], we also assume that we work with homology over fields. Section 5.4.2 is specific to parabolic flows, and introduces parabolic Betti numbers/homology using the lap number grading.

5.4.1. Computing Morse pre-orders and tessellar chain complexes. We divide the computations into three appropriate steps: topologization, discretization and algebraization. These steps use the tools of graph theory and computational algebraic topology.⁸

5.4.1.1. *Topologization.* (a) The space of *d*-periodic sequences is a cube in \mathbb{R}^d and is given the standard metric topology. The block-flow topology given by a parabolic flow is derived from the backward image operator as explained in Section 5.3. The idea in Section 3 is to construct a pre-order that discretizes both the metric topology as well as the block-flow topology. This is carried out such that CW-discretization map cell: $X \rightarrow \hat{X}$ has the right continuity properties.

⁸These computations can be set up for a given skeleton using the open-source software package PYCHOMP [33]. Of note is that the software is very efficient, and can calculate condensed Morse preorders and connection matrices for examples of parabolic flows with $|\mathfrak{X}| \approx 2.5 \times 10^{10}$, and $|SC| \approx 6.2 \times 10^4$, cf. [32]. More details on the software and algorithms, in addition to timing information for computational experiments, can be found in [31, 32].

5.4.1.2. *Discretization.* We breakdown discretization into steps (b)–(f); steps (b)–(d) are represented in Fig.'s 5.1-5.2 and step (e) in Fig. 5.3.

(b) For parabolic flows we use specific discretizations that are compatible with the braid classes for a given skeleton y, i.e., the top-cells \mathfrak{X}^{\top} correspond to generic braids given by $G_d X$. For a given skeletal braid $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ that is stationary for φ and for which \mathring{y} is proper, the phase space is given by Equation (5.4). Following the representation in Remark 5.11 we represent y in normal form⁹ which yields a cubical CW-decomposition \mathfrak{X} with the appropriate number of cubes, q.v. Fig. 5.3.

(c) The top cells $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ of the cubical CW-decomposition described in (a) correspond to the subsets $|\xi| \subset G_d X$ of generic braids $x \operatorname{rel} y \in \mathscr{D}_1^d \operatorname{rel} y$, cf. Sect. 5.3.1. For the top cells we determine the symmetric adjacency relation $\mathfrak{C}^{\top} \subset \mathfrak{X}^{\top} \times \mathfrak{X}^{\top}$ as described in Section 5.3.2.

(d) For every generic braid diagram $x \operatorname{rel} y$ the crossing number $\lambda(x \operatorname{rel} y) = \lambda(\xi) \in \mathbb{N}$ is well-defined and can be given as the crossing number $\lambda(\xi)$ of the unique top cell representating $x \operatorname{rel} y$. From the description in Section 5.3.2 we obtain the generating relation $\psi^{\top} \subset \mathcal{C}^{\top}$ for the condensed Morse pre-order \leq^{\top} via $(\xi, \xi') \in \psi^{\top}$ if and only if $\lambda(\xi) \leq \lambda(\xi')$.

(e) For the relation ψ^{\top} we compute the poset of strongly connected components (SC, \leq). This can be done in time $O(|\mathfrak{X}^{\top}| + |\psi^{\top}|)$ using Tarjan's algorithm [64].¹⁰ The elements $\mathcal{S} \in$ SC correspond to discrete braid class components via int $|\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{S}|$, where cl is closure in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) and int is interior in (X, \mathcal{T}) .

(f) We use the formula for the map dyn: $\mathfrak{X} \twoheadrightarrow \mathsf{SC}$ given by Theorem 3.29 to reconstruct the pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. The partial equivalence classes of \leq^{\dagger} are given by dyn⁻¹ \mathcal{S} . Note that $\operatorname{cl} \operatorname{dyn}^{-1}\mathcal{S} = \operatorname{cl} \mathcal{S}$. The difference between dyn^{-1} \mathcal{S} and $\operatorname{cl} \mathcal{S}$ is that the former is convex in $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ and thus locally closed in (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) . This implies that $|\operatorname{dyn}^{-1}\mathcal{S}|$ is locally compact, and that the Borel-Moore homology is well-defined and can be computed via the cellular homology. The pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ defines a Morse tessellation. The Morse tiles are given by the formula $|\operatorname{dyn}^{-1}\mathcal{S}| = G_{\mathcal{S}}X$, cf. Eqn. (4.23). Having the pre-order $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ now establishes the discretization map}

$$X \xrightarrow{\text{cell}} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\text{dyn}} \mathsf{SC}$$

which also induces a non-trivial grading of *X*.

5.4.1.3. *Algebraization*. The steps (a)–(f) yield the cubical CW-decomposition \mathfrak{X} , the poset (SC, \leq) and the map dyn: $\mathfrak{X} \rightarrow$ SC.

(g) The CW-decomposition map cell: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \rightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ together with the map dyn: $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq) \rightarrow (SC, \leq)$ form an SC-graded cell complex, cf. [31], which is the input for the algorithm CONNECTIONMATRIX of [31].

⁹None of the results here are affected by choosing a normal form because all skeleta are homotopic, cf. [24].

¹⁰Note that without a condensed Morse pre-order it would take time $O(|\mathfrak{X}| + |\leq^{\dagger}|)$ to compute the poset SC.

$$0 \rightarrow \bigoplus_{i \in \{6,8,10\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{d_1} \bigoplus_{i \in \{0,1,3,4\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \rightarrow 0, \quad d_1 = \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{S}_6 & \mathcal{S}_8 & \mathcal{S}_{10} \\ \mathcal{S}_0 & \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \\ \mathcal{S}_4 \end{array} \right) \end{array}$$

FIGURE 5.4. Graded tessellar differential module $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ for the example in Figure 5.1[left]. The differential d^{tile} is computed using \mathbb{Z}_2 coefficients [right].

As output, we obtain the graded tessellar differential module $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$, as described in Section 4.4, cf. Fig. 5.4. In particular, we obtain the Borel-Moore homologies $H^{\text{BM}}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X)$, and all Borel-Moore homologies are finitely generated. In general the time complexity of this step is $O(|\mathfrak{X}|^3)$, however in practice it is linear [32].

(h) Since the homology is computed over a field, i.e. $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}_2$, it is completely described by its Betti numbers/Poincaré polynomials. We visualize the ensemble of Morse pre-order and tessellar differential module by augmenting the Hasse diagram for SC by providing the Borel-Moore Poincaré polynomials of the Morse tiles $G_S X$. This visualization of the tessellar phase diagram (Π , \leq^{\dagger}) in given in Figure 5.5, cf. Sect. 4.4.



FIGURE 5.5. Tessellar phase diagram for (II, \leq^{\dagger}) for the example in Figure 5.1. The elements in (SC, \leq) are labeled with the natural numbers. Elements $S \in SC$ with trivial tessellar homology are indicated only by label.

This structure is an algebraic and combinatorial description of the global dynamics of φ , encoding both the directionality and the invariance. We can also display the tessellar differential (connection matrix data), although in practice we regard this as a separate, queryable data structure which lives over the tessellar phase diagram. The pure tessellar phase diagram is obtained by the subposet of vertices with non-trivial homology, cf. Fig. 5.6.



FIGURE 5.6. The pure tessellar phase diagram $(\overline{II}, \leq^{\ddagger})$ for the example in Figure 5.1.

5.4.2. Lap number grading and parabolic homology. From this point on we use field coefficients $R = \mathbb{K}$. In the above calculations we compute the tessellar homology associated with the discretization tile: $X \rightarrow SC$. The elements of SC represent discretized braid class components and therefore the crossing number $\lambda(S) \in 2\mathbb{N}$ is well-defined for all $S \in SC$, i.e. we have an order-preserving map $S \mapsto \frac{1}{2}\lambda(S)$. The latter may be regarded as a discretization map and will be denoted by lap: $SC \rightarrow \mathbb{N}$. This yields the following factorization

~ ~

(5.11)
$$X \xrightarrow{\text{tile}} \mathbb{N}$$

where pb: $X \to \mathbb{N}$ is the composition of tile and lap. By the same token as before the discretization lap yields an \mathbb{N} -graded differential module/chain complex $(C^{\text{tile}}, d^{\text{tile}})$ and an \mathbb{N} -grading of the tessellar homology H^{tile} . Following the procedure in Section 4.2.3 we have:

DEFINITION 5.24. The scalar discretization lap: $SC \rightarrow \mathbb{N}$ yields a bi-graded homology theory for H^{tile} which is be denoted by

(5.12)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}(X) := G_p H_q^{\text{tile}}(X), \quad p, q \in \mathbb{N},$$

and will be referred to as the *parabolic homology*.¹¹

The parabolic homology is defined for all sets $G_{\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X$, with $\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'$ convex in (SC, \leq) . In particular, if we restrict to the convex sets $\{S\}$ in (SC, \leq) we obtain

(5.13)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) = \begin{cases} H_q^{BM}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) & \text{for } p = \log G_{\mathcal{S}}X; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

¹¹The definition of the parabolic homology and the bi-grading uses the fact that we use field coefficients. In general we only obtain bi-graded Betti numbers.

For convex sets $\mathcal{U} \smallsetminus \mathcal{U}' \subset \mathfrak{X}$ we have:

$$\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X) = \sum_{p,q\in\mathbb{N}} \left(\operatorname{rank} \vec{H}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus\mathcal{U}'}X)\right) \lambda^p \mu^q$$

and $P_{\lambda,\mu}(C^{\text{tess}}(G_{\mathcal{U}\smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'}X)) = \sum_{\mathcal{S}\in \mathcal{U}\smallsetminus \mathcal{U}'} \sum_{p,q\in\mathbb{N}} (\text{rank } \vec{H}_{p,q}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X))\lambda^p \mu^q$. The Morse relation from Theorem 4.18 yield

(5.14)
$$\sum_{\mathcal{S}\in\mathsf{SC}}\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(G_{\mathcal{S}}X) = \vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(X) + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (1+\lambda^r\mu)Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r,$$

with $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^r \ge 0$.

The matrices below describe the tessellar differential with q and p grading respectively for the skeleton y in Figure 5.1.

	$\mathcal{S}_0 \mathcal{S}_1 \mathcal{S}_3 \mathcal{S}_4$	\mathcal{S}_6	\mathcal{S}_8	\mathcal{S}_{10}		$\mathcal{S}_0 \mathcal{S}_1$	\mathcal{S}_3	\mathcal{S}_4	\mathcal{S}_6	\mathcal{S}_8	\mathcal{S}_{10}
\mathcal{S}_0	(1	0	0 \	\mathcal{S}_0	(0	0	1	0	0 \
\mathcal{S}_1		0	0	1	\mathcal{S}_1		0	0	0	0	1
\mathcal{S}_3		1	1	0	\mathcal{S}_3				1	1	0
\mathcal{S}_4		0	1	1	\mathcal{S}_4				0	1	1
\mathcal{S}_6					\mathcal{S}_6						
\mathcal{S}_8					\mathcal{S}_8						
\mathcal{S}_{10})	\mathcal{S}_{10}	()

Using $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}_2$ the left matrix is d^{tile} as chain complex boundary for $C^{\text{tess}}(X) = \bigoplus_{q \in \{0,1\}} C_q^{\text{tile}}(X)$, with

$$C_0^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{i \in \{0,1,3,4\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle, \text{ and } C_1^{\text{tess}}(X) = \bigoplus_{i \in \{6,8,10\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle.$$

The right matrix is d^{tile} as differential for the \mathbb{Z} -graded vector space $C^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \in \{0,1,2\}} G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X)$, with

$$G_0C^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{i \in \{0,1\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle, \ G_1C^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{i \in \{3,4\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle, \ G_2C^{\text{tile}}(X) = \bigoplus_{i \in \{6,8,10\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle$$

Figure 5.4 depicts $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ as chain complex and Figure 5.7 below depicts $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ the differential vector space. If we determine the parabolic homology of the sets

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i \in \{6,8,10\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}} \bigoplus_{i \in \{3,4\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}} \bigoplus_{i \in \{0,1\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_i \rangle \to 0$$

FIGURE 5.7. The tessellar differential module $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ with the terms of the tessellar differential acting on the different groups $G_p C^{\text{tile}}(X)$, p = 0, 1, 2.

 $S \in SC$ in Figure 5.1 we obtain a refinement of the reduced tessellar phase given in Figure 5.8. To compute the bi-graded homology we use the spectral recurrence procedure. To illustrate the lap number grading we start with computing $\vec{H}_{p,q}(X)$ for all p, q. Recall that $G_p X$ is a convex set and is the union of braid classes with lap number p and $F_{\downarrow p} X$ is the union of braid classes with lap number less or equal to p. We compute the homologies from the chain complex (C^{tile} , d^{tile}). We have the following short exact sequences:

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to F_{\downarrow 0} C_0^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{i_{0,0}} F_{\downarrow 1} C_0^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{1,0}} G_1 C_0^{\text{tile}} \to 0; \\ 0 &\to F_{\downarrow 1} C_0^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{i_{1,0}} F_{\downarrow 2} C_0^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{2,0}} G_2 C_0^{\text{tile}} \to 0; \\ 0 &\to F_{\downarrow 1} C_1^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{i_{1,1}} F_{\downarrow 2} C_1^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{2,1}} G_2 C_1^{\text{tile}} \to 0, \end{split}$$

and the isomorphisms

$$F_{\downarrow 0}C_0^{\mathrm{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{0,0}} G_0 C_0^{\mathrm{tile}}, \quad F_{\downarrow 1}C_1^{\mathrm{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{1,1}} G_1 C_1^{\mathrm{tile}} \cong 0, \quad G_2 C_0^{\mathrm{tile}} \cong 0.$$

The vector spaces are generated by the non-trivial classes given in Figure 5.4. To build the spectral sequence we have have page 1: $E_{0,0}^1 = H_0^{\text{tile}}(G_0X) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2^2$, $E_{1,0}^1 = H_0^{\text{tile}}(G_1X) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2^2$ and $E_{2,1}^1 = H_1^{\text{tile}}(G_2X) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2^3$, cf. Sect. 4.2.3. Furthermore, $E_{0,1}^1$, $E_{1,0}^1$, $E_{1,0}^1$, $E_{1,1}^1$, $E_{2,2}^1$ and $E_{p,q}^1$, for p, q > 2, are trivial. The relevant spectral sequences are:

$$0 \to E_{2,1}^1 \xrightarrow{d_{2,1}^1} E_{1,0}^1 \to 0, \quad 0 \to E_{2,1}^1 \xrightarrow{d_{1,1}^1} E_{1,0}^1 \to 0,$$

where $E_{1,1}^1 = 0$ and $d_{1,1}^1 = 0$. The differential $d_{2,1}^1$ can be determined from the above data. From the the third short exact sequence above we have

$$\cdots \to H_1^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 1}X) \xrightarrow{i_{1,1}} H_1^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 2}X) \xrightarrow{j_{2,1}} H_1^{\text{tile}}(G_2X) \xrightarrow{k_{2,1}} H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 1}X) \to \cdots,$$

where $k_{2,1}$ is the connecting homomorphism. The vector space $E_{2,1}^1$ is given by $d_1(\mathcal{U}): G_2C_1^{\text{tile}} \to G_1C_0^{\text{tile}}$, where $d_1(\mathcal{U})$, with $\mathcal{U} = \text{lap}^{-1}2$, is the zero matrix. Let $\gamma = (a, b, c) \in \bigoplus_{i \in \{6,8,10\}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle S_i \rangle$ be a cycle. Then, the inverse image under $j_{2,1}$ is the same element $\gamma \in F_{\downarrow 2}C_1^{\text{tile}}$. Apply d^{tile} , i.e. $d_1\gamma = (a, c, a + b, b + c) \in F_{\downarrow 1}C_0^{\text{tile}}$, which is also the homology class in $H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 1}X)$. This calculation yields: $k_{2,1} = d_1$. From the the first short exact sequence above we have

$$0 \to H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 0}X) \xrightarrow{i_{0,0}} H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 1}X) \xrightarrow{j_{1,0}} H_0^{\text{tile}}(G_1X) \to 0,$$

where the map $j_{1,0}$ is given by $(a, b, c, d) \mapsto (0, 0, c, d)$. The differential $d_{2,1}^1$ is given by $d_{2,1}^1 = j_{1,0} \cdot k_{2,1}$ and

$$\mathbf{d}_{2,1}^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 1 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} : \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{3} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{2}.$$

The next page of the spectral sequence yields the vector spaces

$$E_{2,1}^2 = \ker d_{2,1}^1 \cong \mathbb{Z}_2, \ E_{1,0}^2 = \frac{\mathbb{Z}_2^2}{\operatorname{im} d_{2,1}^1} \cong 0, \ E_{1,1}^2 = 0, \ E_{0,0}^2 \cong \frac{\mathbb{Z}_2^2}{\operatorname{im} d_{1,1}^1} \cong \mathbb{Z}_2^2.$$

To complete the lap number grading of tessellar homology we compute the third page of the spectral sequence. The remaining spectral sequence is

$$0 \to E_{2,1}^2 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{2,1}^2} E_{0,0}^2 \to 0,$$

where the differential $d_{2,1}^2$ is computed as follows. From the theory of spectral sequences we have that $d_{2,1}^2 = j_{0,0} \cdot i_{0,0}^{-1} \cdot k_{2,1}$. Let $\gamma = (a, a, a) \in E_{2,1}^2$, then $k_{2,1}\gamma = (a, a, 0, 0) \in E_{1,0}^1 = H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_1X)$. Under $i_{0,0}^{-1}$ we obtain $i_{0,0}^{-1}(a, a, 0, 0) = (a, a) \in H_0^{\text{tile}}(F_{\downarrow 0}\mathfrak{X})$. Since $F_{\downarrow 0}C_0^{\text{tile}} \xrightarrow{j_{0,0}} G_0C_0^{\text{tile}}$ the map $j_{0,0}$ is the identity which implies that $d_{2,1}^2$ is given by $(a, a, a) \mapsto (a, a) \in E_{0,0}^2$. This map is the restriction to $E_{2,1}^2$ of the map

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{d}}_{2,1}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} : E_{2,1}^1 \longrightarrow E_{0,0}^1.$$

Consequently, ker $d_{2,1}^2 = 0$ and thus $E_{2,1}^3 = 0$. Moreover, im $d_{2,1}^2 \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$ and thus $E_{0,0}^3 = \frac{\mathbb{Z}_2^2}{\operatorname{im} d_{2,1}^2} \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$. The spectral sequence stabilizes at $r \ge 3$ and we define $\vec{H}_{p,q}(X) := E_{p,q}^r, r \ge 3$. In particular,

$$\vec{H}_{p,q}(X) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_2 & \text{ for } (p,q) = (0,0); \\ 0 & \text{ for } (p,q) \neq (0,0), \end{cases}$$

and thus $\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(X) = 1$. The same procedure can be carried out for other convex sets in SC. If we apply the Morse relations in (5.14) for the skeleton *y* in Figure 5.1



FIGURE 5.8. The pure tessellar phase diagram $(\overline{II}, \leq^{\ddagger})$ with parabolic Poincaré polynomials. The vertices are positions with height corresponding to their lap numbers.

we obtain

$$P_{\lambda,\mu}(C^{\text{tile}}) = 2 + 2\lambda + 3\lambda^2\mu = 1 + (1 + \lambda\mu) \cdot 2\lambda + (1 + \lambda^2\mu) \cdot 1,$$

which implies that $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^1 = 2\lambda$ and $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^2 = 1$. This provides information about the differentials $d_{2,1}^1$ and $d_{2,1}^2$ in the associated spectral sequence. Note that the sum of the ranks of $d_{2,1}^1$ and $d_{2,1}^2$ equals the rank of d^{tile} .

89

REMARK 5.25. If we apply the Cartan-Eilenberg theory, and Theorem 4.7 in particular, to the discretization $pb: X \to \mathbb{Z}$ given by the composition $X \xrightarrow{\text{tile}} SC \xrightarrow{\text{lap}} \mathbb{Z}$ we obtain tessellar differential of the form:

$$\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{pb}} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{0,0}^1 & E_{1,0}^1 & E_{2,1}^1 \\ E_{0,0}^1 & \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \widetilde{\mathbf{d}}_{2,1}^2 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathbf{d}_{2,1}^1 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathbf{d}_{2,1}^1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

This is exactly the tessellar boundary operator d^{tile} as given in Fig. 5.4. The entries of d^{pb} can also be marked as $d_{p,q}^r$. In this case $d_{1,0}^1 = 0$, $d_{2,1}^1 = d_{2,1}^1$ and $d_{2,1}^2 = \tilde{d}_{2,1}^2$.

5.5. Differential modules and tessellar phase diagrams for positive braids

For a parabolic flow φ with a proper skeleton y, i.e. \mathring{y} is proper, we obtained a canonical Morse pre-order \leq^{\dagger} via a CW-decomposition induced by y and the parabolic recurrence relation **R**. The poset SC induced by y describes the Morse tessellation of all discrete braid class components [x] rel y. The Cartan-Eilenberg theory then provides an algebraic topological data structure that contains topological information about the braid class components (Morse tiles) and algebraic information on how the classes are stitched together. We give a substantial extension of the results in [24] by showing that these data structures are invariants of positive conjugacy classes of braids.

5.5.1. Some braid theory. Following [24, 65, 14] we recall some basic ideas from braid theory. Let $x \in \mathscr{D}_n^d$ be a discrete braid diagram. Generically strands in x intersect with $x_i^{\alpha} \neq x_i^{\alpha'}$, cf. Rmk. 5.3. To such generic braid diagrams $x \in \mathscr{D}_n^d$ one assigns a unique positive word $\beta = \beta(x)$ given by:

(5.15)
$$x \mapsto \beta(x) = \sigma_{\alpha_1} \cdots \sigma_{\alpha_\ell},$$

where α_k and $\alpha_k + 1$ are the positions of intersection that intersect, cf. Rmk. 5.11. The (algebraic) *Artin braid group* \mathscr{B}_n is a free group spanned by the m-1 generators σ_{α} , modulo following relations:

(5.16)
$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha'} = \sigma_{\alpha'}\sigma_{\alpha}, & |\alpha - \alpha'| \ge 2, \ \alpha, \alpha \in \{0, \dots, n-2\} \\ \sigma_{\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha+1}\sigma_{\alpha} = \sigma_{\alpha+1}\sigma_{\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha+1}, & 0 \le \alpha \le n-3. \end{cases}$$

Presentations of words consisting only of the σ_i 's (not the inverses) and the relations in (5.16) form a monoid which is called the *positive braid monoid* \mathscr{B}_n^+ . Two positive words β and β' are *positively equal* if they represent the same element in \mathscr{B}_n^+ by using the σ -relations in the braid group. Notation $\beta \stackrel{*}{=} \beta'$. Two positive words β, β' are *positively conjugate* if there exists a sequence of words $\beta_0, \dots, \beta_\ell \in \mathscr{B}_n^+$, with $\beta_0 = \beta$ and $\beta_\ell = \beta'$, such that for all k, either $\beta_k \stackrel{*}{=} \beta_{k+1}$, or $\beta_k \equiv \beta_{k+1}$, where the latter is defined by

$$\sigma_{\alpha_1}\sigma_{\alpha_2}\cdots\sigma_{\alpha_p}\equiv\sigma_{\alpha_2}\cdots\sigma_{\alpha_p}\sigma_{\alpha_1}$$

cf. [65, Sect. 2.2]. Notation $\beta \stackrel{\sim}{\sim} \beta'$. Positive conjugacy is an equivalence relation on \mathscr{B}_n^+ and the positive conjugacy class of $\beta \in \mathscr{B}_n^+$ is denoted by $\langle \beta \rangle$. The set of all positive conjugacy classes in \mathscr{B}_n^+ is denoted by $\langle \mathscr{B}_n^+ \rangle$.

DEFINITION 5.26. Two discretized braids $x, x' \in \mathscr{D}_n^d$ are topologically equivalent if $\beta(x)$ and $\beta(x')$ are positively conjugate. Notation: $x \stackrel{*}{\sim} x'$.

Recall that $x \sim x'$ if and only if $x, x' \in [x]$. Clearly, $x \sim x'$ implies $x \stackrel{*}{\sim} x'$ which defines a coarser equivalence relation on \mathscr{D}_n^d . Denote the equivalence classes with respect to $\stackrel{*}{\sim}$ by $[x]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$. The converse is not true in general, cf. [24, Fig. 8]. Following [24, Def. 17], a discretized braid class [x] is *free* if $[x] = [x]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$.

REMARK 5.27. For non-generic $x \in \mathscr{D}_n^d$ we choose $\beta(x)$ to be any representative in the positive conjugacy class $\langle \beta(x') \rangle$, for any $x' \sim x$.

PROPOSITION 5.28 ([24], Prop. 27). If $d > \lambda(x)$, then [x] is a free braid class.

For the space of 2-colored discretized braid diagrams $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$ there exists a natural embedding $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d \hookrightarrow \mathscr{D}_{1+m}^d$ by regarding $x \operatorname{rel} y$ as braid in \mathscr{D}_{1+m}^d . Via the embedding we define the notion of topological equivalence of two 2-colored discretized braids: $x \operatorname{rel} y \stackrel{*}{\sim} x' \operatorname{rel} y'$ if they are topologically equivalent as braids in \mathscr{D}_{1+m}^d . The associated equivalence classes are denoted by $[x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$, which are not necessarily connected sets in $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$. A 2-colored discretized braid class $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ is free if $[x \operatorname{rel} y] = [x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$. If $d > \lambda(x \operatorname{rel} y)$, then $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ is free by Proposition 5.28.

In Theorem 5.22 we showed that each partial equivalence class of $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$ corresponds with braid class components [x] rel y of the fiber $\pi^{-1}(y)$. The Borel-Moore homology of [x] rel y is independent of the choice of parabolic recurrence relations **R** for which $\mathbf{R}(y) = 0$, cf. [24, Thm. 15(a)-(b)], and therefore the parabolic homology is independent of **R**, i.e.

(5.17)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}([x] \operatorname{rel} y; \varphi) = \vec{H}_{p,q}([x] \operatorname{rel} y; \varphi').$$

A similar statement holds for the braid classes [$x \operatorname{rel} y$]. Let $x \operatorname{rel} y \sim x' \operatorname{rel} y'$ and let φ and φ' be parabolic flows with skeleton y and y' respectively. Then,

(5.18)
$$\bigoplus_{\substack{[x] \text{ rel } y \subset \\ \pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \text{ rel } y]}} \vec{H}_{p,q}([x] \text{ rel } y; \varphi) \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{[x'] \text{ rel } y' \subset \\ \pi^{-1}(y') \cap [x' \text{ rel } y']}} \vec{H}_{p,q}([x'] \text{ rel } y'; \varphi')$$

cf. [24, Thm. 15(c)]. This makes the latter an invariant of the discrete 2-colored braid class [x rel y] and justifies the notation:

(5.19)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]) := \bigoplus_{\substack{[x] \operatorname{rel} y \subset \\ \pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]}} \vec{H}_{p,q}([x] \operatorname{rel} y; \varphi).$$

The homology $\tilde{H}_{p,q}([x \text{ rel } y])$ is not necessarily independent of to the number of discretization points *d*. In order to have independence also with respect to *d*, another invariant for discrete braid classes was introduced in [24]. Consider the equivalence class $[x \text{ rel } y]_{z}$ of discrete 2-colored braid diagrams induced by the

90

91

relation $x \operatorname{rel} y \stackrel{\cdot}{\sim} x' \operatorname{rel} y'$ on $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$. As before the projection $\pi \colon \mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d \to \mathscr{D}_m^d$ given by $x \operatorname{rel} y \mapsto y$ yields the fibers $\pi^{-1}(y)$ and components $[x] \operatorname{rel} y \subset \pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y] \downarrow$ and defines the homology:

(5.20)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}}) := \bigoplus_{\substack{[x] \operatorname{rel} y \subset \\ \pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}}} \vec{H}_{p,q}([x] \operatorname{rel} y; \varphi).$$

Note that if $d > \lambda(x \operatorname{rel} y)$ then the homology in (5.20) corresponds to the homology in (5.19). As before $\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\downarrow})$ is an invariant and does not depend on the choice of φ and y. In the next section we explain the invariance by investigating the dependence on the number of discretization points d making it a topological invariant for relative braid classes.

The braid class components [x] rel y comprise the elements of SC and the equivalence relation \sim yields a span which we express in terms of tessellar phase diagrams

where $(\amalg(y), \leqslant)$ is the coarsening of $(\amalg, \leqslant^{\dagger})$ defined by unionizing equivalent pairs $[x] \operatorname{rel} y, [x'] \operatorname{rel} y \subset \pi^{-1}(p) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$ whenever $[x] \operatorname{rel} y \stackrel{*}{\sim} [x'] \operatorname{rel} y$ and taking transitive, reflexive closure. The equivalence classes are parallel in \amalg and thus the coarsening yields a well-defined poset $(\amalg(y), \leqslant)$. The poset $(\Pi(y), \leqslant)$ is the restriction of pairs in $\amalg(y)$ for which the Poincaré polynomials that are the non-zero. The elements of $\amalg(y)$ can be identified with $[x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$. By defining the groups in (5.19) we consider convex sets in SC. Therefore, the differential d^{tile} yields a induced differential d^{para} on the groups $\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}})$. This leads to the following definition:

DEFINITION 5.29. Let $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ be a proper discrete braid. Define the differential module¹²

(5.21)
$$C^{\text{para}}(X) := \bigoplus_{\substack{[x \text{ rel } y] \not \downarrow \ p, q}} \bigoplus_{p, q} \vec{H}_{p, q}([x \text{ rel } y] \not \downarrow), \quad \mathrm{d}^{\text{para}} \colon C^{\text{para}}(X) \to C^{\text{para}}(X).$$

where d^{para} is the induced differential for $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger})$. The non-trivial homologies $\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \text{ rel } y]_{\sim}) \neq 0$ yield an $\overline{\amalg}(y)$ -grading of $C^{\text{para}}(X)$. The $\overline{\amalg}(y)$ -graded differential module $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}(y) := (C^{\text{para}}, d^{\text{para}})$ is called the *parabolic differential module* for y.

Convex sets in $\overline{\amalg}(y)$ yield convex sets in $\amalg(y)$, i.e. $\operatorname{Co}(\overline{\amalg}(y)) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Co}(\amalg(y))^{13}$ via convex hull: if $I \in \operatorname{Co}(\overline{\amalg}(y))$, then the convex hull $\langle I \rangle$ is contained in $\operatorname{Co}(\amalg(y))$. This implies that $C^{\operatorname{para}}(X)$ is well-defined over every convex set in $\operatorname{Co}(\overline{\amalg}(y))$. By

 $^{^{12}}$ We use the term differential module even though we use field coefficients which makes $\mathscr A$ a differential vector space.

¹³Recall that for a poset (P, \leq) the lattice of convex sets in P is denoted by Co(P), cf. [6].

construction the homology is given by $H(\mathscr{A}) \cong \mathbb{K}$. The grading by lap number is a first \mathbb{Z} -grading. The dimension grading of Borel-Moore homology comes as a second \mathbb{Z} -grading for \mathscr{A} . This yields the bi-graded homology $\vec{H}_{p,q}(\mathscr{A})$.

REMARK 5.30. For most of the examples in this paper the partial order on \mathscr{A} is given by $\overline{\mathrm{II}}$, i.e. $\overline{\mathrm{II}} \cong \overline{\mathrm{II}}(y)$. In general this holds for *d* large enough.

REMARK 5.31. In general there does not exist an order-retraction $\amalg \twoheadrightarrow \overline{\amalg}$, cf. [40]. If such an order-retraction exists one obtains the discretization $(\mathfrak{X}, \leq^{\dagger}) \twoheadrightarrow$ $(\amalg, \leq^{\dagger}) \twoheadrightarrow (\overline{\amalg}, \leq^{\ddagger})$ for which all tiles have non-trivial tessellar homology. It is not clear if this behaves well under stabilization. The same question applies to $\amalg(y)$ and $\overline{\amalg}(y)$. In the case of parabolic homology the remedy is two use the bi-grading and the order given by $\overline{\amalg}(y)$.

Figure 5.9 below shows a representation of $\mathscr{A}(y)$ for the discrete skeletal braid y displayed in Figure 1.5. The advantage of this representation is that the $\overline{\Pi}(y)$ -grading is expressed in the diagram. Contracting to lap numbers yields the diagram in Figure 1.7.



FIGURE 5.9. The diagram displays the lap number grading as well as the Π -grading of $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$. The \mathbb{Z}_2 -groups are the parabolic homologies $\vec{H}_{p,q}(\mathcal{S}_j)$

5.5.2. Stabilization. In order to formulate the main results of this section we recall some definitions and methods from [24]. For a skeleton $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ we define the extension operator $\mathbb{E} \colon \mathscr{D}_m^d \to \mathscr{D}_m^{d+1}$ as:

$$(\mathbb{E}y)_i^{\alpha} := \begin{cases} y_i^{\alpha} & \text{ for } i = 0, \cdots, d, \\ y_d^{\alpha} & \text{ for } i = d+1. \end{cases}$$

For a given braid class $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ extension does not change any of the properties, i.e. $[\mathbb{E}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}y]$ is both bounded and non-degenerate. The same remains true under repeated application of the operator \mathbb{E} . The main result in [24, Thm. 20] states that the Borel-Moore homology of $[x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}}$ remains unchanged under application of \mathbb{E} . For the parabolic homology this implies:

THEOREM 5.32. Let $[x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\div}$ be a relative braid class then

(5.22)
$$\vec{H}_{p,q}([\mathbb{E}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}y]_{\downarrow}) \cong \vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\downarrow})$$

PROOF. The lap number does not change under the extension operator \mathbb{E} , i.e. $lap([\mathbb{E}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}y]_{\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}}) = lap([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}})$, where the latter is defined as the lap number of is braid class fibers. Since the Borel-Moore homologies are isomorphic by [24, Thm. 20] Equation (5.13) implies that the parabolic homologies are isomorphic.

By Proposition 5.28 $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ a relative braid class is free if d is sufficiently large and thus $[\mathbb{E}^{\ell}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y]$ is free for $\ell \ge 0$ sufficiently large. Let $x \operatorname{rel} y \stackrel{\cdot}{\sim} x' \operatorname{rel} y'$, then $\mathbb{E}^{\ell}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y \stackrel{\cdot}{\sim} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}x' \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y'$ and both are contained in the same connected component $[\mathbb{E}^{\ell}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y]_{\stackrel{\cdot}{\sim}}$. By Equation (5.18) this implies that $\vec{H}_{p,q}([\mathbb{E}^{\ell}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y]_{\stackrel{\cdot}{\sim}}) \cong$ $\vec{H}_{p,q}([\mathbb{E}^{\ell}x' \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell}y']_{\stackrel{\cdot}{\sim}})$. Combining these isomorphisms gives

$$\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\sim}) \cong \vec{H}_{p,q}([\mathbb{E}^{\ell} x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell} y]_{\sim}) \cong \vec{H}_{p,q}([\mathbb{E}^{\ell} x' \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell} y']_{\sim}) \\
\cong \vec{H}_{p,q}([x' \operatorname{rel} y']_{\sim}),$$

which establishes $\vec{H}_{p,q}([x \text{ rel } y]_{\sim})$ as a topological invariant for relative braid classes. The proof of [24, Thm. 20] is based on a singular perturbation argument for parabolic recurrence relations. We use the same technique now to show that the graded differential module $\mathscr{A}(y)$ is also invariant under extension by \mathbb{E} :

THEOREM 5.33. Let $y \in \mathscr{D}_m^d$ be a proper discrete braid. Then,

(5.23)
$$\mathscr{A}(\mathbb{E}y) \cong \mathscr{A}(y).$$

In particular, the grading is given by $\overline{\amalg}(\mathbb{E}y) \cong \overline{\amalg}(y)$.

PROOF. We will outline the main steps in the proof and indicate the additional results that can be obtained from this method. In order to accommodate the extension operator \mathbb{E} acting on discrete braids we consider the parabolic recurrence relation \mathbf{R}^{ϵ} defined as $R_i^{\epsilon} = R_i$ for $i = 0, \dots, d-1$ and $R_d^{\epsilon} = \epsilon^{-1}(x_{d+1} - x_d)$, and $R_0 = R_0(x_0, x_1)$. For $\epsilon > 0$ the parabolic flow is denoted by φ^{ϵ} on the augmented phase space \widetilde{X} , with $\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}$ given by $\widetilde{x} = (x_0, \dots, x_d) = (x, x_d)$. In the singular limit $\varphi^0 = \mathbb{E}\varphi$ is the induced parabolic flow on $\mathbb{E}X$. Consider the coordinates (x, z) with $z = x_{d+1} - x_d = x_0 - x_d$. With the reparametrization of time by $\tau = t/\epsilon$ we obtain the differential equations:

(5.24)
$$\begin{aligned} x' &= \epsilon X(x,z);\\ z' &= -z + \epsilon Z(x) \end{aligned}$$

where X(x, z) and Z(x) are given by: $X_i(x) = R_i(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1})$, with $i = 0, \dots, d-2$, $X_{d-1}(x, z) = R_{d-1}(x_{d-2}, x_{d-1}, x_0 - z)$ and $Z(x) = R_0(x_0, x_1)$. The associated flow on \widetilde{X} is denoted by φ^{ϵ} .

As for φ consider φ^{ϵ} with skeleton $\mathbb{E}y$ defined on the compact phase space \widetilde{X} . The construction in Section 5.3 of the Morse pre-order for φ^{ϵ} follows by the same token as before and we denote the Morse pre-order by $(\widetilde{X}, \leq_{\epsilon}^{\dagger})$. The poset of partial equivalence classes is denoted by $(SC_{\epsilon}, \leq_{\epsilon})$. For $\epsilon > 0$ we obtain a tessellar phase diagram $(II_{\epsilon}, \leq_{\epsilon}^{\dagger})$ and a pure tessellar phase diagram $(\overline{II}_{\epsilon}, \leq_{\epsilon}^{\ddagger})$. Since the diagrams only depend on topological data they are independent of $\epsilon > 0$. The results in [24] imply that for every fiber $\pi^{-1}(y) \cap [x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$ in $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$ and $\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{E}y) \cap [\mathbb{E}x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}y]_{\stackrel{*}{\sim}}$ in $\mathscr{D}_{1,m}^{d+1}$ the Borel-Moore homologies are the same, cf. Thm. 5.32. The tessellar phase diagrams associated to the non-trivial homologies are denoted $II(\mathbb{E}y)$ and $\overline{II}(\mathbb{E}y)$. It also follows that for all classes in $[\widetilde{x}]$ rel $\mathbb{E}y \subset \pi^{-1}(\mathbb{E}y)$ for which $\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{E}y) \cap \mathbb{E}X = \emptyset$ the Borel-Moore homology is trivial, cf. [24, Rmk. 23]. These are exactly the classes that emerge when we extend via the operator \mathbb{E} . Indeed, if the maximal invariant set $Inv([\tilde{x}] rel \mathbb{E}y) \neq \emptyset$ then the convergence properties of (5.24), cf. [24, Lem. 22], imply that there is a non-trivial invariant set for $\epsilon = 0$, which contradicts the fact that $\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{E}y) \cap \mathbb{E}X = \emptyset$. The pure tessellar phase diagram $\overline{\mathbb{I}}(\mathbb{E}y)$ obtained from $\amalg(\mathbb{E}y)$ remains unchanged since the non-trivial since a braid class $[x \operatorname{rel} y]$ has non-trivial homology if and only if $[\mathbb{E}x \text{ rel } \mathbb{E}y]_{\sim}$ has non-trivial homology. The partial order also remains unchanged. Indeed, by the above construction $(\amalg, \leqslant^{\dagger}) \hookrightarrow (\amalg_{\epsilon}, \leqslant^{\dagger}_{\epsilon})$ and thus two elements in $\overline{\amalg}(y)$ are ordered if and only if they are ordered in $\overline{\Pi}(\mathbb{E}y)$, which proves that the pure tessellar phase diagram is invariant under the action of \mathbb{E} . By the same token the invariance of the homologies for convex sets in $\overline{\Pi}(y)$ are non-trivial if and only the homologies of the associated convex sets in $\overline{\Pi}(\mathbb{E}y)$ are non-trivial. By the nature of the induced connection matrix d^{para} the homology braids are isomorphic and therefore the differential on C^{para} for $\mathbb{E}y$ can be chosen to be the same all $\epsilon \ge 0$. These facts combined prove the theorem. \square

The final result is to prove that the parabolic differential module is in fact an invariant of positive conjugacy classes of braid diagrams.

THEOREM 5.34. The parabolic differential module $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ of a (topological) positive braid β is a positive conjugacy class invariant.

PROOF. Let $x \operatorname{rel} y \in \mathscr{D}_{1,m}^d$ and $x' \operatorname{rel} y' \in \mathscr{D}_{1,m}^{d'}$ be relative braids such that $\beta(x \operatorname{rel} y) \stackrel{\cdot}{\sim} \beta(x' \operatorname{rel} y')$. By Proposition 5.28 we have that $\mathbb{E}^{\ell} x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell} y \sim \mathbb{E}^{\ell'} x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell'} y'$ for $\ell + d = \ell' + d'$ and ℓ, ℓ' sufficiently large. This implies

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{H}_{p,q}\big([x \operatorname{rel} y]_{\div}\big) &\cong \vec{H}_{p,q}\big([\mathbb{E}^{\ell} x \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell} y]_{\div}\big) \cong \vec{H}_{p,q}\big([\mathbb{E}^{\ell'} x' \operatorname{rel} \mathbb{E}^{\ell'} y']_{\div}\big) \\ &\cong \vec{H}_{p,q}\big([x' \operatorname{rel} y']_{\div}\big), \end{aligned}$$

and therefore $\mathscr{A}(y) \cong \mathscr{A}(y')$. This justifies the notation $\mathscr{A}(\beta) := \mathscr{A}(y)$ with $\beta = \beta(y)$.

Since $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ is an invariant for a positive braid β the associated reduced tessellar phase is denoted by $(\overline{\mathrm{II}}(\beta), \leq)$. From the tessellar phase diagram we can immediately derive the Poincare polynomial $\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{A})$ by summing up the term $\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}$ in the tessellar phase diagram.

5.5.3. An example. For the skeletons y we use in this paper the strands y^- and y^+ do not intersect with the remaining strands in \mathring{y} , nor do they intersect with x. For that reason the convention is to label the basic words in \mathscr{B}_m by σ_-

(intersections between y^- and y^1), σ_{α} , $\alpha = 1, \dots, m-3$ (intersections between y^{α} and $y^{\alpha+1}$), and σ_+ (intersections between y^{m-2} and y^{m-1}). This implies that the words $\beta(y)$ in our setting consists only of the letters $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{m-3}$ and maybe regarded as a word $\beta(\mathring{y}) \in \mathscr{B}^+_{m-2}$.

In the examples below the words β are understood to be words $\beta(\mathring{y}) \in \mathscr{B}_{m-2}^+$. We compute the parabolic module $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ and the pure tessellar phase diagrams for various positively conjugate representation of the braid $\beta = \sigma_1^2(\sigma_2\sigma_1)^2 \in \mathscr{B}_3^+$.

LEMMA 5.35. $\beta \sim \sigma_1^5 \sigma_2$.

PROOF. From the braid group relations and positive conjugacy we have:



FIGURE 5.10. Three graphical representatives of positively conjugate braids whose words $\beta(\hat{y})$ are given by $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$, $\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2$ and $\sigma_1^5 \sigma_2$ respectively.

LEMMA 5.36.
$$\beta \stackrel{+}{\sim} \sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$$
.
PROOF. As before: $\beta = \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2 \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1 \stackrel{+}{=} \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \stackrel{+}{\sim} \sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$.

Figure 5.10 depicts the three presentations of the braids conjugate to β (including β). The presentation $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$ has the minimal number of discretization points. The braid $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$ can be represented in \mathscr{D}_5^3 , the braid $\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2$ in \mathscr{D}_5^4 and $\sigma_1^5 \sigma_2$ in \mathscr{D}_5^5 . Figure 5.12 below shows the tessellar phase diagrams of $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$ and $\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2$ for d = 3 and d = 4 respectively. As expected the tessellated phase diagrams are not isomorphic since $y \in \mathscr{D}_5^4$ allows more relative braid classes. However, if we reduce the tessellated phase diagrams to only those with non-trivial Borel-Moore homology we obtain isomorphic posets $\overline{II}(\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1) \cong \overline{II}(\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2)$. Moreover the associated parabolic modules \mathscr{A} for $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$ and $\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2$ are isomorphic, cf. Thm. 5.34.

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_{15} \rangle \xrightarrow{(1)} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_{13} \rangle \xrightarrow{(0)} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_8 \rangle \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}} \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_4 \rangle \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2 \langle \mathcal{S}_0 \rangle \to 0$$

FIGURE 5.11. The parabolic differential module $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$, computed over \mathbb{Z}_2 coefficients, represented as chain complex.

If we apply the Morse relations in (4.17) we obtain

$$\vec{P}_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathscr{A}) = 2 + \lambda^2 \mu + \lambda^3 \mu^2 + \lambda^4 \mu^3 = 1 + (1 + \lambda\mu) \cdot \lambda^3 \mu^2 + (1 + \lambda^2 \mu) \cdot 1,$$

which implies that $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^1 = \lambda^3 s^2$ and $Q_{\lambda,\mu}^2 = 1$. This provides information about the differentials $d_{4,3}^1$ and $d_{2,1}^2$. A straightforward but meticulous verification of the Morse relations in (4.17) show that the choices for Q^1 and Q^2 are unique. The ranks of $d_{4,3}^1$ and $d_{2,1}^2$ correspond to the ranks of the connection matrix d^{tile} .



FIGURE 5.12. Tessellar phase diagrams for $\beta = \sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1$ [left] and $\beta = \sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2$ [right]. The posets SC for both examples are different but the posets $\overline{\Pi} (\sigma_2 \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_1)$ and $\overline{\Pi} (\sigma_1^2 (\sigma_2 \sigma_1)^2)$ are isomorphic.

CHAPTER 6

Postlude

In this section we will address open questions and directions for further research based on the ideas in this text.

6.1. Topologization

In this section we comment on the general scheme of modeling dynamics as topology.

6.1.1. Variations on flow topologies. If we consider the τ -forward-image operator Γ_{τ}^+ by considering forward images from $t \ge \tau > 0$ we obtain a derivative operator which is variation on Γ^+ . The derivative Γ^+_{τ} is not idempotent in general. The fixed points of Γ_{τ}^+ comprise the invariant sets of φ . The same can be done for $(-\tau)$ -backward images which yields the operators $\Gamma^{-}_{-\tau}$. As for the block-flow topology we can also consider operators $\Gamma^{-\tau}_{\bullet} := \Gamma^{-\tau}_{-\tau} cl$ and the topologies $\mathscr{T}^{-\tau}_{\bullet}$, which are refinements of $\mathcal{J}_{\bullet}^{-}$. A different class of flow topologies can be derived by composing closure and forward image in reversed order, e.g. $\Gamma_{-\tau}^{\bullet} := \operatorname{cl} \Gamma_{-\tau}^{-}$ is a derivative operator on Set(X), and associated topologies $\mathscr{T}_{-}^{\bullet}$ and $\mathscr{T}_{-\tau}^{\bullet}$. If φ is continuous then Γ^{\bullet}_{τ} defines a derivative operator on Set(X). The τ -forward image derivative can be used to define the omega limit set operator $\Gamma_{\omega}U := \omega(U)$. A flow topology of particular interest is based on omega limit sets. Since $\omega(U)$ is forward invariant and closed it holds that $\omega(\omega(U)) \subset \omega(U)$. In addition, ω is a additive and $\omega(\emptyset) = \emptyset$, which proves that ω defines the derivative operator Γ_{ω} on Set(X). Therefore, $U \mapsto cl_{\omega}U := U \cup \Gamma_{\omega}U$ is a closure operator and thus defines the topology \mathscr{T}_{ω} on X. Sets $U \subset X$ that are open in \mathscr{T} and closed on \mathscr{T}_{ω} are exactly open attracting neighborhoods. It is sometimes convenient to consider trapping regions instead of attracting blocks. This can be achieved the operator: $U \mapsto \mathrm{cl}^+_{\omega} U := U \cup \Gamma^+ U \cup \Gamma_{\omega} U.$

6.1.2. Dynamical systems in the large. The flow topologies \mathscr{T}^+ and \mathscr{T}^- and the derived flow topologies such as \mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} and \mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} inherit properties of the semiflow φ at hand. For example if φ is trivial¹ then $\mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} = \mathscr{T}^-_{\bullet} = \mathscr{T}$, and if X allows a dense flow φ then for instance $\overline{\mathscr{T}}_0$ is the trivial topology. In general, the flow topologies are not Hausdorff, independent of \mathscr{T} . A natural question to ask is which topologies are manifested as a derived flow topologies. In this setting we can think of a dynamical system in larger terms as a relation on X. This raises a

¹i.e. $\varphi(t, x) = x$ for all $x \in X$ and for all $t \ge 0$.

6. POSTLUDE

deeper question whether we can equivalently study certain aspects of dynamical systems in the large as bi-topological spaces and bi-closure algebras. For the latter closure operators serve as a generalization of a dynamical system.

6.1.3. Beyond semi-flows. Most of the considerations in this paper carry over to discrete time dynamical systems such as iterating a map in X, cf. Remark 3.9. Another aspect that has played a minor role in the construction in this paper is the continuity of the dynamics with respect to the phase variable x. Finding discretizations, Morse pre-orders and Morse tessellation does not require continuity. The one instance where continuity plays a role is tying invariant dynamics to Morse tessellations. The latter uses algebraic topology and Wazewski's principle to conclude that non-trivial Borel-Moore homology yields non-trivial invariant dynamics. In particular, Wazewski's principle crucially uses the continuity of φ . For discrete time systems one can use a different notion of Conley index, cf. [58, 54, 57, 18].

6.2. Discretization

In terms of discretization, there are many intersetions with finite and combinatorial topology.

6.2.1. Quasi-isomorphic discretization and finite topologies. In practice (indeed, for all of the examples in this paper) the map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}) \to (\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$ is a quasi-isomorphism, i.e. induces an isomorphism $H(X) \cong H(\mathfrak{X}, \leq)$, where the latter is taken to be the singular homology of the finite topological space. In this case, as per Remark 4.26, one can discard disc and compute the graded tessellar complex $C^{\text{part}}(\mathfrak{X})$ from part: $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathsf{P}$ directly. This turns on the singular homology of (\mathfrak{X}, \leq) being easy to understand, which is often the case, e.g., disc is a CW-decomposition map. More generally, the singular homology of a finite topological space can be understood through a theorem of M. McCord [50], which says that there is a simplicial complex (the order complex) $K(\mathfrak{X})$ and a weak-homotopy equivalence $k: |K(\mathfrak{X})| \to \mathfrak{X}$. This can be used to induce a new map $\operatorname{part}_k: K(\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{k} \mathfrak{X} \to \mathsf{P}$ and form a graded chain complex $C^{\operatorname{part}_k}(K(\mathfrak{X}))$. As k is a weak homotopy equivalence (thus a quasi-isomorphism) $C^{\operatorname{part}_k}(K(\mathfrak{X}))$ has an isomorphic homology braid to $C^{\operatorname{part}}(\mathfrak{X})$. This provides another route for computation, and the role that finite topologies play seems worth examining.

6.2.2. Semi-conjugacies and finite models. A (bi-topological) discretization map disc: $(X, \mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}_{\bullet}^{-}) \twoheadrightarrow (\mathfrak{X}, \leq, \leq^{0})$ is analogous to a semi-conjugacy in that one has a model system onto which the system of interest is mapped. There are situations in which it could be of interest to construct a semi-conjugacy of the semi-flow φ . The work of [49] provides results in this direction. If SC obeys a particular condition ² and further conditions on the Conley indices and connection matrix d^{tile}

98

²Namely, what [7] terms a CW-poset, i.e. the face partial order of a regular CW complex.

are met,³ then one can construct a surjective semi-conjugacy from X to |K(SC)|, the order complex associated to SC. Given that our starting point is tile, rather than the $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ itself, one has more data than assumed in [49] (in which only the nature of Conley indices and d^{tile} is known), and it seems reasonable that these assumptions could be weakened.

6.3. Algebraization

There are further refinements and generalizations of the homological algebraic techniques we use to build algebraic models of dynamics.

6.3.1. Grading tessellar homology. In Remark 4.2.3 we explained via spectral sequences that one obtains a P-grading on tessellar homology in the case that P is a linear order. Applying this idea in the setting of parabolic recurrence relations yields the bi-graded parabolic homology. Via the bi-grading we obtain refined information about invariant sets for parabolic flows and connections between invariant sets. We have not fully explored the case of arbitrary partial orders P is this setting, i.e. grading tessellar homology by an arbitrary partial order. To do so we need to explore the theory of spectral systems, cf. [48]. The grading related to dynamics is denoted by p and the grading related to topology by q. In some case it is beneficial to disregard the q-grading and only consider the dynamical grading p.

6.3.2. Exact couple systems. In [48] Matschke introduces exact couple systems as a generalization of Massey's exact couples which allows generalizing spectral sequences to spectral systems. In Section 4.1 we discuss Franzosa's theory of connection matrices in terms of exact couple systems and Cartan-Eilenberg systems, cf. [63].

6.4. Braid and knot invariants

The application of discretization techniques to braids opens the door for investigating invariants in more general contexts.

6.4.1. Braid Floer homology. In Section 5.5 we discuss an invariant for positive conjugacy classes of braid in terms of a poset graded differential module. Our techniques in this paper use parabolic flows which restrict to positive braid diagrams and positive conjugacy. The general problem of braids is addressed in [66] and defines invariants for relative braid classes $x \operatorname{rel} y$ via Floer homology. One of the main results in [66] is that the homology invariants are isomorphic to the Floer homology of positive braids via Garside's normal form for braids. The latter makes that the Floer homology invariants for relative braids for relative braids can be computed

³Termed H0-H3 in [49], these conditions ensure that $C^{\text{tile}}(X)$ 'looks-like' the Morse complex of a gradient flow. Some of the braid examples from this text, after appropriate modification à la [40], satisfy these assumptions.

6. POSTLUDE

from the discrete invariants introduced in Section 5.5. The problem of formulating a differential module invariant in the general case for braids based on Floer homology is much harder. An extension of the results in [66] is to define a differential module for braids and show that it is an invariant of conjugacy classes of braids. A natural next step is to investigate the link to the discrete case in order to compute the differential module invariants. Another question in this setting is to understand how Markov moves impact the braid invariants which is important for investigating its relation with knot invariants.

6.4.2. Some immediate applications of the parabolic differential module. The theory of parabolic recurrence relations has been successfully applied to scalar parabolic differential equations of the type

$$u_t = u_{xx} + g(x, u, u_x).$$

cf. [25]. A collection of stationary solutions to the above equation is regarded as a continuous, positive braid β . As in the discrete case one may consider various relative braids α rel β . In particular, when α represents a single strand braid the analogy with the discrete theory is obtained by representing α rel β as a piecewise linear braid x rel y. The results in [25] make $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ also an invariant for the above parabolic equation. The reduced tessellar phase diagram $\overline{\Pi}(\beta)$ yields stationary solutions for every vertex in $\overline{\Pi}(\beta)$. Moreover, in Conley index theory the boundary operator d^{para} contains information about connecting orbits between stationary solutions, cf. [25, 65]. The highlight of the discrete theory is insight into the infinite dimensional Morse theory for the above parabolic equation.

The reduced tessellar phase diagram given by $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ as provides detailed information about periodic points of surface diffeomorphism and diffeomorphisms of the 2-disc in particular. In [14] mapping classes of diffeomorphisms of the 2-disc are related to braids and positive braids in particular. To obtain a forcing theory for additional periodic points the Conley indices of braids α rel β is computed. As in the previous example the reduced tessellar phase diagram given by $\mathscr{A}(\beta)$ forces new periodic points.

APPENDIX A

Binary relations and operators

In this appendix we summarize some elementary facts on binary relations and operators relevant for this text. We use [60] as are main reference for the theory of binary relations and [29] for operators.

A.1. Binary relations

Let *X*, *Y* be point sets. A *binary relation* is a subset $\phi \subset X \times Y$. If X = Y, then $\phi \subset X \times X$ is called an *endorelation*, or homogeneous (binary) relation on *X*. The top relation $X \times Y$ is denoted by \top and the bottom relation \emptyset by \bot . The identity is the diagonal id = { $(x, x) | x \in X$ }. The *opposite relation*, or *inverse relation* is denote by $\phi^{-1} = {(y, x) | (x, y) \in \phi} \subset Y \times X$. The *complement* ϕ^c is defined as $\phi^c := {(x, y) | (x, y) \notin \phi}$, which is the set-complement of ϕ . Some obvious properties are:

- (i) $(\phi^{-1})^{-1} = \phi;$
- (ii) $(\phi^{-1})^c = (\phi^c)^{-1};$
- (iii) $\phi \subset \psi$ if and only if $\phi^{-1} \subset \psi^{-1}$ if and only if $\phi^c \supset \psi^c$;
- (iv) $(\phi \cup \psi)^{-1} = \phi^{-1} \cup \psi^{-1}$ and $(\phi \cap \psi)^{-1} = \phi^{-1} \cap \psi^{-1}$;
- (v) $(\phi \cup \psi)^c = \phi^c \cap \psi^c$ and $(\phi \cap \psi)^c = \phi^c \cup \psi^c$ De Morgan's laws.

An important operation on relations is *composition*: given $\phi \subset X \times Y$ and $\psi \subset Y \times Z$, then

$$\psi \cdot \phi := \{ (x, z) \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ and } (y, z) \in \psi \text{ for some } y \in Y \} \subset X \times Z.$$

Some additional properties:

(vi) $(\psi \cdot \phi)^{-1} = \phi^{-1} \cdot \psi^{-1}$; (vii) $\phi \subset \phi \cdot \phi^{-1} \cdot \phi$ and $\phi^{-1} \subset \phi^{-1} \cdot \phi \cdot \phi^{-1}$.

The set of all binary relations on $X \times Y$ is the power set $Set(X \times Y)$, which is a complete and atomic Boolean algebra. In particular, for any $S \subset Set(X \times Y)$:

(A.1)
$$\bigcup_{\phi \in S} \phi := \sup \{ \phi \in S \mid S \subset \mathsf{Set}(X \times Y) \}.$$

is a well-defined relation in $Set(X \times Y)$. The same applies the infima:

(A.2)
$$\bigcap_{\phi \in S} \phi := \inf \{ \phi \in S \mid S \subset \mathsf{Set}(X \times Y) \},\$$

is a well-defined relation in $Set(X \times Y)$.

A binary relation ϕ is *left total* if for all $x \in X$ there exists an $y \in Y$ such that $(x, y) \in \phi$. A binary relation ϕ is *right total*, or *surjective* if for all $y \in Y$ there exists an $x \in X$ such that $(x, y) \in \phi$, i.e. ϕ^{-1} is left total. Composition with the opposite relation yields the following properties:

- (viii) ϕ is left total if and only if $id \subset \phi^{-1} \cdot \phi$;
- (ix) ϕ is right total if and only if $id \subset \phi \cdot \phi^{-1}$.

Binary relations come with many different properties. In this text partial orders and pre-orders are special cases of homogeneous binary relations on X that play a pivotal role in the theory. For convenience we now consider homogeneous relations on X. Instead of using the latter terminology we will refer to homogeneous binary relations as binary relations on X, which are elements of the Boolean algebra Set($X \times X$). A selection of special properties of binary relations on X are:

- reflexive if $id \subset \phi$;
- *irreflexive* if $id \subset \phi^c$;
- symmetric if $\phi = \phi^{-1}$;
- asymmetric if $\phi^{-1} \subset \phi^c$, i.e. $(x, y) \in \phi$ implies $(y, x) \notin \phi$;
- anti-symmetric if $\phi \cap \phi^{-1} \subset id$, i.e. $(x, y) \in \phi$ and $(y, x) \in \phi$ implies x = y;
- *transitive* if $\phi^2 \subset \phi$, i.e. $(x, y), (y, z) \in \phi$ implies that $(x, z) \in \phi$;
- *dense* if $\phi \subset \phi^2$, i.e. for every $(x, y) \in \phi$ there exists a $z \in X$ such that $(x, z), (z, y) \in \phi$.

In particular, every reflexive relation is dense and both left and right total. With the above properties one can indicate a number of common binary relations on *X*. A binary relation ϕ on *X* is a(n):

- *pre-order* if ϕ is reflexive and transitive, i.e. $id \subset \phi$ and $\phi^2 = \phi$;
- *partial order* if ϕ is reflexive, anti-symmetric and transitive, i.e. $\operatorname{id} \subset \phi$, $\phi \cap \phi^{-1} \subset \operatorname{id}$ and $\phi^2 = \phi$;
- *strict partial order* if ϕ is irreflexive and transitive, which is equivalent to asymmetric and transitive;
- *linear order*, or *total order* if φ is a partial such that (x, y) ∈ φ, or (y, x) ∈ φ for all pairs (x, y) ∈ X × Y (the last conditions equivalent to φ ∪ φ⁻¹ = T); *equivalence relation* if φ is reflexive, transitive and symmetric.

For a binary relation on *X* we use different notations: $(x, y) \in \phi$, which is equivalent to $x \phi y$. In particular for partial orders and pre-orders we write $x \leq y$, or $x \leq_{\phi} y$. For equivalence relations we use $x \sim y$, or $x \sim_{\phi} y$. Given a partial order we can write the associated strict order and vice verse, i.e. given a partial order ϕ , then $\phi_{\bullet} := \phi \cap id^c$ is the associated strict partial order, and given a strict partial order ψ , then $\psi^{\bullet} := \psi \cup id$ is the associated partial order. This yields the correspondences:

$$(\phi_{\bullet})^{\bullet} = \phi, \qquad (\psi^{\bullet})_{\bullet} = \psi.$$

A *Hasse relation*, or *Hasse diagram* for a partial order ϕ is defined as:

$$\phi_H := \phi_{\bullet} \cap (\phi_{\bullet}^2)^c,$$

102
and corresponds to the usual notion of Hasse diagram for partial orders on a finite set X. Transitive reflexive closure, which we now explain, of the Hasse relation retrieves the partial order.

Given a binary relation ϕ on *X*, then its *transitive closure* is defined as

$$\phi^{+} := \inf \left\{ \psi \subset X \times X \mid \phi \subset \psi, \ \psi^{2} \subset \psi \right\} = \bigcup_{k \ge 1} \phi^{k}.$$

The notion of *transitive reduction* only makes sense for finite sets *X* but is not welldefined for infinite sets in general. The *transitive reflexive closure* is defined as

$$\phi^{+=} := \inf \left\{ \psi \subset X \times X \mid \mathrm{id} \cup \phi \subset \psi, \ \psi^2 \subset \psi \right\} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \phi^k.$$

The transitive reflexive closure $\phi^{+=}$ of a binary relation ϕ is pre-order on X. Via *reflexive closure* $\phi^{=} := id \cup \phi$ we have that $\phi^{+=} = id \cup \phi^{+}$. *Reflexive reduction* is defined for all binary relations and is given as $\phi^{\neq} := \phi \cap id^{c}$. Finally, the *strongly connected components* of a binary relation on X are given by the equivalence relation

(A.3)
$$\phi_{\mathsf{SC}} := \phi^{+=} \cap (\phi^{+=})^{-1},$$

whose equivalence classes are the strongly connected components of ϕ . The latter is of particular importance for binary relations on finite sets (digraphs), cf. Rem. 2.24. The pre-order $\phi^{+=}$ yields a partial order on the strongly connected components, cf. App. B.1 (ordered tessellations).

A.2. Modal operators

Related to binary relations $\phi \subset X \times Y$ is the notion of operator on the algebra of subsets of *X* and *Y*. Let $\phi \subset X \times Y$ be a binary relation. Then, for $U \subset X$ define

$$\phi U := \left\{ y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } x \in U \right\} = \bigcup_{x \in U} \phi x \subset Y,$$

where $\phi x = \{y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi\}$. By definition $\phi \emptyset = \emptyset$ and $\phi(U \cup U') = \phi U \cup \phi U'$, which show that ϕ regarded as operator is a *modal operator* from Set(*X*) to Set(*Y*). In this text the operators are mostly from Set(*X*) to Set(*X*). The following properties follow from the definition of operator:

(i) $\phi(\bigcup_{i\in I} U_i) = \bigcup_{i\in I} \phi U_i;$

(ii) $\phi(\bigcap_{i\in I} U_i) \subset \bigcap_{i\in I} \phi U_i$, both for arbitrary families $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$ of subsets in *X*. The modal operator defined by a binary relation are completely additive. The opposite relation ϕ^{-1} regarded as operator is related to ϕ as operator in a similar way as the inverse function to a function. First of all (i)-(ii) also holds for ϕ^{-1} as operator. Moreover,

(iii)
$$U \cap \phi^{-1}Y \subset \phi^{-1}(\phi U)$$
, for all $U \subset X$;
(iv) $V \cap \phi X \subset \phi(\phi^{-1}V)$, for all $V \subset Y$.

REMARK A.1. If ϕ is left total then A.2(iii) corresponds to A.1(viii), and A.2(iv) corresponds to A.1(ix). Note that if $V = \phi U$ in A.2(iv), then the identity A.1(vii) is satisfied. The same holds for A.2(iii).

To prove (iii) and (iv) we argue as follows. The set $\phi^{-1}Y = \{x \in X \mid (y, x) \in \phi^{-1} \text{ for some } y \in Y\} = \{x \in X \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } y \in Y\}$ is the domain X for which $\phi x \neq \emptyset$. Furthermore,

$$\phi U = \{ y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } x \in U \}$$
$$= \{ y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } x \in U \cap \phi^{-1}Y \} = \phi(U \cap \phi^{-1}Y),$$

and thus ϕ may be regarded as a left total relation on $\phi^{-1}Y \times Y$. For any subset $U \subset X$, $U \cap \phi^{-1}Y$ is a subset of $\phi^{-1}Y$. By A.1(viii) this gives

$$U \cap \phi^{-1}Y \subset \phi^{-1}(\phi(U \cap \phi^{-1}Y)) = \phi^{-1}(\phi U),$$

which proves (iii). Statement (iv) is proved by changing the role of ϕ and ϕ^{-1} .

A useful identity for $\phi^{-1}U$ is given by

(A.4)
$$\phi^{-1}V = \{x \in X \mid \phi x \cap V \neq \emptyset\}, \quad V \subset Y.$$

Indeed,

$$\phi^{-1}V = \left\{ x \in X \mid (y, x) \in \phi^{-1} \text{ for some } y \in V \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ x \in X \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } y \in V \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ x \in X \mid y \in \phi x \text{ for some } y \in V \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ x \in X \mid \phi x \cap V \neq \emptyset \right\}.$$

As operator $\bar{\phi} := \phi^{-1}$ is also referred to as *conjugate operator*. Of other crucial importance is the *dual operator* related to ϕ . Define,

(A.5)
$$\phi^* U := \left(\phi U^c\right)^c, \quad U \subset X.$$

REMARK A.2. In general this definition works for modal operators on Boolean algebras, not just completely additive operators as discussed in this appendix. For example int is the dual operator of cl on Set(X). If cl is defined via ϕ , i.e. Alexandrov topology, then the conjugate operator is star, cf. Sect. 2.3.1.

By the same token we define the dual of ϕ^{-1} :

(A.6)
$$\phi^{-*}V := \left(\phi^{-1}V^c\right)^c, \quad V \subset Y.$$

Useful identities in this setting are:

- (v) $\phi^* U^c = (\phi U)^c$ and $(\phi^* U)^c = \phi U^c$ for all $U \subset X$;
- (vi) $\phi^{-*}V^c = (\phi^{-1}V)^c$ and $(\phi^{-*}V)^c = \phi^{-1}V^c$ for all $V \subset Y$.

As for ϕ^{-1} there is a convenient characterization of ϕ^{-*} :

(A.7)
$$\phi^{-*}V = \{x \in X \mid \phi x \subset V\}, \quad V \subset Y.$$

Indeed, by (A.4) and (A.6)

$$\phi^{-*}V = \left(\phi^{-1}V^c\right)^c = \left\{x \in X \mid \phi \, x \cap V^c \neq \varnothing\right\}^c = \left\{x \in X \mid \phi \, x \subset V\right\},$$

which proves (A.7). Note that by the latter characterization we have $\phi^{-*}V \subset \phi^{-1}V$ for all $V \subset Y$. This gives:

(vii)
$$(\phi^{-*}V)^c \supset \phi^{-*}V^c$$
;

(viii) $(\phi^{-1}V)^c \subset \phi^{-1}V^c$, both for all $V \subset Y$.

REMARK A.3. The characterizations in (A.4) and (A.7) also hold for ϕ and ϕ^* by simply replacing ϕ by ϕ^{-1} . This yields the same identities in (vii)-(viii) for ϕ and ϕ^* .

The modal operators defined by binary relations are completely additive. As a consequence of the definition of dual the latter are *completely multiplicative*.

(ix) $\phi^* \left(\bigcup_{i \in I} U_i \right) \supset \bigcup_{i \in I} \phi^* U_i$; (x) $\phi^* \left(\bigcap_{i \in I} U_i \right) = \bigcap_{i \in I} \phi^* U_i$, both for arbitrary families $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of subsets in *X*.

The same holds for ϕ^{-*} . For example (x) is derived as follows:

$$\phi^*\left(\bigcap_{i\in I}U_i\right) = \left(\phi\left(\bigcap_{i\in I}U_i\right)^c\right)^c = \left(\phi\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}U_i^c\right)\right)^c = \left(\bigcup_{i\in I}\phi U_i^c\right)^c = \bigcap_{i\in I}\left(\phi U_i^c\right)^c = \bigcap_{i\in I}\phi^*U_i.$$

Due to the definition of dual there are additional properties with respect to composition in contrast to (iii) and (iv):

- (xi) $U \subset \phi^{-*}(\phi U)$, for all $U \subset X$;
- (xii) $V \supset \phi(\phi^{-*}V)$, for all $V \subset Y$.

To prove (xi) observe that

$$\phi^{-*}(\phi U) = \{x \in X \mid \phi x \subset \phi U\} \supset U.$$

As for (xii) we have:

$$\phi(\phi^{-*}V) = \{y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } x \in \phi^{-*}V\}$$
$$= \{y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in \phi \text{ for some } x \text{ such that } \phi x \subset V\} \subset V,$$

i.e. $y \in \phi x \subset V$, which proves (xii).

REMARK A.4. In the special case that ϕ is given by a function $f: X \to Y$, i.e. $\phi = \{(x, y) \mid y = f(x)\}$, then the opposite relation ϕ^{-1} is given by: $\phi^{-1} = \{(y, x) \mid y = f(x)\}$. As operators we have $\phi^{-1}V$ and $\phi^{-*}V$ and, since $\{f(x)\}$ is a singleton set,

$$\phi^{-1}V = \left\{ x \in X \mid \{f(x)\} \cap V \neq \varnothing \right\} = \left\{ x \in X \mid \{f(x)\} \subset V \right\} = \phi^{-*}V.$$

We write $= f^{-1}V = \phi^{-1}V = \phi^{-*}V$. For composition this implies by (iv) and (xii):

$$f(X) \cap V = \phi X \cap V \subset \phi(\phi^{-1}V) = \phi(\phi^{-*}V) \subset V,$$

and therefore $f(X) \cap V \subset f(f^{-1}V) \subset V$, which yields identity exactly when f is surjective. Similarly we have $U \subset f^{-1}f(U)$.

REMARK A.5. Properties of binary relations imply properties on operators. For instance an operator that satisfies $\phi^2 U \subset \phi U$ for all $U \subset X$, corresponds to a transitive relation.

A.3. Duality

In this section we recall the duality for binary relations on X and operators on Set(X). The main source of reference for this section is [27]. The prime example of a complete and atomic Boolean algebra is the power set of a point set X denoted by Set(X). The latter is a Boolean algebra with respect to intersection, union and complement, and is closed under arbitrary intersections and unions, and every element is the union of atoms $\{x\}, x \in X$. Let Y be another point set. A Boolean homomorphism is a lattice homomorphism that preserves the units, i.e. \emptyset and X. A Boolean homomorphism $\Phi: Set(Y) \to Set(X)$ between the complete and atomic Boolean algebras Set(Y) and Set(X) is *completely additive* if

(A.8)
$$\Phi\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}U_i\right) = \bigcup_{i\in I}\Phi U_i$$

for arbitrary unions $\bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$, $U_i \subset X$. Since Φ is Boolean the above complete additivity is equivalent to

(A.9)
$$\Phi\left(\bigcap_{i\in I}U_i\right) = \bigcap_{i\in I}\Phi U_i$$

for arbitrary intersections $\bigcap_{i \in I} U_i, U_i \subset X$. Related to Φ we define a binary relation on $X \times Y$:

(A.10) $(x, y) \in \phi$ if and only if $x \in \Phi\{y\}$.

LEMMA A.6. $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$ as operators from Set(Y) to Set(X).

PROOF. By definiton

$$(x, y) \in \phi$$
 if and only if $(y, x) \in \phi^{-1}$ if and only if $x \in \phi^{-1}{y}$.

This implies that $\Phi\{y\} = \phi^{-1}\{y\}$ for all $y \in Y$. By the complete additivity of Φ we have:

$$\phi^{-1}V = \phi^{-1}\Big(\bigcup_{y \in V} \{y\}\Big) = \bigcup_{y \in V} \phi^{-1}\{y\} = \bigcup_{y \in V} \Phi\{y\} = \Phi V, \quad V \subset Y.$$

Moreover, $\phi^{-1} \varnothing = \Phi \varnothing = \varnothing$, which completes the proof.

In the Boolean setting the properties on Φ yield a restriction on ϕ as is displayed in the following result.

PROPOSITION A.7. If $\Phi \colon \mathsf{Set}(Y) \to \mathsf{Set}(X)$ is completely additive Boolean homomorphism, then $\Phi = \phi^{-1}$, where

$$\phi = \{ (x, f(x) \mid f \colon X \to Y \},\$$

and $(x, y) \in \phi$ uniquely determines f(x) = y. We say that the binary relation ϕ is functional and we write $\Phi = f^{-1}$.

A.3. DUALITY

PROOF. For $y \neq y'$ we have $\Phi\{y\} \cap \Phi\{y'\} = \Phi(\{y\} \cap \{y'\}) = \Phi \emptyset = \emptyset$. Also $X = \Phi Y = \Phi(\bigcup\{y\}) = \bigcup \Phi\{y\}$, which uses the complete additivity. This implies that given $x \in X$, then there exists a unique $y \in Y$ such that $x \in \Phi\{y\}$ since the sets $\Phi\{y\}$ are disjoint for distinct $y \in Y$. The latter defines the functional relation ϕ and f(x) = y, i.e. the points in ϕ are given by the pairs (x, f(x)).

REMARK A.8. The definition of ϕ related to Φ in (A.10) is a choice that will be crucial in our treatment of duality. Some authors use (A.10) to define ϕ^{-1} . Our choice in consistent with the conventions in the logics liturature, cf. [27]. A more compelling reason for the above choice is Proposition A.7:

 $\Phi\colon \mathsf{Set}(Y)\to\mathsf{Set}(X)\quad\iff\quad \Phi=\phi^{-1}, \text{ with }\phi=\big\{(x,f(x)\mid f\colon X\to Y\big\},$

which characterizes all completely additive Boolean homomorphisms.

The notion of Boolean homomorphism can be weakened to the notion of modal operator. Let $\Phi : \text{Set}(Y) \to \text{Set}(X)$ be a *completely additive modal operator*, i.e. Φ satisfies $\Phi \varnothing = \varnothing$ and the additivity condition in (A.8). By the definition in (A.10) and Lemma A.6 every completely additive operator Φ uniquely determines a binary relation $\phi \subset X \times Y$. However, since Φ is not necessarily Boolean the relation ϕ is not necessarily functional. Instead, we obtain any binary relation on $X \times Y$. We use the notation:

(A.11) $\Phi = \phi^{-1} \colon \mathsf{Set}(Y) \to \mathsf{Set}(X), \text{ and } \phi = \Phi^{-1} \subset X \times Y.$

In particular,

(A.12)
$$(\phi^{-1})^{-1} = \phi$$
, and $(\Phi^{-1})^{-1} = \Phi$

The duality between operators and relations explained in this appendix applies to complete and atomic Boolean algebras. In [38] and [30] this duality is extended to arbitrary Boolean algebras and a special classes of binary relations — *Boolean relations*. In the case of a single Boolean algebra with (modal) operator (B, c) (not necessarily completely additive) is embedded in a complete and atomic Boolean algebra with with a completely additive extension of c.

APPENDIX B

Order Theory

In this appendix we outline some of the most prominent concepts of order theory that are used in this text. Our main references are [15], [59] and [38].

B.1. Posets and pre-orders

In Appendix A we defined binary relations and in particular partial orders and pre-orders. In the setting of finite sets we will focus here on finite partially ordered sets, or *posets* which we will denote by (P, \leq) , where P is a finite set and \leq a partial order (or pre-order). If there is no ambiguity on the partial order we typically denote a finite poset by P, or Q. A function $\nu: P \rightarrow Q$ between finite posets is *order-preserving* if $p \leq q$ implies that $\nu(p) \leq \nu(q)$.

The *category of finite posets*, denoted **FPoset**, is the category whose objects are finite posets and whose morphisms are order-preserving maps. The category of finite pre-orders is denoted by **FPreOrd**.

Let P be a finite poset. An *up-set* of P is a subset $I \subset P$ such that if $p \in U$ and $p \leq q$ then $q \in I$. For $p \in P$ the *up-set at* p is $\uparrow p := \{q \in P : p \leq q\}$ which is also called a *principal up-set*. Following [42], we denote the collection of up-sets by U(P). A *down-set* of P is a set $I \subset P$ such that if $q \in D$ and $p \leq q$ then $p \in I$. The *down-set at* q is $\downarrow q := \{p \in P : p \leq q\}$ which is called a *principal down-set*. Following [42], we denote the collection of up-set at q is $\downarrow q := \{p \in P : p \leq q\}$ which is called a *principal down-set*. Following [42], we denote the collection of down-sets by O(P).

For $p, q \in P$ the *interval* from p to q, denoted [p, q], is the set $\{r \in P : p \leq r \leq q\}$. A subset $I \subset P$ is *convex* if whenever $p, q \in I$ then $[p, q] \subset I$. Every convex set is of the form $\alpha \setminus \beta$ with $\alpha, \beta \in O(P)$. We denote the collection of convex sets by Co(P). Every convex set of P can be obtained as intersection of a down-set and an up-set. Under a poset morphism the preimage of a convex set is a convex set, cf. [59].

If P is a pre-order, then the equivalence classes are ordered as $[p] \leq [q]$ if and only if $p \leq q$. The poset of equivalence class P/ \sim is called an *ordered tessellation* for P. The latter is also referred to as an *ordered partition* of P

B.2. Lattices

Some texts introduce lattices as a particular type of poset. Instead, we begin with the definition of lattice as an algebraic structure. For a discussion of the relationship of these two definitions the reader may consult [15, Chapter 2], in particular [15, Theorem 2.9]. DEFINITION B.1. A *lattice* is a set L with the binary operations \lor , \land : L × L \rightarrow L satisfying the following four axioms:

- (i) $a \wedge a = a \vee a = a$ for all $a \in L$ (idempotence);
- (ii) $a \wedge b = b \wedge a$ and $a \vee b = b \vee a$ for all $a, b \in L$ (commutativity);
- (iii) $a \land (b \land c) = (a \land b) \land c$ and $a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$ for all $a, b, c \in L$ (associativity);
- (iv) $a \land (a \lor b) = a \lor (a \land b) = a$ for all $a, b \in L$ (absorption law).

A lattice L has an associated poset structure given by $a \le b$ if $a = a \land b$ or, equivalently, if $b = a \lor b$. A lattice L is *distributive* if it satisfies the additional axiom:

(v) $a \land (b \lor c) = (a \land b) \lor (a \land c)$ and $a \lor (b \land c) = (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)$ for all $a, b, c \in L$ (distributivity);

A lattice L is *bounded* if there exist *neutral* elements 0 and 1 that satisfy the following property:

(vi) $0 \land a = 0, 0 \lor a = a, 1 \land a = a, 1 \lor a = 1$ for all $a \in L$.

A *complemented lattice*, also called a *Boolean algebra*, is a bounded lattice (with least element 0 and greatest element 1), in which every element *a* has a complement, i.e. an element *b* such that $a \lor b = 1$ and $a \land b = 0$.

A lattice homomorphism $f: L \to M$ is a map such that if $a, b \in L$ then $f(a \land b) = f(a) \land f(b)$ and $f(a \lor b) = f(a) \lor f(b)$. If L and M are bounded lattices then we also require that f(0) = 0 and f(1) = 1. In particular, we are interested in finite lattices. Every finite lattice is bounded. A subset $K \subset L$ is a sublattice of L if $a, b \in K$ implies that $a \lor b \in K$ and $a \land b \in K$. For sublattices of bounded lattices we impose the extra condition that $0, 1 \in K$. The *category of finite distributive lattices*, denoted **FDLat**, is the category whose objects are finite distributive lattices and whose morphisms are lattice homomorphisms.

An element $a \in L$ is *join-irreducible* if it has a unique *immediate predecessor*; given a join-irreducible a we denote its unique predecessor by a^4 . The set of join-irreducible elements of L is denoted by J(L). The join-irreducible elements form a poset (J(L), \leq), where the order \leq is the restriction of the partial order of L.

B.3. Birkhoff duality

Given a finite distributive lattice L, J(L) is a poset with respect to set-inclusion. Conversely, given a finite poset (P, \leq) the set of downsets O(P) is a bounded distributive lattice under $\land = \cap$ and $\lor = \cup$. The following theorem often goes under the moniker 'Birkhoff's Representation Theorem' and the duality will be referred to as *Birkhoff duality*.

THEOREM B.2 (cf. [59], Theorem 10.4 and [40]). The applications $L \Rightarrow J(L)$ and $P \Rightarrow O(P)$ are contravariant functors from **FDLat** to **FPoset** and from **FPoset** to **FDLat** respectively. A lattice homomorphism $h: K \rightarrow L$ is dual to an order-preserving map $J(h): J(L) \rightarrow J(K)$ and an order-preserving map $\nu: P \rightarrow Q$ is dual to a lattice homomorphism $O(\nu): O(Q) \rightarrow O(P)$ given by the formulas This may be represent this via the

following diagram:



respectively. Furthermore,

$$L \cong O(J(L))$$
 and $P \cong J(O(P))$.

The pair of contravariant functors O and J called the *Birkhoff transforms*. Given $\nu \colon P \to Q$ we say that $O(\nu)$ is the *Birkhoff dual* to ν . Similarly, for $h \colon K \to L$ we say that J(h) is the *Birkhoff dual* to h. A lattice homomorphism h is injective if and only if J(h) is surjective, and h is surjective if and only if J(h) is an order-embedding.

REMARK B.3. If L = O(P) and K = O(Q) then the homomorphism $J(h): P \to Q$ is given by the formula $J(h)(p) = \min\{q \in Q \mid p \in h(\lfloor q)\}, \text{ cf. [15, Thm. 5.19]}.$

APPENDIX C

Grading, filtering and differential modules

In this appendix we explain gradings and filterings in the context order theory applied to sets and modules In this setting we discuss the duality between gradings and filterings in the spirits of Birkhoff's representation theorem.

C.1. P-gradings and O(P)-filterings

We start with the definitions of grading and filtering on a set X which carry over to the setting of modules in Appendix C.2.

DEFINITION C.1. An *ordered tessellation*, or *ordered partition* of a set *X* is a poset (T, \leq) consisting of non-empty subsets $T \subset X$, such that

- (i) $T \cap T' = \emptyset$ for all distinct $T, T' \in \mathsf{T}$;
- (ii) $\bigcup_{T \in \mathsf{T}} T = X$.

One can also consider more general binary relations on tessellations such as preorders.

Given the set of down-sets O(T) in (T, \leq) we define the lattice:

$$\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{T}) := \Big\{ N \subset X \mid N = \bigcup_{T \in \alpha} T, \ \alpha \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{T}) \Big\},\$$

which is a finite sublattice of Set(X) with binary operations \cap and \cup .

DEFINITION C.2. A finite sublattice $N \subset Set(X)$ is called a *filtering*¹ on *X*.

The sublattice N(T) is a filtering on *X*, constructed from T. If we start with a filtering N \subset Set(*X*) we construct an ordered tessellation from N as follows. For $N \in J(N)$ define $T := N \setminus N^{\bullet}$, where N^{\bullet} is the unique immediate predecessor of *N* in the lattice N. From [44] it follows that for distinct $N, N' \in J(N)$, then (i) $T, T' \neq \emptyset$, (ii) $T \cap T' = \emptyset$, and (iii) $\bigcup_{N \in J(N)} N \setminus N^{\bullet} = X$. We order the tiles *T* as: $T \leq T'$ if and only if $N \subseteq N'$. This makes $(T(N), \leq) \cong (J(N), \subset)$ an ordered tessellation of *X*. By Birkhoff duality we conclude:

$$N(T(N)) = N$$
 and $T(N(T)) = T$.

Filterings regarded as finite sublattices of subsets in *X* provide an algebraic point of view for the construction ordered tessellations of *X*. An O(P)-*filtering* on *X* is a

¹We use term *filtering* for an arbitrary sublattice of subsets in Set(X) as opposed to *filtration* which is commonly used for a linearly ordered sublattice.

lattice homomorphism

flt:
$$O(P) \rightarrow Set(X)$$
,

and the pair (*X*, flt) is called an O(P)-*filtered set*. The image N \subset Set(*X*) of flt is a filtering on *X*. Common notation for an O(P)-filtering is: $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}X$. Given an O(P)-filtering flt: O(P) \rightarrow Set(*X*), with image N, then Birkhoff duality as described above yields the order-embedding ι : T(N) \hookrightarrow P of the induced ordered tessellation:

(C.1)
$$T \stackrel{\iota}{\mapsto} \min \Big\{ p \in \mathsf{P} \mid T \subset F_{\downarrow p} X \Big\}.$$

The latter defines a discretization map (not necessarily surjective, nor continuous) grd: $X \rightarrow (P, \leq)$ via:

$$\operatorname{grd}(x) := p, \quad x \in \iota^{-1}(p).$$

The discretization map grd is called a P-grading on X and the subsets $G_p X = \text{grd}^{-1}p$ yield a decomposition

(C.2)
$$X = \bigcup_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p X,$$

which we refer to as a P-graded decomposition of X. The set G_pX is also called the subsets of homogeneous elements of degree p. The non-empty sets G_pX form a ordered tessellation of X. In this construction the P-grading grd is induced by the filtering flt. In general any discretization map grd: $X \rightarrow P$ yields a P-graded decomposition of X. Given a P-grading grd: $X \rightarrow P$, Birkhoff duality implies a lattice homomorphism grd⁻¹: $O(P) \rightarrow O(T)$. The formula

(C.3) flt:
$$O(P) \to N(T), \quad \alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}X := \bigcup \{T \mid T \in \operatorname{grd}^{-1}(\alpha)\},\$$

yields an O(P)-filtering on X, which establishes teh duality between P-gradings and O(P)-filterings of X.

C.2. P-graded and O(P)-filtered modules

In the spirit of gradings and filterings of a set *X* we can do the same for *R*-modules. Let *C* be an *R*-module, or module for short, over a ring *R*. The submodule of *C* are denoted by Sub *C* with binary operations \cap and + (span). An O(P)-*filtering* on *C* is a lattice homomorphism

flt:
$$O(P) \rightarrow Sub C$$
,

and the pair (*C*, flt) is called an O(P)-*filtered* module. Common notation for an O(P)-filtering is $\alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}C$. For an O(P)-filtering O(P) \twoheadrightarrow Sub *C* define the external direct sum

(C.4)
$$\operatorname{Gr} C = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \mathsf{J}(\mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}))} \frac{F_{\alpha}C}{F_{\alpha} \cdot C} \cong \bigoplus_{p \in \mathsf{P}} \frac{F_{\downarrow p}C}{F_{\downarrow p} \cdot C},$$

where we use the fact that $F_{\alpha}C/F_{\beta}C \cong F_{\alpha'}C/F_{\beta'}C$ for all $\alpha \smallsetminus \beta = \alpha' \smallsetminus \beta'$. The module Gr *C* is the *associated graded module*, cf. [36] and [58]. In general Gr *C* is not isomorphic to *C*. If the subquotients G_pC are free, then *C* is a free module and

Gr $C \cong C$. This always holds if C is \mathbb{K} -vector space. The decomposition in (C.4) is called a P-*graded decomposition* (of Gr C). The subquotients $G_pC := F_{\alpha}C/F_{\alpha} \cdot C$ are called *factors* and since flt is not necessarily injective some factors $F_{\alpha}C/F_{\alpha} \cdot C$ may be trivial, i.e. the zero module. In general a decomposition

(C.5)
$$C = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p C, \quad G_p C = \frac{F_{\downarrow p} C}{F_{\downarrow p^{\bullet}} C},$$

is called a P-graded decomposition of *C*. The element in G_pC are called homogeneous elements of degree *p*. As before G_pC may be trivial for some *p*. Factors are also well-defined for any convex set $\beta \setminus \alpha$ and are denoted by $G_{\beta \setminus \alpha}C := F_{\alpha}C/F_{\beta}C$.

A P-graded module $C = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathsf{P}} G_p C$ yields an O(P)-filtered module in a canonical way:

(C.6)
$$\operatorname{flt}: \operatorname{O}(\mathsf{P}) \to \operatorname{Sub} C, \quad \alpha \mapsto F_{\alpha}V := \bigoplus_{p \in \alpha} G_pC,$$

which is denoted by (C, flt). If *C* is a P-graded module then Gr C is defined as before via the induces O(P)-filtered module and

$$\operatorname{Gr} C \cong C$$
,

which establishes one of the dualities for arbitrary modules.

C.3. Differential modules

The concept of P-grading can be applied to chain complexes and differential modules/vector spaces. A *differential module* is a pair (C, d) where C is an R-module and $d: C \to C$ is an endomorphism satisfying $d^2 = 0$. If C is a vector space, then we refer to (C, d) as a *differential vector space*. We refer to the elements in C as *chains*. The chains in C for which d vanishes are called *cycles* and are denoted by $Z(C, d) \subset C$. Chains in the range of d are called *boundaries* and are denoted by $B(C, d) \subset Z$. The *homology* of (C, d) is define as H(C, d) := Z(C)/B(C). A homomorphism $h: C \to C'$ of R-modules is a D-homomorphism if d'h = hd.

DEFINITION C.3. A P-graded differential module² (C, d) is given by an P-graded module $C = \bigoplus_{p \in \alpha} G_p C$ such that

(C.7)
$$\mathrm{d}F_{\alpha}C \subset F_{\alpha}C, \quad \forall \alpha \in \mathsf{O}(\mathsf{P}),$$

which is equivalent to saying that d is O(P)-filtered. A P-graded differential module *C* is *strict* if $d|_{G_pC} = 0$ for all $p \in P$. More generally an O(P)-filtered differential module (*C*, d) is given by a O(P)-filtered module *C* equipped with an O(P)-filtered differential, i.e. d satisfies (C.7).

²A chain complex (C, d) is an N-graded, or Z-graded differential module with the differential d a degree -1 map, i.e. $dF_{\downarrow p}C \subset F_{\downarrow (p-1)}C$. In the literature P-graded differential modules are also simply called *differential graded modules*.

The differential d on a P-graded module may be regarded as *upper-triangular* with entries $d(p,q): G_qC \rightarrow G_pC$ due (C.7). The latter implies

$$d(p,q) \neq 0, \implies p \leq q.$$

As before a P-graded differential module also yields an O(P)-filtering on (C, d) making the latter an O(P)-filtered differential module. The converse is not true in general. For example is we use field coefficients then an O(P)-filtered differential module is isomorphic to a P-graded differential module as described in the previous section.

An O(P)-*filtered D-homomorphism* between P-graded differential modules is a *D*-homomorphism $h: (C, d) \rightarrow (C', d')$, such that $h: C \rightarrow C'$ is an O(P)-filtered homomorphism, i.e. $h(F_{\alpha}C) \subset F_{\alpha}C$ for all $\alpha \in O(P)$.

REMARK C.4. In our treatment of graded and filtered differential modules we assume that the differential is filtered as well as the homomorphisms. This allows more flexibility. For example for a (co)chain complex the differential is homogeneous of degree ± 1 . This implies that the differential is also filtered. The converse is not true.

Bibliography

- 1. Ethan Akin, The General Topology of Dynamical Systems, American Mathematical Soc., January 2010.
- S. B. Angenent, The periodic orbits of an area preserving twist map, Comm. Math. Phys. 115 (1988), no. 3, 353–374. MR 931667
- Zin Arai, William Kalies, Hiroshi Kokubu, Konstantin Mischaikow, Hiroe Oka, and Pawel Pilarczyk, A database schema for the analysis of global dynamics of multiparameter systems, SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems 8 (2009), no. 3, 757–789.
- Piotr Bartłomiejczyk, Spectral sequences and detailed connection matrices, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 34 (2009), no. 1, 187–200. MR 2581467
- Guram Bezhanishvili, Ray Mines, and Patrick J Morandi, *Topo-canonical completions of closure algebras and Heyting algebras*, Algebra Universalis 58 (2007), no. 1, 1–34.
- Garrett Birkhoff and M. K. Bennett, *The convexity lattice of a poset*, Order 2 (1985), no. 3, 223–242. MR 824696
- Anders Björner, Posets, regular cw complexes and bruhat order, European Journal of Combinatorics 5 (1984), no. 1, 7–16.
- A. Borel and J. C. Moore, *Homology theory for locally compact spaces*, Michigan Math. J. 7 (1960), 137–159. MR 131271
- Glen E. Bredon, Sheaf theory, second ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 170, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. MR 1481706
- Justin Bush, Marcio Gameiro, Shaun Harker, Hiroshi Kokubu, Konstantin Mischaikow, Ippei Obayashi, and Paweł Pilarczyk, *Combinatorial-topological framework for the analysis of global dynamics*, Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science 22 (2012), no. 4, 047508.
- Henri Cartan and Samuel Eilenberg, *Homological algebra*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1956. MR 0077480
- 12. Charles C Conley, *Isolated invariant sets and the Morse index*, no. 38, American Mathematical Soc., 1978.
- Bree Cummins, Tomas Gedeon, Shaun Harker, Konstantin Mischaikow, and Kafung Mok, Combinatorial representation of parameter space for switching networks, SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 15 (2016), no. 4, 2176–2212. MR 3572361
- Aleksander Czechowski and Robert Vandervorst, Symplectomorphisms and discrete braid invariants, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 19 (2017), no. 1, 231–262. MR 3625070
- Brian A Davey and Hilary A Priestley, *Introduction to lattices and order*, Cambridge university press, 2002.
- 16. Jean Dieudonné, A History of Algebraic and Differential Topology, 1900 1960, Birkhäuser Boston, April 1989.
- Leo Esakia, Intuitionistic logic and modality via topology, Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 127 (2004), no. 1-3, 155–170.
- John Franks and David Richeson, Shift equivalence and the Conley index, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 352 (2000), no. 7, 3305–3322. MR 1665329
- 19. Robert Franzosa, *Index filtrations and the homology index braid for partially ordered Morse decompositions*, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **298** (1986), no. 1, 193–213.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- _____, The continuation theory for Morse decompositions and connection matrices, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 310 (1988), no. 2, 781–803.
- _____, The connection matrix theory for Morse decompositions, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 311 (1989), no. 2, 561–592.
- G. Fusco and W. M. Oliva, Transversality between invariant manifolds of periodic orbits for a class of monotone dynamical systems, J. Dynam. Differential Equations 2 (1990), no. 1, 1–17. MR 1041196
- Ross Geoghegan, Topological methods in group theory, vol. 243, Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- 24. Rob W Ghrist, Jan Bouwe Van den Berg, and Robert Vandervorst, *Morse theory on spaces of braids and lagrangian dynamics*, Inventiones mathematicae **152** (2003), no. 2, 369–432.
- Robert Ghrist and Robert Vandervorst, *Scalar parabolic pdes and braids*, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **361** (2009), no. 5, 2755–2788.
- Victor Ginzburg, Geometric methods in the representation theory of Hecke algebras and quantum groups, Representation theories and algebraic geometry (Montreal, PQ, 1997), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C: Math. Phys. Sci., vol. 514, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1998, Notes by Vladimir Baranovsky [V. Yu. Baranovskiĭ], pp. 127–183. MR 1649626
- 27. R Goldblatt, Algebraic polymodal logic: A survey, Journal of Logic and Computation.
- 28. M. Goresky, Primer on sheaves, Course notes (2011).
- 29. L Górniewicz, Topological fixed point theory of multivalued mappings, 2006.
- 30. Paul R Halmos, *Lectures on Boolean algebras*, Van Nostrand Mathematical Studies, No. 1, D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N.J., 1963.
- Shaun Harker, Konstantin Mischaikow, and Kelly Spendlove, A computational framework for connection matrix theory, Journal of Applied and Computational Topology 5 (2021), no. 3, 459–529.
- Shaun Harker, Konstantin Mischaikow, and Kelly Spendlove, Morse theoretic templates for high dimensional homology computation, arXiv preprint: 2105.09870 (2021).
- Shaun Harker and Kelly Spendlove, pyCHomP: Computational Homology Project with Python bindings, 2021, URL: https://github.com/kellyspendlove/pyCHomP.
- 34. Allen Hatcher, Algebraic topology, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. MR 1867354
- Gard Olav Helle and John Rognes, Boardman's whole-plane obstruction group for Cartan-Eilenberg systems, Doc. Math. 24 (2019), 1855–1878. MR 4369361
- 36. P J Hilton and S Wylie, *Homology theory: An introduction to algebraic topology*, 1967.
- 37. Birger Iversen, Cohomology of sheaves, Universitext, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986. MR 842190
- Bjarni Jónsson and Alfred Tarski, *Boolean algebras with operators*. *I*, American Journal of Mathematics 73 (1951), no. 4, 891–939.
- 39. W.D. Kalies and R.C.A.M. Vandervorst, Priestley space and chain-recurrence, In preparation (2021).
- William D Kalies, Dinesh Kasti, and Robert Vandervorst, An algorithmic approach to lattices and order in dynamics, SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems 17 (2018), no. 2, 1617–1649.
- 41. William D Kalies, Konstantin Mischaikow, and Robert Vandervorst, *An algorithmic approach to chain recurrence*, Foundations of Computational Mathematics **5** (2005), no. 4, 409–449.
- 42. _____, Lattice structures for attractors I, Journal of Computational Dynamics 1 (2014), 307–338.
- Lattice structures for attractors II, Foundations of Computational Mathematics 16 (2016), no. 5, 1151–1191.
- 44. _____, Lattice structures for attractors III, Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations (2021), 1–40, URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10884-021-10056-8.
- 45. JC Kelly, Bitopological spaces, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society (1963).
- Henry L. Kurland, Homotopy invariants of repeller-attractor pairs. I. The Puppe sequence of an R-A pair, J. Differential Equations 46 (1982), no. 1, 1–31. MR 677580
- William S. Massey, *Homology and cohomology theory*, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 46, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York-Basel, 1978, An approach based on Alexander-Spanier cochains. MR 0488016

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 48. Benjamin Matschke, Successive Spectral Sequences, arXiv.org (2013).
- 49. Christopher McCord, *Simplicial models for the global dynamics of attractors*, Journal of Differential Equations **167** (2000), no. 2, 316–356.
- Michael C McCord, Singular homology groups and homotopy groups of finite topological spaces, Duke Mathematical Journal 33 (1966), no. 3, 465–474.
- J. C. C. McKinsey and Alfred Tarski, *The algebra of topology*, Ann. of Math. (2) 45 (1944), 141–191. MR 9842
- Konstantin Mischaikow and Marian Mrozek, *Chaos in the Lorenz equations: a computer-assisted proof*, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) **32** (1995), no. 1, 66–72. MR MR1276767 (95e:58121)
- Marston Morse, *The foundations of a theory in the calculus of variations in the large*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **30** (1928), no. 2, 213–274. MR 1501428
- Marian Mrozek, Leray functor and cohomological Conley index for discrete dynamical systems, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 318 (1990), no. 1, 149–178. MR 968888
- Colin Naturman, Countability properties in interior algebras, Quaestiones Math. 17 (1994), no. 2, 189– 204. MR 1281590
- H. Poincaré, Sur une forme nouvelle des équations du problème des trois corps, Acta Math. 21 (1897), no. 1, 83–97. MR 1554889
- David S Richeson, Connection matrix pairs for the discrete Conley index, Ph.D. thesis, Northwestern University, 1998.
- Joel W Robbin and Dietmar A Salamon, Lyapunov maps, simplicial complexes and the stone functor, Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 12 (1992), no. 1, 153–183.
- 59. Steven Roman, Lattices and ordered sets, Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- 60. Gunther Schmidt, *Relational Mathematics*, Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- 61. S. Smale, Differentiable dynamical systems, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 73 (1967), 747–817. MR 228014
- 62. Edwin H. Spanier, *Algebraic topology*, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Toronto, Ont.-London, 1966. MR 0210112
- 63. K. Spendlove and R.C.A.M. Vandervorst, *Spectral systems and connection matrices*, In preparation (2022).
- 64. Robert Tarjan, *Depth-first search and linear graph algorithms*, SIAM journal on computing 1 (1972), no. 2, 146–160.
- 65. Jan Bouwe van den Berg, Sarah Day, and Robert Vandervorst, *Braided connecting orbits in parabolic equations via computational homology*, Journal of Differential Equations **255** (2013), no. 6, 1086–1108.
- 66. Jan Bouwe van den Berg, Robert Ghrist, Robert Vandervorst, and W Wójcik, Braid Floer homology, Journal of Differential Equations 259 (2015), no. 5, 1663–1721.
- Jan Bouwe Van Den Berg, Miroslav Kramár, and Robert Vandervorst, *The order of bifurcation points in fourth order conservative systems via braids*, SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems 10 (2011), no. 2, 510–550.
- 68. Russell C Walker, The Stone-Čech compactification, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1974.
- Steven H. Weintraub, Fundamentals of algebraic topology, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 270, Springer, New York, 2014. MR 3243764

Index

 $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}')$ -pairwise clopen set, 20 $(\mathscr{T}, \mathscr{T}^+)$ -subcommutative bi-topological space, 30 R-module, 114 [x], **70** \mathcal{D}_m^d , 69 Σ_m^d , 70 $\mathscr{CO}(X), \mathbf{21}$ $\mathscr{CO}^*(X), \mathbf{21}$ FDLat, 110 FPoset, 109 FPreOrd, 109 $\mathbf{E}^{sing}(X), \mathbf{52}$ $\boldsymbol{\lambda}(x)$, 70 $\lambda_{+}(x), 70$ $\lambda_{-}(x), 70$ $\iota(x^{\alpha}, x^{\alpha'}), 70$ pb, 85 $\mathsf{ABlock}_{\mathscr{C}}(\varphi), \mathbf{31}$ $\mathsf{Fwdset}(\Phi), \mathbf{13}$ O(P)-filtered D-homomorphism, 116 O(P)-filtered differential module, 115 O(P)-filtered module, 114 O(P)-filtering, 113 on a module C, 114 P-graded decomposition of a module, 115 P-graded differential module, 115 P-grading, 114 $\mathsf{RBlock}_{\mathscr{O}}(\varphi), \mathbf{32}$ SC, 22 $\mathscr{C}(X), \mathbf{19}$ $\mathcal{O}(X), \mathbf{20}$ $\mathscr{R}(X), \mathbf{24}$ $\mathscr{R}(\mathfrak{X}), \mathbf{24}$ \mathcal{T} -co-consistent pre-order, 19 \mathcal{T} -consistent pre-order, 18 $\mathcal{T}^-, \mathbf{31}$

tile, 37, 62 p-continuous map, 21 Condensed Morse pre-order , 4 Alexander-Spanier cohomology, 53 Alexander-Spanier homology compactly supported, 53 Alexandrov topological space, 12 Alexandrov topology, 1, 12, 16, 17 Algebraization, 5 Antagonistic CA-discretization, 21 Antagonistic pre-order, 3, 21, 35, 62 Antagonistic tessellation, 23 Antagonistic topology, 21 Arrow category, 48 Artin braid group, 89 Associated graded module, 114 Attracting block, 31, 32, 65 closed, 31 open, 33 regular closed, 38 Attractor, 66 Betti number, 57 bi-graded, 58 parabolic, 82 Bi-closure algebra, 20, 28 Bi-graded Betti number, 58 Bi-graded Morse relations, 58 Bi-modal algebra, 28 Bi-topological CA-discretization, 21 Bi-topological space, 3, 20 discretization of, 20 subcommutative, 30, 32 Binary relation, 101 anti-symmetric, 102 asymmetric, 102 complement, 101

Braid group, 89

composition, 101 dense, 102 functional, 106 homogeneous, 101 inverse, 101 irreflexive, 102 left total, 102 opposite, 101 reflexive, 102 reflexive reduction, 103 rflexive closure, 103 right total, 102 strongly connected component, 103 surjective, 102 symmetric, 102 transitive, 102 transitive closure, 103 transitive reduction, 103 transitive reflexive closure, 103 Binary subtraction, 13 Birkhoff dual, 111 Birkhoff duality, 22, 110 Birkhoff's Representation Theorem, 110 Block-flow topology, 2, 31 Boolean algebra, 12, 110 complete and atomic, 12, 106 Boolean algebra with operators, 13, 20 Boolean CA-discretization, 16, 25 Boolean homomorphism, 11, 106 completely additive, 11, 14, 106 Boolean relation, 107 Borel-Moore homology, 54, 60 Boundary, 115 Braid, 69 2-colored, 90 2-colored discretized, 70 generic, 74 non-degenerate, 71 positively equivalent, 89 proper, 71 singular, 70 skeletal, 72 stationary, 71 Braid class, 70 discretized, 70 Braid component, 70 Braid Conley index, 73 Braid diagram, 69 closed discretized, 69 discretized, 69

Braid word, 89 positive, 89 positively conjugate, 89 positively equal, 89 CA-discretaization Boolean, 25 CA-discretization, 16 antagonistic, 21 bi-topological, 21 Boolean, 16 Cartan-Eilenberg system, 5, 48 chain generated, 51 excisive, 50 finitely generated, 51, 54 morphism between, 48 of a P-graded differential module, 51 of an O(P)-filtered differential module, 51 Category, 47 Cell, 16 top, 24, 39 Cell complex subcomplex of a, 56 Cellular chain complex, 59, 60 Cellular differential module, 59 Chain, 115 Chain complex cellular, 59, 60 Closed discretized braid diagram, 69 Closure algebra, 11, 12, 28 complete and atomic and completely additive, 15 Closure algebra discretization, 16 Closure operator, 11 abstract, 27 completely additive, 12 conjugate, 16, 104 Co-Heyting algebra, 13 Colored discretized braid, 70 Commutative square, 49 Complete Boolean algebra, 106 Completely additive Boolean homomorphism, 106 Complex, 55 Lefschetz, 55 tessellar, 55, 56 Condensed Morse pre-order, 39, 40 Conjugate closure operator, 16, 21, 104 Conley index, 66, 73 Connecting homomorphism, 48

Connection matrix, 5, 52 Continuous map, 11 open, 12 Continuous semi-flow, 44 Convex set, 17, 109 Covering pair, 60 covers, 60 Crossing number, 70 CW decomposition, 26, 27 CW-decomposition, 24 CW-decomposition map, 26, 27 regular, 26 Cycle, 115 Cyclic order, 70 DA-discretization, 18 Derivative algebra, 15 Derivative operator, 15, 28, 29 strong, 18 Differential strict, 51, 60, 115 Differential graded module, 115 Differential module, 50, 115 O(P)-filtered, 50 P-graded, 50 cellular, 59 free, 50 parabolic, 91 Differential vector space, 115 Dimension, 26 Discrete parabolic flow, 72 Discretization of topology, 15 Discretization map, 2, 18, 114 linear, 57 natural, 20, 27, 54, 59 representable, 56 split grading, 58, 60 Discretized braid, 8 relative, 8 Discretized braid class, 70 Discretized braid daigram, 69 Distributive law, 110 Down-set, 16, 18 down-set, 109 Dual operator, 104

Endorelation, 101 Equivalence relation, 102 Evaluation map, 18 Exact couple system, 49 Exact triangle, 49 Excisive Cartan-Eilenberg system, 50 Face partial order, 26 Factor of a grading, 115 Filtering, 113 of a set *X*, **113** of a space, 20 on a module C, 114 Finitely generated, 54 Finitely generated module, 51 Flow local, 72 Flow topology, 29 Franzosa's connection matrix, 5 Generalized topological space, 28 Good pair, 20 Graded decomposition, 114 of *X*, **114** Graded representation, 51 strict, 51 Grading of a space, 20 Hasse diagram, 102 Hasse relation, 102 Homogeneous elements, 114 of degree p, 114 Homology, 115 Homomorphism of closure algebras, 12 Immediate predecessor, 110 Incidence function, 56 Incidence number, 56 Intersection, 70 non-transverse, 70 transverse, 70 Interval, 109 Iterated continuous map, 44 Join-irreducible element, 110 Kuratowski axioms, 11 Lap number, 85 Lap number grading, 85 Lattice, 109 bounded, 110 complemented, 110 sublattice of a, 110

Lattice homomorphism, 110

Lefschetz complex, 55 Linear discretization map, 57 Local intersection number, 70 Lyapunov function, 73 MA-discretization, 17 Maximal torsion submodule, 51 Modal algebra, 13 Modal algebra discretization, 17 Modal operator, 12, 103 abstract, 28 completely additive, 13, 29, 103, 107 completely multiplicative, 105 discrete, 17 Module, 114 P-graded decomposition, 115 finitely generated, 51 rank, <mark>51</mark> Module braid, 50 Morse decomposition tessellated, 66 Morse pre-order, 35, 36 condensed, 40 Morse relations, 58 bi-graded, 58 Morse representation, 66 Morse tessellation, 3 regular closed, 43 Natural discretization map representable, 56 Neutral elements, 110 Non-degenerate braid, 71 Omega limit set, 97 Open continuous map, 12 Operator, 103 conjugate, 104 dual, 104 Opposite relation, 44 Order-preserving map, 109 Ordered pair equivalent, 50 Ordered partition, 109, 113 Ordered tessellation, 109, 113

Pairwise clopen set, 2, 20 Pairwise continuous map, 21 Parabolic differential module, 91 Parabolic flow, 72 Parabolic homology, 82, 85 Parabolic recurrence relation, 71 Partial equivalence class, 17 Partial order, 102 linear, 102 strict, 102 total, 102 Poincaré polynomial tessellar, 58 Poset, 109 as category, 47 finite, 109 order-preserving map, 109 Positive braid monoid, 89 Pre-order, 12, 102 antagonistic, 62 Principal down-set, 109 Principal ideal domain, 50 Principal up-set, 109 Proper braid, 71 Proper relative braid, 72 Proper skeleton, 71, 72 Pure tessellar phase diagram, 65 Rank, 51 Regular closed Morse tessellation, 43 Regular closed set, 24 Relation see Binary relation, 101 Relational flow topology, 29 Relational semi-flow, 44 Relative braid class component, 71 Relative braid proper, 72 Relative braid class, 71 Relative braid class fiber, 71 Repelling block, 32 closed, 33 open, 32 Semi-flow, 1, 44 continuous, 44 relational, 44 Semi-homomorphism of a modal algebra, 14 Semi-homomorphism of closure algebras, 12 Singular braid, 70 Skeleal braid, 72 Skeleton, 7, 72 normal form, 75 proper, 71, 72 Specialization pre-order, 2, 12 Specialization relation, 13, 18, 44

Split grading, 58, 61 Star, 16, 104 Stationary braid, 71 Strict backward image, 29 Strict differential, 51, 115 Strict forward image, 29 Strict partial order, 102 Strongly connected component, 103 Strongly connected components of a directed graph, 22 Subcommutative bi-topological space, 30, 32 Subcommutativity of topologies, 30 Sublattice, 110 Submodule, 114 Tarjan's algoritm, 83 Tessellar chain complex, 55 Tessellar chain groups, 54 Tessellar complex, 55 Tessellar differential module, 55 Tessellar homology, 54 relative, 55 Tessellar module, 54 Tessellar phase diagram, 5, 65 pure, 65 Tessellated Morse decomposition, 66 Tessellation antagonistic, 23 Top cell, 24, 39 Topologization, 1 Topology consistent pre-order, 18 Torsion submodule, 51 Transitive reflexive closure, 13, 14, 17, 18, 40 of a modal operator, 14 of a binary relation, see also Binary relation

Up-set, 16, 109 Upper-triangular, 116

Wazewski's principle, 5, 66 Weakly exact sequence, 54 Weakly exact sequence, 54 Weakly transitive relation, 18 wK4-relation, 18